Public Document Pack

Notice of meeting and agenda

City of Edinburgh Council
10.00 am Thursday, 29th April, 2021

Virtual Meeting - via Microsoft Teams

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to watch the live
webcast on the Council’s website.
The law allows the Council to consider some issues in private. Any items under “Private
Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be recorded in the minute.

Contacts
Email:

gavin.king@edinburgh.gov.uk

Tel:

0131 529 4239

1. Order of business
1.1

Including any notices of motion and any other items of business
submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting.

2. Declaration of interests
2.1

Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests
they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying
the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest.

3. Deputations
3.1

If any

4. Minutes
4.1

The City of Edinburgh Council of 11 March 2021 – submitted for
approval as a correct record

19 - 122

4.2

The City of Edinburgh Council of 16 April 2021 – submitted for
approval as a correct record

123 - 126

5. Leader's Report
5.1

Leader’s report

127 - 130

6. Appointments
6.1

Appointments to Outside Organisations - Edinburgh International
Conference Centre (EICC) – Report by the Chief Executive

131 - 134

7. Reports
7.1

Child Protection - Response to Motion – Report by the Chief
Executive

135 - 202

7.2

Future Provision of Public Conveniences - referral from the
Transport and Environment Committee

203 - 222

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 2 of 17

8. Motions
8.1

By Councillor Watt - Women's Safety in Public Places
“Council deeply regrets that it has taken the murder of Sarah
Everard, Bennylyn Burke & Wenjing Lin to bring women’s safety
in public spaces to mainstream attention across the country.
Council notes the need for structural change across society and
its institutions ought not to be used as a reason for doing nothing
in response to this problem.
Council agrees to bring a report to Policy & Sustainability within
two cycles, detailing any actions to improve women’s safety,
including embedding considerations within risk assessments,
placemaking and any other organisational changes to positively
impact safety of women in Edinburgh.
This report should identify options for a consultation around the
public places and spaces in Edinburgh where women feel safe,
where they feel less safe and what can be done to improve their
safety. With actions being reported back to the appropriate
committee.”

8.2

By Councillor Rust - Garden Waste Collection
“Council:
1)

Notes that the Garden waste collection service operates
using fixed registration windows and once the registration
closes the Council is not able to accept additional
registrations.

2)

Understands that in the absence of registration the lawful
options are essentially (a) to compost the garden waste;
(b) to take it to the nearest recycling centre; or (c) to
arrange for private collection.

3)

Recognises that circumstances can arise where a
householder omits to register within the registration period
because for example, they (a) die, or become
incapacitated or unwell and otherwise unable to deal with
certain matters timeously; (b) move from a property outwith

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 3 of 17

Edinburgh or move from a property without garden; or (c)
through family bereavement or other pressures, not least
during the pandemic genuinely forget.

8.3

4)

Appreciates that the other options above are in many
cases not practical for householders affected or in the case
of the deceased for their estate.

5)

Therefore, calls for a report in two cycles which:
(a)

details the number of requests made to the Council
outwith the registration windows since the system
was launched and where recorded the reasons
given for the failure to register to better understand
the extent of this issue;

(b)

considers the potential for extended registration
periods and “manual” registration and “stickers” in
exceptional circumstances which can be reconciled
at year end;

(c)

further explores the issue of support and system
development for registration outwith the fixed
periods with the IT provider;

(d)

better informs regarding how the weight of garden
waste impacts through small changes to household
registrations and what level of built-in flexibility there
is in collection routes; and

(e)

generally advises as to any ways in which the
process can be made more flexible for residents
with minimum impact on the service being
delivered.”

By Councillor Osler - City Parks
“Council thanks and appreciates the dedication of many Council
staff in their efforts in trying to keep the City’s many parks to an
acceptable standard during the last year. The easing of lockdown
will bring the much anticipated re-opening of outdoor hospitality
and the resumption of the sale of alcohol from licensed premises
until 10pm. If similar circumstances to those in Summer 2020 are
repeated, open spaces in the city may experience increased
massing of groups, as well as anti-social behaviour resulting from

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 4 of 17

a lack of available public conveniences.
Council calls for a report to Policy and Sustainability within one
cycle, indicating with costings what additional waste clearing and
environmental resources, including public conveniences in
respect of Parks, will be necessary and should be provided, to
address the consequences of increased massing and anti-social
behaviour, for:

8.4



Council Parks



Local Town centres and



the City Centre.”

By Councillor Jim Campbell - Local Member Oversight
“Council:
Warmly notes the evolution of “Click to Report” on the Council
website, which has proved to be an invaluable way for service
users to inform us of issues that require Council action during the
pandemic. Understand the attraction of this web-based solution
available via many, many, devices, and which including mapping,
location, image and reporting options for residents. Further notes
the efficient solution this should offer, with reports logged through
the Verint platform, passing automatically to Services back-office
management systems.
Requests a report within 2 cycles to the Policy and Sustainability
Committee setting out proposals for “Click to Report” so that
Members and Officers supporting Members can lodge reports on
behalf of constituents, view the details of reports made by
constituents directly and gain real time performance reporting by
Ward.”

8.5

By Councillor Webber - Public Confidence
“Council:
Welcomes the substantial response to the recent Street Scheme
Survey promoted on the Consultation Hub
Subject to below, welcomes the opportunity to review and receive

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 5 of 17

the full, complete feedback from those residents that chose to
take part.
Notes with concern significant public disquiet with this exercise,
not least given a strategic piece of work which impacts on wards
across the entire city and with potentially permanent outcomes
where there continues to be:
a)

Public opposition of many Community Councils and Local
Residents Associations

b)

Extensive negative coverage in local and national media

c)

Significant concerns raised by consultative bodies
representing less able citizens and users of public
transport

d)

Significant concerns raised by public transport bodies

e)

The apparent failure of Council Officers to always give full
and complete answers in public meetings

f)

A disputed legal basis for the lawful promotion of some
schemes

g)

The leading nature of the attempted consultation

h)

An absence of valid information to permit informed
feedback

i)

Absence of timely consistent data from the Cities network
of cycle counters

j)

A shortened timescale notwithstanding it being extended
which still fell short of other less complex single-issue
consultations

In order to address any bureaucratic overreach and in an attempt
to restore public confidence in the Council, The Executive
Director is instructed to:
1)

Arrange round table workshops with himself, his senior
team leading on Spaces for People, any elected Member
with an interest, and the Edinburgh Access Panel, Public
transport providers, emergency services, businesses and
local groups formed to represent residents.

2)

Structure his forthcoming report to the Transport and
Environment Committee on 17th June 2021 to include the
output of point 1 (above) and to arrange all the SfP

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 6 of 17

schemes into discrete contiguous routes for separate
consideration and discussion, in each case detailing the
feedback received from people residing on the streets,
local businesses, etc, and including discrete Integrated
Impact Assessments and legal justification to ensure
fastidious application of the following applicable policies all
approved at Policy and Sustainability Committee on 20th
April 2021:

8.6

i)

Equality and Diversity Framework 2021-2025 P & S
Committee Report 20.4.21

ii)

COVID19 engagement and consultation approach
from 1st July 2021.”

By Councillor Bird - Scottish Youth Parliament Election
“Council:
Warmly welcomes the role of the Scottish Youth Parliament
(SYP) in platforming the voices of Scotland’s young people,
championing youth led community engagement, and empowering
young people to express their views freely and have their
opinions listened to in all matters affecting them, in line with
Article 12 of the UNCRC.
Notes that the next SYP election will take place in November
2021 and that nominations for expressions of interest to be a
candidate are now open until June 30th.
Recognises SYP’s commitment to be truly inclusive and ensure
diversity across its membership and the need for wide
participation to achieve that aim.
Acknowledges the responsibility of elected members from across
the political spectrum to promote and support the SYP election
and its place in our city’s democratic calendar by, for example,
sharing information on social media and with youth and
community organisations in their local area.
Recognises the work of previous and existing MSYPs in
championing the issues that are most important to young people
and campaigning to affect the change they want to see.
Encourages Edinburgh’s young people aged between 14 and 25

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 7 of 17

to visit SYP’s social media platforms to find out more about the
upcoming election and to consider standing to hold local and
national government to account on the policies they care about
most.”

8.7

By Councillor Hutchison - Sewage Discharges into the River
Almond
“Council:

8.8

1)

Notes great concern at reports that Scottish Water plants
discharged raw sewage into the River Almond over 500
times in 2019.

2)

Joins West Lothian Council in calling on Scottish Water to
urgently bring forward an action plan to end such
discharges.

3)

Notes that in addition to having a potentially negative
impact on local wildlife this also affects the quality of life of
residents and the attractiveness of hospitality businesses
operating along the river, including those within the City of
Edinburgh Council area.

4)

Understands that landowners have a responsibility to
maintain the cleanliness of any watercourses running
through their land. Further understands that the Scottish
Environmental Protection Agency (SEPA), as the regulator
of Scottish Water, is responsible for investigating any
unlicensed discharges of sewage, and requests that
members of the public report any such discharges via the
SEPA website without delay.

5)

Instructs the Council Leader to write to the relevant
Scottish Minister when a new Scottish Government is
formed, requesting an acceleration in the capital
programme to mitigate risks of unlicensed discharges into
the River Almond, and all other waterways that flow with
the City of Edinburgh, with the aim of completing this
programme by the original deadline or sooner.”

By Councillor McNeese-Mechan - Commemorate Joan Davidson

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 8 of 17

of the Edinburgh Science Festival
“The City of Edinburgh recently lost a true champion of science
and education in Joan Davidson, who was Head of Learning at
Edinburgh Science, the charitable organisation behind the annual
Edinburgh Science Festival. Joan was a dedicated figure who
devoted her career to inspiring young people to explore, study
and develop a lifelong love of science and technology. She was
instrumental in organising events and experiences which reached
more than half a million young people.
A dedicated champion of environmental causes in her youth,
Joan was a science educator who came to the Edinburgh
International Science Festival in 2008, where her first role was
that of Generation Science manager, running a touring
programme of educational science workshops in primary schools
across Scotland. She oversaw its expansion to the point at which
it was reaching 60,000 pupils a year, as the largest sciencebased touring programme of its kind in the UK.
Joan was also instrumental in developing the Careers Hive,
offering workshops and advice from industry professionals on
studying for and entering STEM (science, technology,
engineering and maths) careers.
Joan was a highly motivated, respected and well-loved educator
with ambitious ideas, who inspired so many to make their own
ideas happen through the example of her own drive and
determination.
Her family and friends have set up a page with links to two
charities which Joan had supported and which are true to her
values and principles of equality for all when it comes to young
people and science. Donations will be distributed to EQUATE
Scotland and ScienceGrrl
EQUATE Scotland is the national expert in gender equality
throughout STEM sectors, making tangible and sustainable
change, enabling women studying and working in these key
sectors to develop by supporting their recruitment, retention and
progression.
ScienceGrrl Glasgow is a grassroots organisation, led by
volunteers from an amalgamation of backgrounds with a vested
interest in science. Their mission is to increase equality in STEM

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 9 of 17

and show that science is truly for everybody.
https://www.peoplesfundraising.com/donation/Honouring-JoanDavidson.”

8.9

By Councillor Dickie - International Care Experienced Day of
Remembrance
“Council:
Welcomes, the first ever International Care Experienced Day of
Remembrance on 30th April as part of this Care Experienced
History Month where people and organisations are encouraged to
link in a call for a global recognition of care experienced history
using the hashtags #CareExperiencedHistoryMonth and
#CEHM2021.
Recognises and celebrates the contributions of care experienced
people from our planet’s history including figures such as Sir
Issac Newton and his advancement of humanity, Nelson Mandela
the revolutionary, and Eleanor Roosevelt – but that many stories
remain untold.
Recognises the systemic barriers that have existed for care
experienced people and the need for all care experienced
children to be remembered - and their legacy honoured.
Celebrates, in particular, the fantastic care experienced people of
Edinburgh, past and present, and their valuable contributions to
the life of our city.
And further recognises the work of Edinburgh’s Champions’
Board, who ensure the voice of care experienced young people is
heard and drives the much needed change, working together with
Corporate Parents to deliver our Corporate Parenting Action Plan
and embed The Promise across all practice and decisions.
Council requests:
The Council observe International Care Experienced Day of
Remembrance.
The Lord Provost celebrates care experienced people in
Edinburgh in an appropriate way on April 30th.
That officers work with schools to share and develop educational
resources on care experienced history to bridge the divide in

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 10 of 17

understanding the history, and present day stories, of care
experienced people.”

8.10

By Councillor Whyte - Protect Transport for Edinburgh
“Council:
Deplores the recent attacks on Lothian Buses. Is gravely
concerned by the risks such attacks pose to the safety of bus
drivers and passengers. Notes Edinburgh Trams have also been
subject to attack. Further notes the unsustainable level of
damage to Edinburgh Cycle Hire (branded “Just Eat Cycles”) and
docking stations. Regrets the enormous inconvenience that has
been imposed on Transport for Edinburgh (TfE) service users as
a result.
Observes that the spatial pattern of these attacks is not random
and seems linked to social media activities of certain groups of
anti-social individuals.
Condemns all such dangerous, illegal and anti-social behaviour
unreservedly and trusts that the individuals responsible will find
their way into our justice system in due course. Is grateful for all
the work of local Police Scotland officers in support of TfE to date.
Nonetheless, notes with concern that Police Officer numbers
have dropped over the last year, and each Edinburgh local Police
Officer is now statistically split between protecting 460 citizens:
124 more citizens than the equivalent figure for Greater Glasgow.
Regrets the lack of progress in Edinburgh receiving a fair
settlement in terms of Local Police numbers. Calls on Police
Scotland to do more to protect the customers, employees and
assets of TfE and to return to a locally based problem-solving
approach based on an ethos of prevention.
Calls on the Chief Executive to provide an urgent report indicating
actions that can be taken to:


lobby Police Scotland and the Scottish Government to
address the low number of local Police officers in our
Capital and the ensure Edinburgh gets its fair share of
policing resources;



ensure that those officers are fully accountable through
local mechanisms so that we can return to the partnership

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 11 of 17

and prevention approach that was highly successful under
the former Lothian and Borders Police;


and to consider what actions the Council could take to
contribute to that partnership approach to support and
inspire young people who might be at risk of following a
misguided path towards anti-social behaviour, risk
assessing such positive outcomes against any coronavirus
restrictions.”

9. Congratulatory Motions
9.1

By Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron - World Summit Awards
2021 WelcoMe by Neatebox
“Council notes:
The World Summit Awards (www.wsa-global.org) provides an
international platform for cutting edge examples of how
technology companies are impacting society in a positive way
through local digital innovation; and contributes to the United
Nations Sustainable Development Goals agenda.
At the WSA Global Congress 2021, “Connect4Impact – Digital
Solutions for the UN Sustainability Development Goals”, 9 social
technology start-ups, whose solutions not only drive the
achievement of UN SDGs, but demonstrate how digital creativity
is making a positive impact on society, were awarded the title of
WSA Global Champion.
Council congratulates Neatebox, an Edinburgh based company
on being one of the 9 companies, from 600 applications
worldwide, to be awarded the title of WSA Global Champion, in
recognition of its development of WelcoMe, a low-cost web-based
service which enables any person with a disability to forewarn
participating businesses of their visit and special needs, ensuring
awareness, ease of customer experience, meaningful inclusion
and citizen empowerment.
Council asks the Lord Provost to convey its congratulations to the
Neatebox team on this success.”

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 12 of 17

9.2

By Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron - Debora Kayembe Rector of The University of Edinburgh
“Welcomes and congratulates Ms Debora Kayembe on her recent
election as Rector of the University of Edinburgh. Ms Kayembe is
the third woman to be elected as Rector.
Recognises the wealth of experience Debora Kayembe has
including at the Congolese Bar Association, the language
services of the office of the prosecutor at the International
Criminal Court and the International Criminal Court Bar
Association (ICCBA), as a Board Member of the Scottish Refugee
Council, the Royal Society of Edinburgh/Young Academy of
Scotland representing refugee minorities and is an expert lawyer
to the RSE Working Group for Africa.
Further recognises Debora’s ongoing work with Full Options, a
charity which tackles social isolation, campaigns for human rights,
conflict resolution or reconciliation; promotes religious and racial
harmony; works towards the relief of poverty and the
advancement of health and education for all, the Freedom Walk
campaign – a civil rights movement which campaigns on behalf of
citizens by promoting social reforms, racial justice and community
harmony and work promoting and anti-racist approach to
education in Scotland.
Council welcomes Ms Kayembe to the role of Rector of the
University of Edinburgh and wishes her every success during her
tenure.”

9.3

By Councillor Day - North Edinburgh Covid 19 Respond and
Recovery Group
“Council congratulates the North Edinburgh Covid 19 Respond
and Recovery Group on their recent award for Inspiring
Partnership Award from Edinburgh Chamber of Commerce 2021
Awards.
“The partnership between, FreshStart, Spartans, NEA, PCHP,
Scran Academy, LIFT, Granton Community Gardener’s, Granton
Information Centre, Community Renewal – supported by local
activists, local Councillors and the MP and MSP has shown how
the our amazing local projects can pull together, create innovation

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 13 of 17

and deliver immediate support to those that need it most in times
of crisis.”
The pandemic response demonstrated the speed and agility that
third sector organisations can bring to a crisis response at a
community level. It highlighted the impact which can be made on
the ground when statutory services work closely with third sector
partners to tap into and harness that local understanding,
commitment and experience and use existing channels to ensure
support is responsive to local needs.
Council requests the Lord Provost celebrates this great
achievement in an appropriate manner.”

10. Questions
10.1

By Councillor Rust - Spaces for People - Scottish Government –
for answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment
Committee

223 - 224

10.2

By Councillor Rust – Sustrans – for answer by the Convener of
the Finance and Resources Committee

225 - 226

10.3

By Councillor Webber - Spaces for People - Design and Safety
Audit Update – for answer by the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee

227 - 228

10.4

By Councillor Webber - Spaces for People - Personal
Injury/Accident Claims – for answer by the Convener of the
Transport and Environment Committee

229 - 230

10.5

By Councillor Laidlaw - Public Toilets - Parks and Green Spaces
– for answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment
Committee

231 - 232

10.6

By Councillor Rust - Spaces for People Schemes - Full
Information Packs – for answer by the Convener of the Transport
and Environment Committee

233 - 234

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 14 of 17

10.7

By Councillor Neil Ross – Gullies – for answer by the Convener of
the Transport and Environment Committee

235 - 236

10.8

By Councillor Neil Ross - Public Conveniences – for answer by
the Convener of the Finance and Resources Committee

237 - 238

10.9

By Councillor Osler - Guardrails at the Blackhall Dip – for answer
by the Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee

239 - 240

10.10

By Councillor Jim Campbell - Students Exempt from Wearing
Face Coverings – for answer by the Convener of the Education,
Children and Families Committee

241 - 242

10.11

By Councillor Jim Campbell - Those Responsible for Designing
Spaces for People Schemes – for answer by the Convener of the
Transport and Environment Committee

243 - 244

10.12

By Councillor Lang - Path Network Lighting – for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee

245 - 246

10.13

By Councillor Mitchell - Queensferry Road/A90 Responses – for
answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment
Committee

247 - 248

10.14

By Councillor Louise Young - Garden Waste Permit Renewals –
for answer by the Convener of the Transport and Environment
Committee

249 - 250

10.15

By Councillor Rust - SNP 2021 Manifesto - Holyrood Elections –
for answer by the Convener of the Education, Children and
Families Committee

251 - 252

10.16

By Councillor Mowat - Supporting Business – for answer by the
Leader of the Council

253 - 254

10.17

By Councillor Mowat - Traffic - West End – for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and Environment Committee

255 - 256

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 15 of 17

10.18

By Councillor Barrie - Walking Tours - Business Recovery – for
answer by the Convener of the Regulatory Committee

257 - 258

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive

Information about the City of Edinburgh Council
The City of Edinburgh Council consists of 63 Councillors and is elected under
proportional representation. The City of Edinburgh Council usually meets once a
month and the Lord Provost is the Convener when it meets.

Further information
If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact
Gavin King, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 2.1,
Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG, Tel 0131 529 4239, email
gavin.king@edinburgh.gov.uk.
The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council
committees can be viewed online by going to the Council’s online Committee Library.
Live and archived webcasts for this meeting and all main Council committees can be
viewed online by going to the Council’s Webcast Portal.

Webcasting of Council meetings
Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the
Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Lord Provost will confirm if all or
part of the meeting is being filmed.
The Council is a Data Controller under the General Data Protection Regulation and
Data Protection Act 2018.
We broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable members of
the public to observe the democratic process. Data collected during this webcast will
be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but not limited
to, for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records available via
the Council’s internet site.

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 16 of 17

Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a meeting, in a deputation or
otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical
record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection with the relevant matter
until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and
other connected processes). Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as
part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above.
If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or
storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial
damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services
(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk).

City of Edinburgh Council - 29 April 2021

Page 17 of 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4.1
Minutes
The City of Edinburgh Council
Edinburgh, Thursday 11 March 2021
Present:-

LORD PROVOST
The Right Honourable Frank Ross

COUNCILLORS
Robert C Aldridge
Scott Arthur
Gavin Barrie
Eleanor Bird
Chas Booth
Claire Bridgman
Mark A Brown
Graeme Bruce
Steve Burgess
Lezley Marion Cameron
Jim Campbell
Kate Campbell
Mary Campbell
Maureen M Child
Nick Cook
Gavin Corbett
Cammy Day
Alison Dickie
Denis C Dixon
Phil Doggart
Karen Doran
Scott Douglas
Catherine Fullerton
Neil Gardiner
Gillian Gloyer
George Gordon
Ashley Graczyk
Joan Griffiths
Ricky Henderson
Graham J Hutchison

Andrew Johnston
David Key
Callum Laidlaw
Kevin Lang
Lesley Macinnes
Melanie Main
John McLellan
Amy McNeese-Mechan
Adam McVey
Claire Miller
Max Mitchell
Joanna Mowat
Rob Munn
Gordon J Munro
Hal Osler
Ian Perry
Susan Rae
Alasdair Rankin
Cameron Rose
Neil Ross
Jason Rust
Stephanie Smith
Alex Staniforth
Mandy Watt
Susan Webber
Iain Whyte
Donald Wilson
Norman J Work
Ethan Young
Louise Young

Page 19

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 1 of 104

1

Minutes

Decision
a)

To approve the minute of the Council of 4 February 2021 as a correct record.

b)

To approve the minute of the Council of 11 February 2021 as a correct record.

2

Leader’s Report

The Leader presented his report to the Council. He commented on:
•
•
•
•
•

Additional Business Support – taxi and private hire car drivers update
Integration and consolodation of the Living Wage within the Council
Anti-social behaviour experienced by Lothian Buses employees recently
Contribution of staff leaving the Council soon
Womens History Month – White Ribbon pledge

The following questions/comments were made:
Councillor Whyte

-

COVID 19 – positive steps – opening of further
mass vaccination centres – low vaccination rate in
Edinburgh

Councillor Main

-

International Womens Week – Office of National
statistics confirmation that women suffered more
during COVID pandemic – support for staff

Councillor Aldridge

-

Womens History Month – White Ribbon pledge

-

Loss of highly valued staff

-

Anti-social behaviour experienced by Lothian
Buses employees

-

Tram Inquiry report - timescale

-

Commend consolidation of Living Wage

-

Edinburgh’s Slavery and Colonialism Review
Group

-

Report on Racism in Schools – apologies to those
who have experienced this

Councillor Day

Councillor Dickie

Page 20

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 2 of 104

Councillor Johnston

-

Scottish Government budget deal – further
funding update

Councillor Miller

-

Anti-social behaviour experienced by Lothian
Buses employees

-

Welcome Scottish Government budget – free bus
travel for young people

-

Domestic Violence – zero tolerance campaign

-

Anti social behaviour behaviour experienced by
Lothian Buses employees

Councillor Munro

Scottish Government funding – increased funding
– continued meetings
Councillor McNeeseMechan

-

Awareness of trauma focussed work

Councillor Rose

-

Spaces for People Webpage – Taking you Views
on Board – RNIB engagement

Councillor Kate Campbell

-

European Social Fund – currently under threat

Councillor Osler

-

International Womens Day – public representation
of leading women within our society

Councillor Bird

-

Council’s Modern Apprentices

Councillor Jim Campbell

-

Political Leadership

Councillor Watt

-

Support for Rising Free Anthology

Councillor Wilson

-

Contribution of staff who will be leaving the
Council soon

3

Review of Political Management Arrangements March 2021

At their meeting on 10 December, the Council had agreed Interim Procedural
Standing Orders to allow Council business to continue to be carried out for the period
14 December 202 to 31 March 2021.
Details were provided on the proposed political management arrangements to carry
out Council business going forward.

Page 21

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 3 of 104

Motion
1)

To note current restrictions did not allow 90% attendance within the Main
Council Chamber; all formal meetings of the Council, including Council,
executive committees and other committees would therefore remain virtual
until 2 August 2021.

2)

To note that electronic voting would be trialled at a suitable committee.

3)

To suspend procedural Standing Orders until 31 July 2021 and agree the
Interim Standing Orders as set out in appendix one to the report by the Chief
Executive to take effect from 12 March 2021.

- moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day
Amendment 1
1)

To note current restrictions did not allow 90% attendance within the Main
Council Chamber; all formal meetings of the Council, including Council,
executive committees and other committees would therefore remain virtual
until 2 August 2021.

2)

To note that electronic voting would be trialled at a suitable committee.

3)

To suspend procedural Standing Orders until 31 July 2021 and agree the
Interim Standing Orders as set out in appendix one to the report by the Chief
Executive to take effect from 12 March 2021 subject to the following
amendments to the text in interim Standing Orders:
a)

To delete paragraph 25 End of Session Decisions:
The rationale being that a meeting that is deemed to be running too
long can be adjourned to a new date or the business carried over to the
next meeting of the Committee; that it is poor governance to remove
the opportunity for debate from an item simply because of its
placement on an agenda and that better management of agendas and
meetings is a more appropriate response than enshrining the
curtailment of democratic accountability in Standing Orders;

b)

At Para 31.1:
After “not less than” deletes “one third” and replaces it with “one
quarter”.

- moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Webber

Page 22

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 4 of 104

Amendment 2
1)

To note current restrictions did not allow 90% attendance within the Main
Council Chamber; all formal meetings of the Council, including Council,
executive committees and other committees would therefore remain virtual
until 2 August 2021.

2)

To note that electronic voting would be trialled at a suitable committee with the
intention that such a trial take place within the next three months and, if
successful, would be rolled out to all committees and full Council in due
course.

3)

To suspend procedural Standing Orders until 31 July 2021 and agree the
Interim Standing Orders as set out in appendix one to the report by the Chief
Executive to take effect from 12 March 2021 but requests that, for the next
review of standing orders, officers bring forward proposals that allow for
formal written deputations to be received and circulated in advance of the
deadline for amendments and addendums in order to ensure such
representations can have a greater influence on Council and committee
decisions and that the time available for asking and answering questions is
maximised.

- moved by Councillor Lang, seconded by Councillor Louise Young
In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 2 was accepted as an
addendum to the motion.
In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 2 was accepted as an
addendum to Amendment 1.
Voting
For the Motion (as adjusted)
For Amendment 1 (as adjusted) -

36 votes
25 votes

(For the Motion: The Lord Provost, Councillors Arthur, Bird, Booth, Burgess,
Cameron, Kate Campbell, Mary Campbell, Child, Corbett, Day, Dickie, Dixon, Doran,
Fullerton, Gardiner, Gordon, Graczyk, Griffiths, Henderson, Key, Macinnes, Main,
McNeese-Mechan, McVey, Miller, Munn, Munro, Perry, Rae, Rankin, Staniforth,
Watt, Wilson, Work and Ethan Young.
For Amendment 1: Councillors Aldridge, Barrie, Bridgman, Brown, Bruce, Jim
Campbell, Cook, Doggart, Douglas, Gloyer, Hutchison, Johnston, Laidlaw, Lang,
McLellan, Mitchell, Mowat, Osler, Rose, Neil Ross, Rust, Smith, Webber, Whyte and
Louise Young.)

Page 23

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 5 of 104

Decision
To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor McVey:
1)

To note current restrictions did not allow 90% attendance within the Main
Council Chamber; all formal meetings of the Council, including Council,
executive committees and other committees would therefore remain virtual
until 2 August 2021.

2)

To note that electronic voting would be trialled at a suitable committee with the
intention that such a trial take place within the next three months and, if
successful, would be rolled out to all committees and full Council in due
course.

3)

To suspend procedural Standing Orders until 31 July 2021 and agree the
Interim Standing Orders as set out in appendix one to the report by the Chief
Executive to take effect from 12 March 2021 but requests that, for the next
review of standing orders, officers bring forward proposals that allow for
formal written deputations to be received and circulated in advance of the
deadline for amendments and addendums in order to ensure such
representations can have a greater influence on Council and committee
decisions and that the time available for asking and answering questions is
maximised.

(Reference – report by the Chief Executive, submitted)

4

Outcome of the Statutory Consultation Process on the
Proposal to Realign the Catchment Areas of Queensferry
Primary School and Echline Primary School

Details were provided on the outcome of the statutory consultation process
undertaken on the proposal to realign the catchment areas of Queensferry Primary
School and Echline Primary School as new housing developments were progressing
within the Queensferry Primary School catchment area but there would not be
enough capacity at the school to accommodate the additional pupils.
Decision
1)

To agree that the proposal to realign the catchment areas of Queensferry
Primary School and Echline Primary School be implemented in November
2021.

2)

To agree that a P1 place at Queensferry Primary School be guaranteed for
children (if they wished to take it):

Page 24

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 6 of 104

3)

•

that lived within the area identified in the statutory consultation paper
that would be realigned from the catchment area of Queensferry
Primary School to the catchment area of Echline Primary School; and

•

whose parent(s) or guardian were resident in the area on 11 March
2021; and

•

that would have an older sibling in Queensferry Primary School at the
time they would attend the school.

To note that the implications of the sibling guarantee offered and its continued
application would be reviewed as part of a future statutory consultation
concerning a new school building as part of the ‘Builyeon Road’ housing site.

(Reference – report by the Chief Executive, submitted.)

5

Update on the Re-opening of Public Conveniences - referral
from the Policy and Sustainability Committee

The Policy and Sustainability Committee had referred a report which set out the
current position on Edinburgh’s public conveniences and proposed arrangements for
going forward together with an update on the impact of the COVID19 pandemic on
the current Community Toilet Scheme, to the Council for approval of continued
funding from Council reserves to keep seven public conveniences, as detailed in the
report by the Executive Director of Place open.
Motion
1)

To agree the continued funding from Council reserves to keep the seven
public conveniences detailed in the report by the Executive Director of Place
open.

2)

To note the update report due to Transport and Environment Committee in
April and agree this will include costings on facilities reopening in both a
COVID context and as part of the wider public conveniences’ strategy.

- moved by Councillor McVey, seconded by Councillor Day
Amendment
1)

To agree the continued funding from Council reserves to keep the seven
public conveniences detailed in the report by the Executive Director of Place
open.

2)

To note that any easing of Lockdown was likely to be gradual and that outdoor
recreation and meetings would remain a key part of social interaction during

Page 25

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 7 of 104

Summer 2021 at a minimum therefore agree that an action plan be presented
to the next meeting of the Policy and Sustainability Committee listing the
available public convenience premises in the City that could be reinstated
along with capital and revenue costings for each one.
3)

To note the alternative budget position presented by the Conservatives
permitted additional public convenience locations to be opened and did not
rely on the use of reserves.

4)

To note that whilst Edinburgh remained in any degree of Covid 19 Lockdown,
the Community Toilet Scheme should not be presented as an alternative to
the City of Edinburgh Council providing safe public conveniences across the
city.

- moved by Councillor Laidlaw, seconded by Councillor Mitchell
Following discussions, at this stage in the proceedings, Councillor Laidlaw withdrew
his amendment.
Decision
To approve the motion by Councillor McVey.
(Reference – Policy and Sustainability Committee of 23 February 2021 (Item 11); Act
of Council No 12 of 15 October 2020; Policy and Sustainability Committee of 9 July
2020 (item 11); referral from the Policy and Sustainability Committee, submitted.)

6

Annual Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22 – referral from
the Finance and Resources Committee

The Finance and Resources Committee had referred a report on the proposed
Treasury Management Strategy for the Council for 2021/22, which comprised of an
Annual Investment Strategy and a Debt Management Strategy, to the Council for
approval.
There was a statutory requirement for Council to approve this in advance of the new
financial year.
Decision
1)

To note the Annual Treasury Strategy 2021/22 and the change to the
Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement.

Page 26

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 8 of 104

2)

To refer the report to the Governance Risk and Best Value Committee for
scrutiny.

(References – Finance and Resources Committee of 4 March 2021(item 6); referral
from the Finance and Resources Committee, submitted.)

7

Sustainable Capital Strategy 2021-31 – Annual Report –
referral from the Finance and Resources Committee

The Finance and Resources Committee had referred a report which set out the
proposed Sustainable Capital Strategy for 2021-2031, to the Council for approval.
The Strategy provided a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital
financing and treasury management activity contributed to the infrastructure and
provision of services for the benefit of Edinburgh communities and citizens.
Decision
To approve the Sustainable Cpital Stratey 2021-2031 – Annual Report.
(References – Finance and Resources Committee 4 March 2021 (item 5); referral
from the Finance and Resources Committee, submitted.)
Declaration of Interests
Councillor Cameron declared a non-financial interest in the above item as a member
of CEC Holdings, EDI, Edinburgh Leisure, EICC RSNO, and a Director of the
Edinburgh Community Solar Cooperative (ECSC).
Councillor Kate Campbell declared a non-financial interest in the above item as a
member of CEC Holdings, EDI and Edinburgh Living LLP
Councillor Gordon declared a non-financial interest in the above item as Chair of
EICC and a member of Capital City Partnership and Edinburgh Leisure
Councillor Smith declared a non-financial interest in the above item as a member of
EICC and Capital City Partnership
Councillors Bruce, Dixon, Osler and Staniforth declared a non-financial interest in the
above item as members of Edinburgh Leisure

Page 27

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 9 of 104

8

Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion - Motions by Councillors
Whyte and Lezley Marion Cameron

The Lord Provost ruled that the following motions, which had been submitted in
terms of Standing Order 17, be considered together:
Motion 1 - By Councillor Whyte:
“Council
1)

Notes with concern that the Scottish Government has withdrawn the funding
promised in 2018 to provide a replacement for the Princess Alexandra Eye
Pavilion in Edinburgh;

2)

Notes that the current building is over 50 years old and has been deemed “not
fit for purpose” by NHS Lothian and that this has implications for the care
received by patients in Edinburgh and the Lothians;

3)

Understands that waiting times for routine treatments, such as for glaucoma,
and removal of cataracts can be extremely long and notes that NHS Lothian
has been consistently underfunded by the NRAC funding model over many
years;

4)

Agrees that the Council should work with our partners in NHS Lothian to
restore the promised funding to retain these vital services in Scotland’s capital
giving access and equity to residents in Edinburgh and across all the Lothians
rather than see them “dispersed” to West Lothian.

5)

Instructs the Council Leader to write to the Cabinet Secretary for Health
demanding reinstatement of this cut in infrastructure funding for NHS Lothian
and seeking that our partner NHS Board is fully and fairly funded in future.”

Motion 2 – By Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron
“Council notes:
Since opening in 1969, the Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion (PAEP) has delivered
eye health care and treatment services to countless patients, of all ages, from across
Edinburgh, the Lothians and South East Scotland; and is a world-renowned centre of
excellence in this field.
The facility was deemed ‘unfit for purpose’ in 2015, and in 2018, the Scottish
Government committed to fund a new eye hospital to replace the Princess Alexandra
Eye Pavilion to continue the high standard of ophthalmology services to people from
Edinburgh, the Lothians and South East Scotland;

Page 28

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 10 of 104

The widespread and growing public concern about the loss of the Princess
Alexandra Eye Pavilion from Edinburgh; and the lack of available, affordable and
fully accessible travel options which provide timeous access to services, currently
provided by the PAEP, in facilities located out with Edinburgh. Notes recent
comments by the Cabinet Secretary on this issue.
Council therefore calls for the Council Leader to write to the Cabinet Secretary for
Health and Sport requesting an urgent meeting on the replacement of the Princess
Alexandra Eye Pavilion; so as to ensure the people of Edinburgh, Lothians and
South East Scotland can continue to have access to eye healthcare, hospital and
treatment services in a facility located within Edinburgh.”
Motion
Council
1)

Notes with concern that the Scottish Government has withdrawn the funding
promised in 2018 to provide a replacement for the Princess Alexandra Eye
Pavilion in Edinburgh;

2)

Notes that the current building is over 50 years old and has been deemed “not
fit for purpose” by NHS Lothian and that this has implications for the care
received by patients in Edinburgh and the Lothians;

3)

Understands that waiting times for routine treatments, such as for glaucoma,
and removal of cataracts can be extremely long and notes that NHS Lothian
has been consistently underfunded by the NRAC funding model over many
years;

4)

Agrees that the Council should work with our partners in NHS Lothian to
restore the promised funding to retain these vital services in Scotland’s capital
giving access and equity to residents in Edinburgh and across all the Lothians
rather than see them “dispersed” to West Lothian.

5)

Instructs the Council Leader to write to the Cabinet Secretary for Health
demanding reinstatement of this cut in infrastructure funding for NHS Lothian
and seeking that our partner NHS Board is fully and fairly funded in future.

- moved by Councillor Whyte, seconded by Councillor Doggart
Amendment 1
Council:
1)

Notes with concern that the Scottish Government has withdrawn the funding
promised in 2018 to provide a replacement for the Princess Alexandra Eye
Pavilion in Edinburgh;

Page 29

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 11 of 104

2)

Notes that since opening in 1969, the Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion
(PAEP) has delivered eye health care and treatment services to countless
patients, of all ages, from across Edinburgh, the Lothians and South East
Scotland and is a world-renowned centre of excellence in this field;

3)

Notes that the current building is over 50 years old and has been deemed “not
fit for purpose” by NHS Lothian in 2015 and that this has implications for the
care received by patients in Edinburgh and the Lothians; and that the 2018,
the funding promised by the Scottish Government was intended to continue
the high standard of ophthalmology services to people from Edinburgh, the
Lothians and South East Scotland;

4)

Notes the widespread and growing public concern about the loss of the
Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion from Edinburgh; and the lack of available,
affordable and fully accessible travel options which provide timeous access to
services, currently provided by the PAEP, in facilities located out with
Edinburgh.

5)

Notes that the waiting times for many eye health services are and have
consistently been higher than national average across services and a huge
challenge for NHS Lothian indicating increased a need for increased capacity.

6)

Agrees that whilst there are some eye health services which may be best
delivered in a community setting closer to residents, an easily accessible
specialist centre of excellence for eye health is vital to the full delivery of eye
health services;

7)

Further agrees that the Council should work with our partners in NHS Lothian
and other local authorities to restore the promised funding to retain these vital
services in Scotland’s capital giving access and equity to residents in
Edinburgh.

8)

Therefore instructs that the Council Leader and Deputy Leader write to the
Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport requesting an urgent meeting on the
required funding form Scottish Government’t to support NHS Lothian’s
replacement of the Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion with a new facility; so as
to ensure the people of Edinburgh continue to have access to eye healthcare,
hospital and treatment services in a facility located within Edinburgh and
seeking that our partner NHS Board is fully and supported in that aim.

- moved by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron, seconded by Councillor McVey

Page 30

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 12 of 104

Amendment 2
To add the words”and all Group Leaders” in paragraph 5 of the Motion and
paragraph 8 of Amendment 1
- moved by Councillor Aldridge, seconded by Councillor Gloyer
In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 2 was accepted as an
addendum to the Motion and Amendment 1.
Motion for Adjournment
During discussion of the above item, Councillor Cameron requested in terms of
Standing Order 21(1), that the meeting be adjourned to allow discussion to take
place in regard to a composite motion being agreed.
- moved by Councillor Cameron, seconded by Councillor Arthur
Resumption
Following resumption of the meeting, the following composite motion was submitted:
Composite Motion
Council:
1)

Notes with concern that the Scottish Government has withdrawn the funding
promised in 2018 to provide a replacement for the Princess Alexandra Eye
Pavilion in Edinburgh;

2)

Notes that since opening in 1969, the Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion
(PAEP) has delivered eye health care and treatment services to countless
patients, of all ages, from across Edinburgh, the Lothians and South East
Scotland and is a world-renowned centre of excellence in this field;

3)

Notes that the current building is over 50 years old and has been deemed “not
fit for purpose” by NHS Lothian in 2015 and that this has implications for the
care received by patients in Edinburgh and the Lothians; and that the 2018,
the funding promised by the Scottish Government was intended to continue
the high standard of ophthalmology services to people from Edinburgh, the
Lothians and South East Scotland;

4)

Notes the widespread and growing public concern about the loss of the
Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion from Edinburgh; and the lack of available,
affordable and fully accessible travel options which provide timeous access to
services, currently provided by the PAEP, in facilities located out with
Edinburgh.

Page 31

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 13 of 104

5)

Notes that the waiting times for many eye health services are and have
consistently been higher than national average across services and a huge
challenge for NHS Lothian indicating increased a need for capacity.

6)

Agrees that whilst there are some eye health services which may be best
delivered in a community setting closer to residents, an easily accessible
specialist centre of excellence for eye health is vital to the full delivery of eye
health services;

7)

Further agrees that the Council should work with our partners in NHS Lothian
and other local authorities to restore the promised funding to retain these vital
services in Scotland’s capital giving access and equity to residents in
Edinburgh.

8)

Therefore instructs that the Council Leader and Depute Leader and party
leaders write to the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport, requesting an
urgent meeting to restore the required funding form Scottish Government’s to
support NHS Lothian’s replacement of the Princess Alexandra Eye Pavilion
with a new facility; so as to ensure the people of Edinburgh continue to have
access to eye healthcare, hospital and treatment services in a facility located
within Edinburgh and seeking that our partner NHS Board is fully and
supported in that aim.

Decision
To approve the composite motion.
Declaration of Interests
Councillor Gordon declared a financial interest in the above item as a Non-Executive
Director of NHS Lothian.

9

United Nations Anti-Racisms Day #worldagainstracism Day of
Action – Saturday 20th March 2021 – Motion by Councillor
Lezley Marion Cameron

(a)

Deputation – Stand Up to Racism Edinburgh
A written deputation was presented on behalf of Stand Up to Racism
Edinburgh.
The deputation welcomed the motion which they hoped would be supported.
They indicated that they had organised demonstrations across the UK for a
number of years now on International Anti-Racism Daywhich would usually
take place in Glasgow, Cardiff and London, but this year, with safety concerns

Page 32

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 14 of 104

due to the pandemic, they stressed that it would not be appropriate to hold
those mass demonstrations. On that basis, Stand Up to Racism Edinburgh
had taken the decision to hold an online rally from 1pm to 2pm on 20 March,
which was to be followed by a UK-wide online event at 5pm.
The deputation urged the Council to take a lead, not only in supporting UN
Anti-Racism Day, but in challenging racism within the city on a long-term
basis.
(b)

Motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron
The following motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron was submitted in
terms of Standing Order 17:
“Council notes:
That Saturday 20 March 2021 is the UN Day Against Racism, with events
taking place in cities, communities and countries via online rallies around the
world.
That people will come together across the globe, united against racism,
Islamophobia, antisemitism and fascism; and stand in solidarity with our
residents, and people across the world to convey a powerful, global message
of zero tolerance to racism.
The City of Edinburgh Council confirms support for the UN Day Against
Racism 2021 and its aims and reaffirms that this reflects the will of Council,
from June 2020 and agrees to fly the UN flag on March 20th 2021.”

-moved by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron, seconded by Councillor Bird.
Decision
To approve the motion by Councillor Lezley Marion Cameron.

10

Uber – UK Supreme Court Decision - Motion by Councillor
Watt

The following motion by Councillor Watt was submitted in terms of Standing Order
17:
“Welcomes the recent Supreme Court Decision confirming that Uber drivers are
workers and should be paid the minimum wage and receive holiday pay.
Notes the potential impact of this decision for workers in sectors within the Capital.

Page 33

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 15 of 104

Requests a report within three cycles to the Housing, Homelessness and Fair Work
Committee to further explore and update members on any impacts of the Court’s
decision in relation to fair work.”
- moved by Councillor Watt, seconded by Councillor Kate Campbell.
Dcision
To approve the motion by Councillor Watt.

11

Mobility as a Service – Motion by Councillor Jim Campbell

The following motion by Councillor Jim Campbell was submitted in terms of Standing
Order 17:
“Council:
Recognises the role Edinburgh plays as a centre of data driven innovation and the
existing strengths and ambitions the City has in data analytics and human behaviour.
Notes that innovation will be vital to the success of Edinburgh and the Scottish
economy as we move out of the acute phase of the Coronavirus Pandemic.
Notes that Mobility as a Service could be a significant disrupting force in the near
future; albeit it is reliant on some underlying emerging technologies coming to
maturity, such as the electrification of transport, the development of intelligent streets
and the emergence of automatic and autonomous vehicle control. Recognises the
value of public transport to Edinburgh but accepts that mass transport solutions may
see a reduction in the level of public patronage on which they depend.
Agrees that, in light of recent announcements from HM Treasury, the Executive
Director of Place should explore with all Edinburgh City Region Deal Partners the
appetite for undertaking a feasibility study to investigate the use of emerging
transport technologies within a defined city network to facilitate Mobility as a Service
solutions for individuals or small groups at an affordable price.
The study would:
•

consider how data for intelligent streets could improve efficiency and reduce
the impact of movements around the city;

•

examine the opportunities and challenges that electrification and autonomous
vehicle technology (augmented by intelligent streets) might create for public
transport;

Page 34

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 16 of 104

•

Set out the legal, operational, data and power requirements necessary to
support such a system;

•

Gauge the appetite of commercial partners to see Edinburgh as a useful
location to undertake such innovative development;

•

detail the full economic and social case for such a system in a city of
Edinburgh’s size. The Executive Director is asked to report on the interest in
undertaking such a feasibility study amongst City Region Deal Partners within
four cycles.”

Motion
To approve the motion by Councillor Jim Campbell.
- moved by Councillor Jim Campbell, seconded by Councillor Mowat
Amendment 1
Council recognises that:
1)

Edinburgh is well-positioned to be regarded as data capital of Europe and that
this has been enabled by the inclusion of Data-Driven Innovation within the
£1.3bn Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal.

2)

The importance of having a more sustainable, integrated, efficient, safe and
inclusive transport system is central to the City Mobility Plan agreed by
Transport and Environment Committee on 19 February 2021.

3)

A well-connected and sustainable transport and active travel network is also a
key component of the Council’s Business Plan for ensuring that Edinburgh’s
economy recovers from recession and supporting businesses to thrive.

4)

Technology as a key enabler of new and improved mobility solutions is central
to the City Mobility Plan.

5)

That the use of technology is being explored to further improve mobility at the
regional level through the Regional Transport Strategy which is currently
being developed by the SESTRAN partners and which should be informed by
the City Mobility Plan.

- moved by Councillor Macinnes, seconded by Councillor Doran

Page 35

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 17 of 104

Amendment 2
1)

Recognises the role Edinburgh plays as a centre of data-driven innovation,
and the existing strengths and ambitions the city has in data analytics and
human behaviour.

2)

Notes that innovation and use of technology will be vital for a green recovery
from Covid-19 in Edinburgh.

3)

Welcomes the recently agreed City Mobility Plan (CMP) and its inclusion of
Mobility as a Service within Policy Measure 18 “Mobility on Demand”, and
reaffirms strong support for this important element of transport strategy.

4)

Notes the pilots of MaaS within the agreed CMP implementation plan,
however notes that further work is required to explore funding required to
implement MaaS beyond pilot.

5)

Requests that officers continue to develop sources of funding for MaaS and
other green recovery transport strategies as agreed in the CMP.

- moved by Councillor Miller, seconded by Councillor Corbett
In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Paragraphs 2, 4 and 5 of Amendment 2
were accepted as an addendum to Amendment 1.
Voting
The voting was as follows:
For the motion
For Amendment 1 (as adjusted) -

43 votes
17 votes

(For the Motion: Councillors Brown, Bruce, Jim Campbell, Cook, Doggart, Douglas,
Hutchison, Johnston, Laidlaw, McLellan, Mitchell, Mowat, Rose, Rust, Smith,
Webber and Whyte.
For Amendment 1 (as adjusted): The Lord Provost, Councillors Aldridge, Arthur,
Barrie, Bird, Booth, Bridgman, Burgess, Cameron, Kate Campbell, Mary Campbell,
Child, Corbett, Day, Dickie, Dixon, Doran, Fullerton, Gardiner, Gloyer, Gordon,
Graczyk, Griffiths, Henderson, Key, Lang, Macinnes, Main, McNeese-Mechan,
McVey, Miller, Munn, Munro, Osler, Perry, Rae, Neil Ross, Staniforth, Watt, Wilson,
Work, Ethan Young and Louise Young.)

Page 36

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 18 of 104

Decision
To approve the following adjusted Amendment 1 by Councillor Macinnes:
1)

To recognise that Edinburgh was well-positioned to be regarded as data
capital of Europe and that this had been enabled by the inclusion of DataDriven Innovation within the £1.3bn Edinburgh and South East Scotland City
Region Deal.

2)

To recognise that the importance of having a more sustainable, integrated,
efficient, safe and inclusive transport system was central to the City Mobility
Plan agreed by Transport and Environment Committee on 19 February 2021.

3)

To recognise that a well-connected and sustainable transport and active travel
network was also a key component of the Council’s Business Plan for
ensuring that Edinburgh’s economy recovers from recession and supporting
businesses to thrive.

4)

To recognise that technology as a key enabler of new and improved mobility
solutions was central to the City Mobility Plan.

5)

To recognise that the use of technology was being explored to further improve
mobility at the regional level through the Regional Transport Strategy which
was currently being developed by the SESTRAN partners and which should
be informed by the City Mobility Plan.

6)

To note that innovation and use of technology would be vital for a green
recovery from Covid-19 in Edinburgh.

7)

To note the pilots of MaaS within the agreed CMP implementation plan,
however, note that further work was required to explore funding required to
implement MaaS beyond pilot.

8)

To request that officers continue to develop sources of funding for MaaS and
other green recovery transport strategies as agreed in the CMP.

Page 37

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 19 of 104

12

Retirement of Ella Simpson, Director of Edinburgh Voluntary
Organisations Council (EVOC) – Motion by the Lord Provost

The following motion by the Lord Provost was submitted in terms of Standing Order
17:
“Council notes that:
a)

Ella Simpson has been a leading contributor to the City’s community fabric,
with 45 years of volunteering, and 30 years of employment with several
leading charities.

b)

Ella’s career began with Edinvar in 1991, demonstrating a commitment to truly
person-centred care, and in 2002 she became Director of Edinburgh Young
Carers’ Project working to integrate carers into mainstream services.

c)

In 2003, Ella became Chief Executive Officer at The Rock Trust, and focussed
upon embedding a culture of improvement and consistent advocacy for young
people across Edinburgh.

d)

In September 2009, Ella became Director of EVOC, working to;
(i)

steer the organisation through a period of substantial change,

(ii)

grow involvement of the City’s third sector in partnership, cross-sector
and strategic working,

(iii)

advocating the benefits of working with city charities,

(iv)

achieving tangible change for our most vulnerable citizens, and

(v)

celebrating 150 years of EVOC and its extraordinary impact across our
communities of interest and place.

e)

Ella leaves her Director’s post with EVOC and her place on our strategic
partnerships with a strong legacy of a vibrant third sector, cooperative
working, and the continuing need to focus upon addressing inequalities in our
city. Key partnerships and initiatives that have benefitted from Ella’s input,
include; Edinburgh Partnership, Compact Partnership, Edinburgh Health and
Social Care Partnership, Edinburgh Thrive and Edinburgh 2050 City Vision.

f)

Throughout her volunteering and career, and in particular 12 years with
EVOC, Ella has been a robust and honest and independent voice for the
social and economic importance of the third sector in Edinburgh, helping to
raise the profile of the sector in the City and beyond, and in working to help
communities-in-need at local, national and international settings.

Page 38

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 20 of 104

g)

Ella will enjoy her well-deserved retirement with her family and the wider
community in East Lothian. In acknowledging the long-standing and
substantial contribution of Ella Simpson to the social, community and
charitable fabric of Edinburgh, the City of Edinburgh Council is asked to
congratulate Ella Simpson on her achievements and invites the Lord Provost
to mark her contribution in an appropriate way.”

- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Griffiths
Decision
To approve the motion by the Lord Provost.

13

Questions

The questions put by members to this meeting, written answers and supplementary
questions and answers are contained in Appendix 1 to this minute.

Page 39

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 21 of 104

Appendix 1
(As referred to in Act of Council No 13 of 11 March 2021)

QUESTION NO 1

Question

By Councillor Rust for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

(1)

Please confirm the total anticipated cost of running the
consultation on Spaces for People becoming permanent for
all tasks involved which will include as a minimum:
a)

Planning the consultation approach;

b)

Designing and writing the consultation materials (in all
accessible formats);

c)

Producing the consultation materials - print costs and
digital implementation costs, and any technical
requirements to keep the consultation secure and
unable to be manipulated by special interest groups;

d)

Promoting the materials - including any postage,
adverts design, media spend, time spent on press
releases etc;

e)

Analysing the responses;

f)

Preparing the report for committee.

Answer

(1)

The total anticipated cost of running the consultation, taking
into account the items outlined above, is expected to be
approximately £60,000 (including officer time).

Question

(2)

Please confirm any anticipated costs payable to
bodies/organisations external to CEC, including Social
Marketing Gateway consultancy (SMG).

Page 40

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 22 of 104

Answer

(2)

The total anticipated costs payable to external organisations
is expected to be approximately £45,000. This covers the
costs for assisting with tabulating and analysing comments
made in the consultation questionnaire, as well as costs of
market research and of measures (e.g. on-street adverts) to
raise awareness of the consultation.

Question

(3)

Please confirm amount of officer time/resource scheduled to
be involved in making Spaces for People projects
permanent.

Answer

(3)

There is currently no officer time/resource scheduled to be
involved in making Spaces for People projects permanent.

Question

(4)

Please advise from what budget will such spend be made
i.e. the existing Spaces for People Budget or from which
CEC Budget?

Answer

(4)

The cost of the consultation has been met from the funding
received for the Spaces for People programme.
It is anticipated that any costs incurred for extending
schemes on an extended trial or permanent basis would be
met from the Scottish Government’s Spaces for People’
programme or Paths for All’s ‘Sustainable travel behaviour
change’ programme.

Supplementary
Question

Thank you Lord Provost and thank you very much to the
Convener for her answer. Obviously a large sum of money
is being spent and if that's been spent wisely in terms of a
genuinely objective survey that makes sense but does the
Convener accept that money would have been better spent
earlier to allow residents to comment on schemes which
have been put in place already against local wishes?

Page 41

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 23 of 104

Supplementary
Answer

I think Councillor Rust is missing the point. Unfortunately in
terms of what this consultation is designed to do, is
designed to bridge the gap between the temporary
measures that have been put in place quickly in order to
respond to Covid, and then under encouragement from the
Scottish Government who provided all of the funding to start
with for those temporary measures we've been asked to
look and see how much we can then convert into permanent
infrastructure for the benefit of the city, it’s that that we’re
consulting on nothing to do with the temporary measures
other than their existence at the moment, so that's the point
of it and that's why it's necessary to do that now, thank you.

Page 42

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 24 of 104

QUESTION NO 2

By Councillor Lang for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Question

(1)

Which roads listed in appendix 5 of the “Transport
Infrastructure Investment - Capital Delivery Priorities for
2020/21” report, as approved by the Policy & Sustainability
Committee on 9 July 2020, were resurfaced or surface
treated by 1 March 2021?

Answer

(1)

The table below shows the surface treatment completed to
March 2021:
Street

Surfacing Method

Bo'ness Road

Surface Treatment

Bo'ness Road

Surface Treatment

Broomhouse Road

Surface Treatment

Broomhouse Road

Surface Treatment

Calder Drive

Surface Treatment

Calder Place

Surface Treatment

Clovenstone Drive

Surface Treatment

Clovenstone Gardens

Surface Treatment

Ferry Road

Surface Treatment

Frogston Road East

Surface Treatment

Frogston Road West

Surface Treatment

Hawkhill Avenue

Surface Treatment

Kilgraston Road

Surface Treatment

Page 43

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 25 of 104

Street

Surfacing Method

Marionville Avenue

Surface Treatment

Mayfield Road

Surface Treatment

Mountcastle Drive South

Surface Treatment

New Liston Road

Surface Treatment

Oxgangs Road North

Surface Treatment

Riccarton Avenue

Surface Treatment

Scotstoun Avenue

Surface Treatment

Seafield Road East

Surface Treatment

Southhouse Gardens

Surface Treatment

Stirling Road

Surface Treatment

Templeland Road

Surface Treatment

The Loan

Surface Treatment

Tyler's Acre Road

Surface Treatment

William Black Place

Surface Treatment

Page 44

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 26 of 104

In addition to the schemes listed in July 2020, the following
carriageway works have been delivered in 2020/21:
Street

Surfacing Method

Ingliston Park & Ride

Carriageway Resurfacing

Mid Liberton

Carriageway Resurfacing

Fishwives Causeway

Carriageway Resurfacing

Braid Road

Carriageway Resurfacing

Murrayburn Gardens &

Carriageway Resurfacing

Wester Hailes Road

Carriageway Resurfacing

Queensferry Road

Carriageway Resurfacing

Westbank Street

Carriageway Resurfacing

Swanston Place

Carriageway Resurfacing

Liberton Gardens

Carriageway Resurfacing

Nether Liberton

Carriageway Resurfacing

Craigmillar Park

Carriageway Resurfacing

Parkhead Drive

Carriageway Resurfacing

Gilmerton Road

Carriageway Resurfacing/Strengthening

Portobello Road

Carriageway Resurfacing/Strengthening

Bankhead Drive

Carriageway Strengthening

London Road

Carriageway Strengthening

Phase 2 of the carriageway surface treatments programme
that were presented to the Policy and Sustainability
Committee on 9 July 2020 are due to start in March 2021.

Page 45

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 27 of 104

The following schemes were included in the July 2020 report
but will not now be delivered in 2020/21:
Street

Question

(2)

Surfacing Method

Notes

Balgreen
Road

Carriageway
Strengthening

Design in progress- to be
delivered in 2021/22

Dumbryden
Gardens

Carriageway
Strengthening

Scheme on Hold

Haymarket
Terrace

Carriageway
Strengthening

To be delivered in
conjunction with City
Centre West East Cycleway
(CCWEL) in 2021/22

Longstone
Road

Carriageway
Strengthening

Design in progress - to be
delivered in 2021/22

Queensferry
Street

Carriageway
Strengthening

To be delivered in
conjunction with CCWEL in
2021/22

Southfield
Loan

Carriageway
Strengthening

Construction to start April
2021

Queensferry
High Street

Carriageway Sets

Forms part of wider public
realms scheme to be
delivered in 2021/22

Gilmerton
Dykes Street

Carriageway
Resurfacing

Scheme on Hold

Oxgangs Park
& Rise

Carriageway
Resurfacing

Design in progress - to be
delivered in 2021/22

Which footways listed in appendix 5 of the “Transport
Infrastructure Investment - Capital Delivery Priorities for
2020/21” report, as approved by the Policy & Sustainability
Committee on 9 July 2020, were resurfaced or surface
treated by 1 March 2021?

Page 46

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 28 of 104

Answer

(2)

The table below shows the footways which were shown in
the July 2020 report which have been treated:
Street

Surfacing Method

Bellevue Road

Footway Resurfacing

East Claremont Street

Footway Resurfacing

In addition to footway work listed in the July 2020 report, the
following footway works have also been delivered in
2020/21:
Street

Surfacing Method

Queensferry Road, Kirkliston

Footway Resurfacing

Mid Liberton

Footway Resurfacing

Braid Road

Footway Resurfacing

Queensferry Road

Footway Resurfacing

Westbank Street

Footway Resurfacing

Gilmerton Road

Footway Resurfacing

Portobello Road

Footway Resurfacing

Parkhead Drive

Footway Resurfacing

Rose Street

Footway & Public Realm works

Page 47

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 29 of 104

The following footway works were also included in the July
2020 report but which have not yet been completed:
Street

Surfacing Method

Notes

Derby Street

Footway
Resurfacing

Newhaven
Road

Footway
Resurfacing

Park Road

Footway
Resurfacing

New Mart Road

Footway
Resurfacing

Design complete. To be
delivered in Q1 of 2021/22

Polwarth
Gardens

Footway
Resurfacing

Design complete. To be
delivered in Q1 of 2021/22

Stewart Terrace

Footway
Resurfacing

Design complete. To be
delivered in Q1 of 2021/22

Watson
Crescent

Footway
Resurfacing

Design complete. To be
delivered in Q1 of 2021/22

Design in progress. To be
delivered as one package in
2021/22

Supplementary
Question

Thank you very much Lord Provost. My supplementary
relates to question 2 because at last year’s Committee, it
approved 52 different footways for resurfacing and the
Convener’s answer suggests that only 2 have been done,
has she got any explanation as to why that's the case?

Supplementary
Answer

My understanding from officers is that it relates very much to
the day in which we pulled this report, I would suggest that
given the detailed nature of this that it might be useful for us
to have a specific meeting with officers to go over these
particular aspects as I know you’ll have an interest from a
ward point of view as well Councillor Lang, so I think my
own preference would be to have that meeting and
established the answer correctly and fully at this particular
time in order to answer your question, thank you.

Page 48

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 30 of 104

QUESTION NO 3

By Councillor Lang for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Question

(1)

How many households are currently registered for the
garden waste collection service?

Answer

(1)

There are 74,539 households currently registered for the
garden waste collection service, with 82,355 permits issued.

Question

(2)

What is the anticipated impact of the 40% rise in the garden
waste collection charge on
a)

Answer

(2)

the numbers registering for the service and

b)

the tonnage garden waste recycled in the city each
year?

a)

In preparing the proposal for increasing Garden Waste
charges, the calculation of cost recovery was based on
a low sign up scenario, with a stretch target which
equates to a 1% reduction in registrations per £1 of
increased cost.

b)

The charge is for the collection of garden waste only so
no modelling has been done on the impact on tonnage

Supplementary
Question

Thank you again Lord Provost. Again my supplementary
relates to 2(b) on tonnage and given the experience from
the introduction of the charge last time, my supplementary is
whether the Convener thinks herself whether recycling
tonnage will go up or down as a result of the increase in the
garden waste charge?

Supplementary
Answer

Given the fact of the impact on the tonnage going through
the garden waste service it’s almost impossible to give you a
yea or nay on that because of course the tonnage is
impacted by all sorts of things beyond the number of bins
that we’ve got out there, it's also impacted by the length of

Page 49

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 31 of 104

the growing season, by how well gardens are growing, how
much effort people are putting in to cutting back etc etc, so
it’s actually too broad a topic for me to give you an
immediate yes or no. I would however hope to see that with
the garden waste, despite what we expect might happen, a
slight reduction in the number of registrations but that was,
as we’ve seen since the original introduction of the garden
waste that those will go up again over time, a relatively short
time, every time we’ve opened a registration window the
number of people who want to opt-in to the service will go
up. I would hasten to add also that the level of price that we
have attached to the garden waste service is still very much
at the low end of what other local authorities are charging
and that should be remembered in how we consider this
particular service and there are other parts of the UK that
are charging £90 up to £100, we are very much at the low
end and we’re trying to keep it there as much as possible.
This is likely to be a one-off rise and then the rest will revert
back to the standard fees and charges rises at a later date.
So in this particular instance I hope that people will not see
the need to step back from this garden waste service, it's
been a great success, people are very comfortable with it,
it’s delivering what people need, and I think it's an important
one to keep going on. It reinforces the level of adoption,
reinforces the fact that it was the right decision for do, and it
also underlines the fact that the concerns that were being
raised in this Chamber and out in the community about the
terrible impacts of it don't appear to have materialised and
that's something which I'm very pleased about because I
think it means that we can continue to provide a service to
the gardens, a service which is not given to other local
authority residents, in the Borders my understanding is that
they don't have a service at all for garden waste so I am
very pleased that with these kind of changes that we’re able
to keep that service in a broadly consistent form, delivering
what it is that the people of Edinburgh need, thank you.

Page 50

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 32 of 104

QUESTION NO 4

By Councillor Rust for answer by the
Convener of the Transports and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Question

(1)

“Retaining ‘Spaces for People’ measures” consultation
opened on 22nd February and closes on 21st March. “Winter
Festivals 2021 onwards” opened on 24th February and
closes 19th May 2021. Why is a consultation which impacts
all wards in the city, open for response for only a third of the
time of another current consultation?

Answer

(1)

The consultation on moving forward with Spaces for People
measures by potentially extending some of the existing
measures for a trial period or making some schemes
permanent has been developed to ensure that the Council is
prepared as COVID-19 restrictions are gradually lifted. The
next stage would then be reporting back to Transport and
Environment Committee.

Question

(2)

Due to the delay in making the telephone number and paper
copies of the “Retaining ‘Spaces for People’ measures”
consultation available, will the deadline be extended to
ensure adequate time for residents to request copies, for the
Council to distribute and for residents to complete and
return?

Answer

(2)

To date, all requests for paper copies of the consultation
have been received by email rather than through the
telephone line (which went live four days after the
consultation launched) and paper copies have been issued
within 3-4 working days of the request being received.
However, I agree it is vital that all residents have the chance
to be heard and have instructed officers to extend the
consultation deadline by a further two weeks to ensure
appropriate time for postal feedback to be received.

Page 51

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 33 of 104

Supplementary
Question

Thank you Lord Provost and thanks again to the Convener.
In terms of the answer to question 2, I note the phone
number went live 4 days later but there's been no request to
date, my question is where is the phone number being
promoted on existing adverts about the survey and I ask that
because my understanding is it's not, and so how does
anyone know about the phone number if they don't have
digital access?

Supplementary
Answer

In terms of the presence of a telephone number I think it's
available in various forms, it’s certainly available online
which I appreciate that will not suit everybody who is
requiring to use the piece but as it happens and the fact that
it's out there, and presumably councillors have been
sending it out, there's been various methods of people
getting, particularly those who are paring into the Council
customer care service etc, then it’s quite clear that there's
not that much of a demand for the telephone service. Now
in terms of the precise details of where it’s being advertised,
I'll ask the service to provide you with that detail but my
understanding is clearly that there is not that much demand
emerging from the telephone route, the vast majority of
people have moved over onto online presence and that's
how we're obviously getting most of the responses in, thank
you.

Page 52

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 34 of 104

QUESTION NO 5

By Councillor Rust for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Question

(1)

In relation to Spaces for People has the Council
sought/obtained any external legal advice, including from
private practice or Counsel?

Answer

(1)

Yes. This has previously been highlighted to Elected
Members in a written briefing and at Transport and
Environment Committee.

Question

(2)

If so, please advise:
(a)

in relation to which specific schemes or if generally?

(b)

who provided the advice?

(c) the cost of the advice, invoiced or anticipated?
Answer

Question

(2)

(3)

(a)

This is subject to legal privilege and cannot therefore
be provided as an answer to a Council question.
Further information is available to relevant elected
members on a confidential basis through the
Member/Officer Protocol.

(b)

Given the multiple threats of legal action, both internal
and external legal advice has been provided. External
advice was provided by CMS Cameron McKenna
Nabarro Olswang LLP.

(c)

The cost of the external advice to date is approximately
£5,400 (exclusive of VAT). It is not possible to
estimate anticipated costs as that is wholly dependent
on any correspondence or action brought forward

Is any legal input from within CEC sought/given in relation to
delegated decisions on Spaces for People made at CIMT?

Page 53

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 35 of 104

Answer

(3)

A process is in place for all matters which are considered at
the Council Incident Management Team. This includes
relevant teams taking legal advice as appropriate in relation
to any matters taken to that forum for consideration.

Question

(4)

How much CEC officer time in Legal and Risk has been
budgeted/recorded against dealing with Spaces for People
enquires /complaints/ providing advice/ reviewing schemes/
internal meetings etc?

Answer

(4)

Approximately 230 hours of internal legal work has been
recorded.

Page 54

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 36 of 104

QUESTION NO 6

By Councillor Johnston for answer
by the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Question

(1)

Can the Convener explain why every design for a proposed
Spaces for People programme is not automatically put on
the Council website?

Answer

(1)

The designs for proposed schemes are distributed to ward
members, Transport Spokespeople and key stakeholders, in
line with the notification process agreed by Policy and
Sustainability Committee on 14 May 2020.

Question

(2)

Does the Convener agree this inconsistent approach is
causing confusion within communities and will she now
commit to publishing detailed comprehensible plans as a
matter of course?

Answer

(2)

The notification procedure is consistent for all schemes as
noted above. Plans for some of the deployed schemes are
not currently available on the Council website but will be
uploaded shortly.

Supplementary
Question

Thank you Lord Provost and thank you Convener for your
answer. Can I clarify, in point 2 of my question with regards
to the consistency of approach regarding putting all plans on
the Council website at the same time, am I to understand
that will be the process going forward, so no matter what the
project everything will go online so anyone can interrogate
it?

Supplementary
Answer

What I can confirm Councillor Johnston is that ae everybody
who has been involved in Spaces for People should have
observed we’re moving very quickly outside our normal
methods of doing things wherever possible we’ll get those
schemes up on the website at the appropriate point in the
process. That’s all I’m going to commit to at this point as if
not it puts undue pressure on a very stretched team at the
moment. I will endeavour to ensure that as much as

Page 55

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 37 of 104

possible will be put on the website as I’ve indicated in the
answer and that the notification process follows the process
that was agreed by this Council back in May. I know there
have been numerous attempts to portray that somehow
we’re breaking promises in terms of how we’re doing that
notification process, that is not the case, we’re following the
process that we had before and we’re doing it under
extremely difficult circumstances. So I’m very hopeful that
people will be able to find the information that they require at
the time that they require it, but I will not guarantee it at this
point because of the pace of change that we’re going
through. As we move forward from the spaces that have
been put in on a temporary basis, as we move forward into
the permanent process, I hope that that information will be
more readily available and can be interrogated by anyone
quite easily because it will be a fairly straightforward process
once we have completed our June Committee report on
that, thank you.

Page 56

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 38 of 104

QUESTION NO 7

By Councillor Rose for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021
On 18th November 2020, the Cabinet Secretary for
Transport, Infrastructure and Connectivity stated, in
response to a question about passenger services on the
South Suburban Rail Line, “. . .the issue has already been
identified as part of the pre-appraisal work for STPR2, which
has been shared with regional transport partners, the city
council and other Lothian councils. It is now for them to look
at the details of that and consider what further work is
necessary in order to take it forward.”
At City of Edinburgh Council (CEC) Transport and
Environment Committee on 19th February 2021, an
emergency motion was passed including the following:
“Asks that Officers liaise with Transport Scotland and
Network Rail, and report to Committee within 2 cycles on the
possibilities surrounding the South Suburban Line being
considered for use”
Given that the issue was identified as part of the preappraisal work for the Strategic Transport Projects Review
shared with the Council, and that the Cabinet Secretary
stated it was for CEC (inter alia) to look at the details and
consider what further work is necessary to take it forward,
can the Convener advise:

Question

(1)

What work was undertaken by CEC to progress this issue
prior to 18th November 2020?

Answer

(1)

Since summer 2019 the Council been engaging with
Transport Scotland as part of the Edinburgh and South East
Regional Transport Working Group to inform the Strategic
Transport Projects Review 2 (STPR2). Once complete,
STPR2 will set a programme of strategic transport
investment opportunities for the period 2022-2042.
The Regional Working Group is led by Transport Scotland
and is attended by all of the local authorities in the regional

Page 57

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 39 of 104

area, we well as by regional partnerships. The Group meets
once a month and additionally at key milestones. STPR2 is
being published in two phases. Phase 1, published in
February 2021, sets out the first recommendations for
transport investment, focussing on projects or interventions
that significantly contribute to STPR2 objectives, align well
with National Transport Strategy priorities, can be
progressed or delivered within the current spending period
and will help support a green recovery from the COVID-19
pandemic. It includes a commitment to consider the south
suburban line as part of the city’s future mass rapid transit
system.
Question

(2)

What work was undertaken by CEC to progress the issue
between 18th November 2020 and 19th February 2021?

Answer

(2)

The Council has continued to contribute to the Regional
Working Group during this period.
The Council will provide feedback to Transport Scotland on
the Phase 1 report and will continue to engage on Phase 2
of STPR2, which is expected to be published later this year.
A meeting specifically to discuss the south suburban line is
in the process of being arranged with Network Rail and
Transport Scotland in response to the Coalition Motion,
approved at Transport and Environment Committee on 19
February.

Supplementary
Question

Thank you Lord Provost, thank you for the response. My
question was quite specifically and very pointedly about the
passenger service on the south suburban railway. The
responses that we have are about general interaction with
the Regional Working Group and Transport Scotland rather
than the South Sub itself otherwise why would the Convener
have brought an emergency motion to the Transport and
Environment Committee meeting on the 19th February. Be
that as it may, does the Convener now agree that full
consideration will be given to the use of the South Sub for
passenger services and that that is necessary consideration
going forward?

Page 58

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 40 of 104

Supplementary
Answer

The reason I brought forward an emergency motion was in
order to respond to a clear desire that emerged through the
consultation that the Edinburgh South Sub was a good idea
to follow up and it was quite clear that what I wanted to do
was to raise its profile within the city mobility plan. However
what I will commit to is essentially the spirit of what's
contained in the city mobility plan which is about network
partnership. We need to, this is not a decision for the
Council alone, and I will repeat that, it is not a decision for
the Council alone, it's for Network Rail, it's for the Scottish
Government, there are number different partners in it, so I
cannot commit to the kind of work that would commit those
organisations to coming in on work like that in this context.
What I can commit to is the fact that the officers have
enshrined it within the city mobility plan and as
demonstrated by the last of the answers that are provided
for you there is considerable work going on since that
commitment through Transport and Environment Committee
to further the conversation in the way that you’ve described,
so that's what I can commit to, further work on it.

Page 59

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 41 of 104

QUESTION NO 8

By Councillor Jim Campbell for
answer by the Convener of the
Housing, Homelessness and Fair
Work Committee at a meeting of the
Council on 11 March 2021

Question

(1)

In terms of the Council’s existing Housing Revenue Account
stock, how many of the 20,000 new homes planned by 2027
are to replace existing units?

Answer

(1)

The 20,000 new homes will be developed by the Council,
Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) and private developers.
There are currently no planned demolitions, other than 21
homes at Coatfield Lane. Further disposals or demolitions
may be required if it is not technically or financially feasible
to bring them up to standards. The HRA Business Plan
includes an assumption that up to 400 may be disposed off
or demolished by 2027. This will be subject to annual update
as part of the business plan process.

Question

(2)

Can a brief explanation be given for the most likely reasons
that existing units will need to be replaced by 2027?

Answer

(2)

In the past homes have been replaced if they form part of
wider area regeneration or where it is not financially viable
or technically feasible for them to meet housing standards.
Any proposal to demolish homes in the future would be
informed by up-to-date stock condition information, together
with an assessment of required investment to bring the them
up to required energy efficiency standards, including net
zero carbon and the economic viability of the required
investment.

Question

(3)

How many Council Houses were let to tenants on:
a)

1st January 2017?

b)

1st January 2021?

Page 60

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 42 of 104

Answer

(3)

There are no figures currently available for the number of
Council homes let to tenants on 1 January 2017. The
information that is available sets out overall Council social
housing stock available to let at the end of the financial year
for comparison nearest to the requested dates.
2016/17- 19,709*
2020/21 –20,194 (projected)

Question

Answer

(4)

(4)

How many Council Houses would the Convener anticipate
being let to tenants on:
a)

1st January 2023?

b)

1st January 2028?

The future tenancy figures are based on projected Council
social housing stock as at the end of the financial year
nearest to the requested dates.
2022/23 – 20,729
2027/28 – 24,200

Page 61

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 43 of 104

QUESTION NO 9

By Councillor Mitchell for answer by
the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021
Please could the Convener confirm:

Question

(1)

The total number of comments received by Spaces for
People in relation to the Queensferry Road/A90 scheme
during the feedback window.

Answer

(1)

36 separate comments. However, some comments had
more than one query/response required.

Question

(2)

The total number of comments received by Spaces for
People in relation to the closure of the junction at Clarendon
Crescent, Oxford Terrace, and Learmonth Terrace.
Of these,

Answer

(2)

a)

How many supported the closure?

b)

How many did not support the closure?

a)

4 comments supported the closure

b)

25 comments did not support the closure

Question

(3)

What consideration was given to footway build-outs at the
junction of Orchard Drive and Queensferry Road?

Answer

(3)

Protected footway build-outs were considered at the junction
of Orchard Drive and Queensferry Road during the design
development stage. However, due to the location of a
number of driveways at this location and the temporary
measures available to the Spaces for People programme it
was not possible to bring forward improvements at this
location.
Officers are currently investigating if an un-protected
hatched solution can be delivered that would help to visual
narrow the junction and slow traffic which would make this
junction safer for pedestrians and cyclists.

Page 62

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 44 of 104

Question

(4)

When a full summary of feedback on the Queensferry
Road/A90 scheme will be distributed to Ward councillors,
Transport spokespeople, and stakeholders?

Answer

(4)

It is hoped that the summary of feedback will circulated by
the end of this week.

Supplementary
Question

Thank you Lord Provost and could I thank the Convener for
her answer and as well actually for accepting my amending
of the typo, she responded very quickly and was very
gracious in accepting. So just in relation to answers 1 and
2, 80% of responses were about this one junction and 86%
of those, were opposed, so could the Convener please
clarify if she is or is not listening to the wishes of residents
when responding to these schemes?

Supplementary
Answer

One thing which officers have told me is that a number of
the comments that came in relating to the Oxford Terrace
closure, they’ve not dismissed the proposal completely, so
there was work to be done and I know that certainly three
Council responses suggest a slightly revised layout and
officers looked at that and came to the conclusion that it
wouldn't work because there were some aspects to it that
would not give the safest option for pedestrians, many of
whom of course will be local residents. The question about
resident responses on these Council schemes is actually
quite a difficult one because we very much welcome the
input from residents in terms of shaping this, we’ve seen, all
over the city we’ve seen schemes and designs we’ve put in
and have then subsequently changed because we had input
either from residents or from businesses I can quote you
half a dozen examples of those easily off the top of my head
and I know that the spaces for people team have gone to
strenuous efforts to try to accommodate some of the most
obvious changes that are required, you can see that on for
example on Lanark Road, reinstatement of parking for
example, specifically to suit the needs of some of the
businesses that are there, there have been various other
pieces around Morningside Road where we’ve made
changes as well, but it may not be all of the changes that
people are looking for but they are some of the changes and

Page 63

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 45 of 104

that’s in order to keep the integrity of the scheme to deliver
what it should be doing but also to meet the needs of local
residents so that’s what I am committed to, the try then
modify process that we’ve gone through on this set of
temporary measures and then see how we can
accommodate that as we move into any permanent
measures which we decide, democratically decide as a
council to retain, thank you.

Page 64

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 46 of 104

QUESTION NO 10

By Councillor Webber for answer by
the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021
Can the Convener please indicate the following given that
the report provided to Governance, Risk and Best Value
Committee does not provide the data:

Question

(1)

How many open road repair issues are there across the city
in TOTAL as of 28 Feb 2021?
a)

By Ward or postal code if not possible

b)

When were they logged? (date)

c)

Answer

(1)

How were the logged? (eg Online, email, elected
member)

d)

What is the mean time for an initial repair?

e)

What is the median time for an initial repair?

f)

What is the mode time for an initial repair?

a)

Tables 1 and 2 below show the number of open road
repairs at 3 March 2021, for category 1, 2, 3 and 4
defects.

b)

Table 3 shows the date and time that each open
defect was logged.

c)

The data source does not currently exist to enable
this information to be provided. It should also be
noted that the defects represented in the data
provided come from both enquiries from members of
the public as well as from the team of Roads Officers
on programmed inspection routes who inspect the
city’s roads all year round. All enquiries are logged
on the Confirm system.

d - f) Table 4 below provides this information by defect
category due to the different response time targets.

Page 65

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 47 of 104

Question

(2)

What proportion of completed repairs present for re-repairs
in TOTAL and then…?
a)

What is the mean time for re-repair to present itself?

b)

What is the median time for a re-repair to present?

c)

What is the mode time for a re-repair to present?

d)

What is the mean time for re-repair to be repaired?

e)

What is the median time for a re-repair to be
repaired?

f)

What is the mode time for a re-repair to be repaired?

Answer

(2)

This information is not currently held on the Council’s Asset
Management System. However, the Council has recently
invested in additional software to enable spatial analysis of
defect history alongside network inspection and survey
information. This will help to identify areas of multiple/repeat
defects.

Question

(3)

In relation to the TOTAL number of repairs required for each
original issue reported:
a)

What is the mean number of repairs carried out for
each original open issue?

b)

What is the median number of repairs carried out for
each original open issue?

c)

What is the mode number of repairs carried out for
each original open issue?

Answer

(3)

See response to Question 2.

Question

(4)

How long is it anticipated it will take to carry out ALL the
open repairs / re-repairs?

Page 66

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 48 of 104

Answer

(4)

In line with response to Q1 d – f, it would take on average
approximately two weeks to make safe the defects that are
currently on the list (prioritised within their categories).
However, in this two-week period, a number of new defects
will be added to the live list from new enquiries and officer
inspections and these would need to be prioritised
accordingly and would subsequently influence decision
making

Supplementary
Question

Thank you Lord Provost and thank you Convener for your
answer. I suppose I am a bit disappointed that we don't
have the information to my questions on the total re-repair
costs, the number of visits etc and you do make reference to
there being a new system coming on line Councillor
Macinnes so I’m at wondering what timeline we can expect
that because after all that will be key to us evaluating total
value for money for council and every pound that we spend
and to go back to an old adage “A stitch in time does save
nine”, so I am so looking for a little bit more information
around when that management system might be up and
running, thanks Convener and Lord Provost rather, sorry.

Supplementary
Answer

I will have to come back to you on the matter of the
timescales attached to that new system coming in, it’s
clearly an operational matter so I’ll ensure that that is
circulated to both yourself and to the other members of the
Transport Committee so that they understand that too since
this is very heavily a transport issue. I would however in
providing the answer to you, I would however draw your
attention to table 4, because actually what that indicates
quite clearly is that in the categorisation of defects on the
road we have a range of 1 to 4 and there is a statutory
obligation on us to repair those either as a temporary repair
or as a permanent repair within a certain number of days
and table 4 indicates quite clearly that we are hitting those
deadlines and then some. So for example, for category 4
there’s a 60 day turnaround on some of these and we’re
turning those on an average of approximately 9 days to fulfil
those, the same thing goes for the more urgent end of the
range of defects and how we deal with those and so table 4
is the one I would suggest most people take a look at to see

Page 67

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 49 of 104

the real efforts that are being made to try to keep the road
defects down as much as possible, try to provide temporary
repairs where there is quite clearly a danger to, for example
vulnerable road users on bikes or by foot and I think the
team are to be congratulated on that. We have clearly seen
a major deterioration in the roads following the winter
weather, the extended winter weather period and the team
are working as hard as they can to fulfil the requirements
that have emerged out of that period and I expect to see
further progress on that, thank you.

Page 68

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 50 of 104

Table 1 and 2 – Number of Road Defects by Category and Ward

Cat 1 / 2 / 3 Safety Defects - Outstanding on 03/03/2021 - By Ward
RD: Cat 1
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
Grand
Total
Notes:

Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Grand
- 01
- 02
- 03
- 04
- 05
- 06
- 07
- 08
– 09
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
Total
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
5
12
4
5
4
14
2
2
1
3
8
1
61
17
79
7
12
9
16
16
17
7
21
26
2
2
2
30
41
5
309
22

91

11

17

13

30

18

19

7

21

26

2

3

2

33

49

6

370

The vast majority of these defects are within their target time for repair and represent Work In Progress

Page 69

Cat 4 - Defects to Monitor - On system on 03/03/2021 - By Ward
RD: Cat 4
Grand
Total
Notes:

Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Ward Grand
- 01
- 02
- 03
- 04
- 05
- 06
- 07
- 08
– 09
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
Total
155
345
76
54
87
99
30
56
45
61
22
0
0
5
65
148
8
1256
155

345

76

54

87

99

30

56

45

61

22

0

0

5

65

148

Category 4 defects are at a non-actionable level and are monitored for deterioration or incorporation into the wider Capital Maintenance delivery

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 51 of 104

8

1256

Table 3 – Defects by Date Recorded
Ward
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond

Job
Number
50077125
50077149
50076946
50076947
50077124
50074377
50074643
50073015
50071797
50073025
50073031
50073166
50071363
50072979
50071505
50072978
50073067
50074185
50073449
50071281
50072989
50074796
50000282
50012776
50013291
50013643
50013253
50013794
50013240
50011661
50014018
50014082
50011305
50011309
50014093
50013242
50014013
50012852
50013975
50010845
50013233

Priority

Defect Date

RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

03/03/2021 09:45
03/03/2021 10:55
02/03/2021 13:07
02/03/2021 13:13
03/03/2021 09:43
08/02/2021 10:29
10/02/2021 11:18
27/01/2021 10:58
12/01/2021 10:59
27/01/2021 11:13
27/01/2021 11:43
28/01/2021 10:14
06/01/2021 10:26
27/01/2021 10:08
07/01/2021 14:41
27/01/2021 10:06
27/01/2021 12:40
05/02/2021 09:35
01/02/2021 09:45
05/01/2021 12:40
27/01/2021 10:17
12/02/2021 11:03
20/12/2017 10:10
28/01/2021 10:34
22/07/2018 11:37
04/02/2021 13:22
23/02/2021 10:33
31/07/2018 15:04
21/07/2018 10:25
18/02/2021 11:08
05/08/2018 09:43
07/08/2018 11:09
22/12/2020 12:39
22/12/2020 12:08
07/08/2018 12:06
23/02/2021 10:35
11/01/2021 09:30
08/07/2018 08:20
05/08/2018 05:49
02/06/2018 10:20
21/07/2018 09:17

Page 70

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 52 of 104

01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond

50013910
50013970
50013971
50014084
50013647
50013972
50014004
50014024
50014021
50014025
50010009
50010849
50013631
50009745
50009988
50013225
50013926
50013279
50013280
50013796
50014926
50015240
50014232
50014490
50014111
50014214
50014524
50014518
50014928
50014127
50014516
50014124
50014974
50044098
50046941
50047267
50048296
50047807
50047913
50047902
50047904
50047876
50047837
50048058
50047023

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 71

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

03/08/2018 14:17
05/08/2018 05:33
05/08/2018 05:38
07/08/2018 11:18
24/02/2021 12:28
05/08/2018 05:41
05/08/2018 08:46
05/08/2018 10:00
05/08/2018 09:49
05/08/2018 10:03
20/05/2018 10:07
02/06/2018 10:36
29/07/2018 06:03
05/01/2021 12:45
20/05/2018 08:02
21/07/2018 07:33
04/08/2018 06:07
22/07/2018 10:00
22/07/2018 10:08
31/07/2018 15:15
26/08/2018 10:45
31/08/2018 13:26
03/02/2021 10:53
17/08/2018 10:53
07/08/2018 14:10
10/08/2018 12:36
18/08/2018 07:47
18/08/2018 07:33
26/08/2018 10:54
08/08/2018 11:29
18/08/2018 07:28
08/08/2018 11:23
27/08/2018 12:53
10/10/2019 12:05
03/12/2019 15:37
09/12/2019 13:26
19/12/2019 12:16
16/12/2019 10:56
16/12/2019 15:13
16/12/2019 14:37
16/12/2019 14:52
07/01/2021 10:03
16/12/2019 11:39
24/02/2021 11:07
05/12/2019 09:44

Page 53 of 104

01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond

50048283
50047806
50052458
50053280
50059372
50059387
50060172
50055395
50058431
50066582
50068552
50069460
50073377
50073094
50073088
50073378
50070792
50070426
50068233
50070651
50070767
50073092
50069324
50068582
50070762
50073376
50073093
50068585
50073055
50069470
50073379
50068551
50069503
50073375
50073389
50069862
50073050
50073079
50073046
50068216
50070743
50068546
50069892
50070809
50070371

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 72

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

23/02/2021 10:36
16/12/2019 10:52
19/02/2020 12:52
26/02/2020 10:04
29/07/2020 14:35
29/07/2020 16:23
07/01/2021 10:56
26/03/2020 14:25
29/01/2021 11:45
09/11/2020 10:38
30/11/2020 11:17
09/12/2020 09:59
29/01/2021 11:28
27/01/2021 13:39
27/01/2021 13:36
29/01/2021 11:31
22/12/2020 12:10
17/12/2020 11:20
26/11/2020 10:40
21/12/2020 11:34
22/12/2020 11:13
27/01/2021 13:38
08/12/2020 10:50
30/11/2020 12:17
22/12/2020 11:04
29/01/2021 11:27
27/01/2021 13:39
30/11/2020 12:21
27/01/2021 12:21
09/12/2020 10:11
29/01/2021 11:32
30/11/2020 11:06
09/12/2020 10:50
29/01/2021 11:24
29/01/2021 11:50
14/12/2020 09:41
27/01/2021 12:11
27/01/2021 13:25
27/01/2021 12:03
26/11/2020 10:10
22/12/2020 10:21
30/11/2020 10:50
14/12/2020 10:22
22/12/2020 13:05
17/12/2020 09:51

Page 54 of 104

01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond
01-Almond

50070419
50070640
50073087
50068541
50069527
50068577
50069452
50069498
50069537
50068237
50068583
50072256
50069544
50070759
50073034
50073038
50070429
50070639
50070781
50070808
50070763
50073049
50073084
50070758
50073383
50068550
50073082
50073382
50073102
50068236
50073385
50070646
50073047
50070754
50073060
50070734
50070733
50073080
50068545
50070794
50073372
50073056
50072216
50073037
50073053

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 73

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

17/12/2020 11:10
21/12/2020 10:48
27/01/2021 13:32
30/11/2020 10:31
09/12/2020 11:35
30/11/2020 11:58
09/12/2020 09:47
09/12/2020 10:45
09/12/2020 12:04
26/11/2020 10:58
30/11/2020 12:18
18/01/2021 12:50
09/12/2020 12:44
22/12/2020 10:57
27/01/2021 11:53
27/01/2021 11:56
17/12/2020 11:24
21/12/2020 10:36
22/12/2020 11:33
22/12/2020 13:03
22/12/2020 11:06
27/01/2021 12:11
27/01/2021 13:27
22/12/2020 10:55
29/01/2021 11:38
30/11/2020 11:02
27/01/2021 13:27
29/01/2021 11:37
27/01/2021 13:40
26/11/2020 10:54
29/01/2021 11:41
21/12/2020 10:57
27/01/2021 12:09
22/12/2020 10:48
27/01/2021 12:26
22/12/2020 10:04
22/12/2020 09:59
27/01/2021 13:28
30/11/2020 10:47
22/12/2020 12:18
29/01/2021 11:14
27/01/2021 12:18
18/01/2021 11:59
27/01/2021 11:54
27/01/2021 12:15

Page 55 of 104

01-Almond
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills

50076252
50077046
50077061
50077062
50077041
50077057
50077056
50077048
50077047
50077043
50077030
50077059
50077044
50072199
50072767
50073965
50074419
50074132
50077120
50077144
50077139
50077063
50077053
50076957
50075348
50077000
50076952
50075610
50077066
50077055
50077040
50076983
50076995
50077009
50077015
50077024
50077052
50077067
50077035
50076962
50076994
50077064
50077010
50077028
50077027

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3

Page 74

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

24/02/2021 11:10
02/03/2021 16:02
02/03/2021 16:36
02/03/2021 16:37
02/03/2021 15:50
02/03/2021 16:32
02/03/2021 16:31
02/03/2021 16:09
02/03/2021 16:06
02/03/2021 15:54
02/03/2021 15:34
02/03/2021 16:34
02/03/2021 15:57
18/01/2021 10:51
25/01/2021 12:17
03/02/2021 11:36
08/02/2021 11:09
04/02/2021 12:22
03/03/2021 09:39
03/03/2021 10:35
03/03/2021 10:25
02/03/2021 16:42
02/03/2021 16:20
02/03/2021 13:27
17/02/2021 13:08
02/03/2021 14:37
02/03/2021 13:25
18/02/2021 15:00
02/03/2021 16:45
02/03/2021 16:30
02/03/2021 15:46
02/03/2021 14:09
02/03/2021 14:30
02/03/2021 14:54
02/03/2021 15:10
02/03/2021 15:28
02/03/2021 16:17
02/03/2021 16:46
02/03/2021 15:38
02/03/2021 13:32
02/03/2021 14:29
02/03/2021 16:43
02/03/2021 14:56
02/03/2021 15:31
02/03/2021 15:31

Page 56 of 104

02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills

50076991
50076817
50077031
50077049
50077122
50075326
50077039
50077150
50076959
50077054
50075441
50077042
50077016
50077029
50076769
50077051
50076961
50076022
50075328
50077019
50077032
50076950
50076986
50077006
50077020
50076615
50077038
50075609
50077045
50077050
50076953
50077065
50077018
50076987
50077004
50075606
50077003
50076998
50077007
50076951
50077011
50077021
50075611
50077025
50077068

RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3

Page 75

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

02/03/2021 14:27
01/03/2021 13:59
02/03/2021 15:35
02/03/2021 16:11
03/03/2021 09:41
17/02/2021 11:55
02/03/2021 15:45
03/03/2021 10:59
02/03/2021 13:28
02/03/2021 16:28
18/02/2021 09:11
02/03/2021 15:52
02/03/2021 15:11
02/03/2021 15:32
01/03/2021 12:35
02/03/2021 16:16
02/03/2021 13:31
19/02/2021 11:41
17/02/2021 11:58
02/03/2021 15:12
02/03/2021 15:35
02/03/2021 09:43
02/03/2021 14:14
02/03/2021 14:47
02/03/2021 15:14
26/02/2021 12:39
02/03/2021 15:41
18/02/2021 14:57
02/03/2021 16:00
02/03/2021 16:12
02/03/2021 13:25
02/03/2021 16:44
02/03/2021 15:11
02/03/2021 14:17
02/03/2021 14:46
18/02/2021 14:49
02/03/2021 14:44
02/03/2021 14:32
02/03/2021 14:50
02/03/2021 13:24
02/03/2021 14:59
02/03/2021 15:15
18/02/2021 15:05
02/03/2021 15:29
02/03/2021 16:47

Page 57 of 104

02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills

50077060
50077058
50001430
50002086
50001736
50001835
50001307
50000325
50000168
50001019
50001841
50002085
50002091
50001733
50000326
50001427
50001018
50002090
50002083
50003089
50003360
50002927
50003083
50003246
50003087
50007412
50003699
50003121
50003110
50003126
50002934
50007629
50002944
50003071
50003999
50003091
50002924
50003357
50003358
50002952
50002930
50003349
50004936
50003031
50002466

RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 76

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

02/03/2021 16:35
02/03/2021 16:33
17/01/2018 13:24
30/01/2018 10:19
24/01/2018 11:47
25/01/2018 11:27
15/01/2018 11:18
20/12/2017 12:56
18/12/2017 11:51
10/01/2018 09:35
25/01/2018 12:17
30/01/2018 10:17
30/01/2018 10:24
24/01/2018 11:38
20/12/2017 13:00
17/01/2018 13:12
10/01/2018 09:32
30/01/2018 10:23
30/01/2018 10:16
14/02/2018 11:16
17/02/2018 12:46
13/02/2018 11:24
14/02/2018 10:57
16/02/2018 09:29
14/02/2018 11:07
17/04/2018 11:43
22/02/2018 11:25
14/02/2018 12:36
14/02/2018 12:07
14/02/2018 12:50
13/02/2018 11:49
19/04/2018 14:39
13/02/2018 12:13
14/02/2018 10:20
27/02/2018 10:38
14/02/2018 11:22
13/02/2018 11:19
17/02/2018 12:43
17/02/2018 12:44
13/02/2018 12:33
13/02/2018 11:31
17/02/2018 12:30
14/03/2018 10:43
13/02/2018 16:26
06/02/2018 08:57

Page 58 of 104

02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills

50003164
50003549
50003249
50003052
50003019
50006193
50006196
50003103
50003127
50007745
50007701
50003267
50003059
50003113
50003138
50003280
50003142
50003119
50003090
50004710
50002914
50003100
50003054
50003283
50003275
50003252
50004327
50003356
50007727
50003075
50003085
50007623
50007655
50006063
50003342
50003432
50008263
50003063
50002916
50002951
50002948
50003131
50003177
50003167
50003260

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 77

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

14/02/2018 15:08
20/02/2018 11:47
16/02/2018 09:33
14/02/2018 09:42
13/02/2018 15:49
05/04/2018 12:40
05/04/2018 12:55
14/02/2018 11:52
14/02/2018 12:52
21/04/2018 10:56
20/04/2018 13:36
16/02/2018 13:05
14/02/2018 09:50
14/02/2018 12:16
14/02/2018 13:22
16/02/2018 13:28
14/02/2018 13:34
14/02/2018 12:32
14/02/2018 11:19
12/03/2018 12:43
13/02/2018 11:01
14/02/2018 11:45
14/02/2018 09:44
16/02/2018 13:41
16/02/2018 13:19
16/02/2018 09:47
08/03/2018 11:39
09/04/2018 10:31
21/04/2018 09:10
14/02/2018 10:30
14/02/2018 11:01
19/04/2018 14:22
19/03/2018 10:38
03/04/2018 13:51
17/02/2018 12:09
19/02/2018 10:44
30/04/2018 11:58
14/02/2018 10:05
13/02/2018 11:10
13/02/2018 12:31
13/02/2018 12:20
14/02/2018 13:06
14/02/2018 15:51
14/02/2018 15:14
16/02/2018 10:14

Page 59 of 104

02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills

50002933
50003118
50002938
50003286
50003343
50008265
50003086
50003277
50003341
50003350
50003065
50003081
50003359
50008272
50007609
50007702
50005970
50003345
50008312
50003107
50006192
50003285
50003346
50003273
50003369
50004707
50002869
50003066
50003363
50007621
50003366
50003117
50003140
50003340
50004131
50003104
50003166
50003265
50003077
50002861
50005048
50003268
50007615
50003114
50003135

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 78

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

13/02/2018 11:47
14/02/2018 12:30
13/02/2018 12:02
16/02/2018 13:45
17/02/2018 12:10
30/04/2018 12:05
14/02/2018 11:05
16/02/2018 13:26
17/02/2018 12:08
17/02/2018 12:31
14/02/2018 10:08
14/02/2018 10:49
17/02/2018 12:45
30/04/2018 12:39
19/04/2018 13:46
20/04/2018 13:40
29/03/2018 13:15
17/02/2018 12:13
01/05/2018 09:49
14/02/2018 12:03
05/04/2018 12:38
16/02/2018 13:44
17/02/2018 12:14
16/02/2018 13:15
17/02/2018 13:39
12/03/2018 12:40
13/02/2018 08:39
14/02/2018 10:09
17/02/2018 12:50
19/04/2018 14:14
17/02/2018 13:14
14/02/2018 12:28
14/02/2018 13:31
17/02/2018 12:07
06/03/2018 13:26
14/02/2018 11:56
14/02/2018 15:13
16/02/2018 13:04
14/02/2018 10:35
12/02/2018 15:23
16/03/2018 07:03
16/02/2018 13:07
15/02/2021 11:58
14/02/2018 12:18
14/02/2018 13:16

Page 60 of 104

02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills

50002894
50004386
50008009
50003290
50003123
50002863
50002856
50003068
50003094
50003096
50003062
50008264
50008271
50004986
50003115
50007608
50003367
50003134
50005240
50003108
50007624
50003170
50003269
50008105
50008491
50003296
50003636
50003020
50003082
50003093
50003101
50003353
50003124
50003102
50003109
50004257
50003144
50003112
50003058
50003274
50003484
50003344
50003362
50005237
50007738

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 79

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

13/02/2018 09:52
09/03/2018 09:26
26/04/2018 10:22
16/02/2018 13:53
14/02/2018 12:44
12/02/2018 15:28
12/02/2018 15:11
14/02/2018 10:16
14/02/2018 11:29
14/02/2018 11:39
14/02/2018 10:03
30/04/2018 12:01
30/04/2018 12:35
14/03/2018 13:20
14/02/2018 12:20
19/04/2018 13:40
17/02/2018 13:15
14/02/2018 13:13
19/03/2018 13:18
14/02/2018 12:04
19/04/2018 14:24
14/02/2018 15:34
16/02/2018 13:09
27/04/2018 10:19
02/05/2018 13:11
16/02/2018 14:04
21/02/2018 13:05
13/02/2018 15:50
14/02/2018 10:53
14/02/2018 11:28
14/02/2018 11:48
17/02/2018 12:36
14/02/2018 12:46
14/02/2018 11:50
14/02/2018 12:05
07/03/2018 13:55
14/02/2018 13:40
14/02/2018 12:14
14/02/2018 09:48
16/02/2018 13:17
19/02/2018 14:17
17/02/2018 12:12
17/02/2018 12:49
19/03/2018 12:59
21/04/2018 10:04

Page 61 of 104

02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills

50003276
50003030
50003139
50003191
50003055
50003072
50007607
50008558
50002932
50003351
50003130
50004933
50004708
50003165
50003361
50003704
50003339
50003272
50003354
50003106
50007610
50010074
50010088
50010727
50012486
50010085
50011590
50011728
50010068
50010806
50011733
50009077
50010077
50011860
50012481
50012482
50012487
50009079
50009084
50010067
50010065
50013560
50009141
50011726
50014117

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 80

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

16/02/2018 13:24
13/02/2018 16:25
14/02/2018 13:25
14/02/2018 15:56
14/02/2018 09:46
14/02/2018 10:24
19/04/2018 13:38
03/05/2018 10:45
13/02/2018 11:39
17/02/2018 12:32
14/02/2018 13:03
14/03/2018 10:41
12/03/2018 12:42
14/02/2018 15:10
17/02/2018 12:47
22/02/2018 11:37
17/02/2018 12:04
16/02/2018 13:13
17/02/2018 12:39
14/02/2018 11:59
19/04/2018 13:48
21/05/2018 09:35
21/05/2018 10:11
30/05/2018 13:42
02/07/2018 11:17
21/05/2018 10:05
14/06/2018 14:20
19/06/2018 08:44
21/05/2018 09:23
01/06/2018 10:44
19/06/2018 09:19
09/05/2018 10:49
21/05/2018 09:39
21/06/2018 09:31
02/07/2018 10:41
02/07/2018 10:44
02/07/2018 11:19
09/05/2018 11:00
09/05/2018 11:07
21/05/2018 09:17
21/05/2018 09:15
26/07/2018 12:58
10/05/2018 09:36
19/06/2018 08:27
08/08/2018 08:38

Page 62 of 104

02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills

50015837
50018067
50016174
50015834
50016180
50016173
50015835
50014597
50014118
50015836
50015845
50019884
50021811
50023667
50019885
50021807
50019331
50021806
50021087
50021808
50021813
50029002
50031518
50030927
50031509
50031516
50030926
50031514
50029001
50027222
50030930
50026259
50029004
50024717
50032384
50032378
50044531
50044537
50044534
50048759
50045438
50047474
50046109
50054151
50050484

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 81

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

06/01/2020 10:00
29/10/2018 12:01
18/09/2018 09:31
11/09/2018 10:52
18/09/2018 09:30
18/09/2018 09:28
11/09/2018 10:54
20/08/2018 13:05
08/08/2018 08:40
11/09/2018 10:56
11/09/2018 10:33
03/12/2018 11:22
21/12/2018 10:35
17/01/2019 09:48
03/12/2018 11:24
21/12/2018 10:30
22/11/2018 12:21
21/12/2018 10:28
13/12/2018 11:35
21/12/2018 10:32
21/12/2018 10:38
20/03/2019 10:48
23/04/2019 14:55
12/04/2019 10:12
23/04/2019 14:44
23/04/2019 14:53
12/04/2019 10:10
23/04/2019 14:52
20/03/2019 10:46
27/02/2019 09:21
12/04/2019 10:15
18/02/2019 09:57
20/03/2019 10:49
26/01/2021 11:39
06/05/2019 09:30
06/05/2019 08:06
17/10/2019 13:02
17/10/2019 13:42
17/10/2019 13:24
31/12/2019 09:41
06/11/2019 08:29
11/12/2019 11:47
18/11/2019 13:21
03/12/2020 08:26
27/01/2020 10:31

Page 63 of 104

02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills

50049649
50049655
50052276
50050483
50053914
50052067
50053838
50051305
50052054
50054017
50052880
50060078
50060075
50060076
50060139
50060074
50063872
50061343
50061364
50061449
50066323
50061258
50061261
50061450
50066326
50066274
50066382
50061448
50063866
50066325
50067483
50066272
50066324
50067480
50063867
50061316
50067451
50067467
50067470
50067472
50067474
50067478
50067479
50067498
50067501

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 82

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

16/01/2020 08:09
16/01/2020 08:23
18/02/2020 11:26
27/01/2020 10:28
03/03/2020 09:05
17/02/2020 09:40
03/12/2020 08:36
05/02/2020 11:01
17/02/2020 08:58
04/03/2020 08:17
23/02/2020 10:57
10/08/2020 14:49
10/08/2020 14:59
10/08/2020 14:57
11/08/2020 11:06
10/08/2020 14:45
01/10/2020 10:48
26/08/2020 13:03
26/08/2020 13:23
27/08/2020 11:20
04/11/2020 11:37
26/08/2020 09:42
26/08/2020 09:47
27/08/2020 11:24
04/11/2020 11:31
04/11/2020 10:13
05/11/2020 10:16
27/08/2020 11:17
01/10/2020 13:02
04/11/2020 11:34
17/11/2020 10:37
04/11/2020 10:19
04/11/2020 11:35
17/11/2020 10:21
01/10/2020 13:03
26/08/2020 11:59
17/11/2020 09:30
17/11/2020 09:48
17/11/2020 09:51
17/11/2020 09:57
17/11/2020 10:02
17/11/2020 10:11
17/11/2020 10:15
17/11/2020 11:15
17/11/2020 11:21

Page 64 of 104

02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
02-Pentland Hills
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle

50066321
50067509
50067499
50067482
50064180
50072780
50072771
50074917
50074895
50074943
50074952
50072778
50072763
50072890
50072765
50072769
50072938
50072777
50072891
50072775
50072772
50072766
50072935
50072773
50072937
50076257
50076592
50076270
50075338
50076772
50076259
50075587
50077118
50076895
50077117
50076899
50073656
50071751
50071712
50072824
50073939
50076550
50076766
50003194
50004513

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 83

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

04/11/2020 12:02
17/11/2020 11:39
17/11/2020 11:18
17/11/2020 10:34
06/10/2020 12:07
25/01/2021 13:04
25/01/2021 12:34
15/02/2021 11:59
15/02/2021 11:29
15/02/2021 12:27
15/02/2021 12:43
25/01/2021 12:52
25/01/2021 12:10
26/01/2021 11:29
25/01/2021 12:11
25/01/2021 12:19
26/01/2021 12:41
25/01/2021 12:47
26/01/2021 11:31
25/01/2021 12:42
25/01/2021 12:37
25/01/2021 12:15
26/01/2021 11:50
25/01/2021 12:39
26/01/2021 11:46
24/02/2021 11:19
26/02/2021 11:40
24/02/2021 11:32
17/02/2021 12:32
01/03/2021 12:39
24/02/2021 11:20
18/02/2021 13:56
03/03/2021 09:28
02/03/2021 10:04
03/03/2021 09:22
02/03/2021 10:09
02/02/2021 10:04
12/01/2021 08:53
11/01/2021 13:31
26/01/2021 07:53
03/02/2021 11:01
26/02/2021 09:19
01/03/2021 12:27
15/02/2018 14:22
09/07/2018 09:54

Page 65 of 104

03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle

50004515
50002718
50004488
50004481
50004487
50004482
50008904
50002723
50004475
50004456
50012935
50013708
50013690
50014096
50014097
50014098
50014095
50009089
50012732
50013694
50009294
50014210
50014121
50017071
50015260
50015295
50014843
50015620
50017084
50017069
50014289
50014807
50014811
50014211
50015622
50037753
50048230
50048234
50066747
50070921
50070514
50068127
50067900
50070925
50068936

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 84

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

10/03/2018 13:13
09/02/2018 10:35
10/03/2018 11:17
10/03/2018 10:41
10/03/2018 11:15
10/03/2018 10:42
07/12/2020 11:59
09/02/2018 11:11
11/12/2020 08:48
10/03/2018 09:12
09/07/2018 11:15
30/07/2018 13:17
30/07/2018 08:58
07/08/2018 12:42
07/08/2018 12:43
07/08/2018 12:45
07/08/2018 12:38
09/05/2018 11:26
06/07/2018 09:14
30/07/2018 09:05
12/05/2018 09:10
04/02/2021 10:38
04/02/2021 10:34
06/10/2018 09:04
01/09/2018 07:33
01/09/2018 12:13
25/08/2018 07:49
07/09/2018 12:11
06/10/2018 11:26
06/10/2018 08:58
14/08/2018 10:15
24/08/2018 11:09
24/08/2018 12:38
04/02/2021 10:39
18/12/2020 10:35
23/12/2020 10:45
04/02/2021 10:22
04/02/2021 10:07
10/11/2020 10:40
23/12/2020 11:20
18/12/2020 10:02
25/11/2020 11:07
23/11/2020 10:09
23/12/2020 11:39
03/12/2020 10:32

Page 66 of 104

03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
03-Drum Brae/Gyle
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth

50069205
50069207
50069900
50067942
50067961
50067904
50068939
50068909
50067899
50070913
50070920
50068911
50070531
50072012
50067958
50068123
50067909
50070536
50068964
50070924
50069909
50069904
50067940
50069927
50068126
50067908
50069208
50070535
50075201
50076841
50076845
50077074
50076843
50076844
50074342
50073513
50074839
50075049
50073591
50074053
50073608
50071167
50073503
50074959
50076365

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3

Page 85

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

07/12/2020 10:58
07/12/2020 11:02
14/12/2020 10:32
23/11/2020 11:29
23/11/2020 12:26
23/11/2020 10:17
03/12/2020 10:37
03/12/2020 09:42
23/11/2020 10:05
23/12/2020 11:00
23/12/2020 11:16
03/12/2020 09:52
18/12/2020 10:50
14/01/2021 11:06
23/11/2020 12:11
25/11/2020 10:47
23/11/2020 10:30
18/12/2020 10:56
03/12/2020 11:31
23/12/2020 11:34
14/12/2020 10:52
14/12/2020 10:36
23/11/2020 11:20
14/12/2020 11:42
25/11/2020 10:57
23/11/2020 10:26
07/12/2020 11:04
18/12/2020 10:55
16/02/2021 14:03
02/03/2021 07:07
02/03/2021 07:20
03/03/2021 08:09
02/03/2021 07:15
02/03/2021 07:18
08/02/2021 08:35
01/02/2021 11:29
15/02/2021 09:36
16/02/2021 08:08
01/02/2021 13:35
04/02/2021 07:32
01/02/2021 14:05
30/12/2020 11:40
01/03/2021 10:41
15/02/2021 13:15
24/02/2021 14:09

Page 67 of 104

04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth

50076852
50000138
50000135
50004002
50008612
50008660
50013006
50011690
50009672
50009505
50017969
50017606
50017687
50015830
50017147
50017000
50014908
50023548
50023697
50023693
50024144
50022807
50030688
50031612
50032244
50026061
50032879
50033384
50034402
50033538
50035158
50034233
50037884
50037879
50041286
50040904
50048140
50046400
50047839
50049094
50047768
50047840
50055221
50054521
50054364

RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 86

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

02/03/2021 08:12
18/12/2019 09:42
18/12/2019 09:39
26/02/2020 10:24
14/07/2019 08:53
05/06/2019 14:36
23/07/2019 09:56
16/07/2019 09:55
14/06/2019 09:25
11/06/2019 09:59
26/10/2018 09:18
06/06/2019 11:00
22/10/2018 09:01
23/07/2019 10:01
14/07/2019 09:00
15/06/2019 10:10
31/08/2019 14:23
20/01/2020 09:31
20/01/2020 13:45
20/01/2020 13:15
11/03/2020 13:25
08/01/2020 10:19
15/12/2020 12:57
07/07/2020 08:40
08/01/2020 10:33
13/02/2019 13:53
09/07/2020 08:03
17/07/2020 08:24
31/05/2019 09:41
21/05/2019 11:09
10/06/2019 09:32
29/07/2020 07:58
14/07/2019 07:50
14/07/2019 07:41
31/08/2019 09:04
26/08/2019 14:10
18/12/2019 09:21
25/11/2019 11:33
29/04/2020 08:18
08/01/2020 09:48
16/12/2019 08:05
16/12/2019 11:40
15/12/2020 09:19
11/03/2020 13:03
09/03/2020 13:03

Page 68 of 104

04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
04-Forth
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith

50054531
50049930
50054542
50058192
50057431
50056289
50058537
50056675
50057641
50057494
50077071
50077070
50077072
50077069
50064960
50070911
50075031
50073889
50073887
50075682
50076814
50075673
50075690
50001590
50001592
50000111
50001586
50001580
50001593
50001585
50001587
50001589
50003925
50004015
50007772
50013460
50013691
50014399
50018020
50015357
50017224
50015544
50015779
50014791
50014139

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 87

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

11/03/2020 13:15
20/01/2020 13:26
11/03/2020 13:33
09/07/2020 08:03
30/06/2020 10:29
25/05/2020 08:16
15/07/2020 07:34
17/06/2020 08:42
02/07/2020 07:32
01/07/2020 07:24
03/03/2021 07:19
03/03/2021 07:08
03/03/2021 07:29
03/03/2021 07:04
15/10/2020 11:48
23/12/2020 10:45
16/02/2021 07:17
03/02/2021 10:02
03/02/2021 09:52
19/02/2021 10:46
01/03/2021 13:56
19/02/2021 10:17
19/02/2021 11:03
14/10/2019 10:37
14/10/2019 10:36
30/06/2020 08:10
14/10/2019 10:38
14/10/2019 10:40
14/10/2019 10:36
14/10/2019 10:38
14/10/2019 10:38
14/10/2019 10:37
17/02/2020 09:32
18/09/2019 10:53
14/07/2020 08:08
30/07/2019 09:48
28/08/2019 09:06
20/09/2019 09:35
26/10/2019 08:05
02/09/2018 10:47
08/10/2019 10:45
03/08/2019 08:45
21/09/2019 08:14
21/09/2019 08:01
27/08/2019 09:00

Page 69 of 104

05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith

50014589
50019281
50019181
50019176
50024102
50024096
50024320
50026086
50024750
50024592
50031498
50032253
50033437
50036706
50038412
50035128
50040877
50040945
50040980
50042170
50042757
50042603
50042171
50042762
50041301
50042484
50042310
50042581
50042606
50044301
50042291
50042602
50041039
50042374
50042302
50042487
50042320
50043861
50042167
50042172
50042566
50043862
50041038
50042759
50044857

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 88

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

20/08/2018 11:27
18/09/2019 11:15
09/11/2019 07:56
09/11/2019 08:22
22/01/2020 09:41
22/01/2020 10:32
24/01/2019 10:29
14/02/2019 08:24
27/01/2020 09:34
08/07/2020 07:48
05/02/2020 09:42
05/11/2019 10:29
08/10/2019 10:56
30/06/2019 07:20
21/07/2019 08:39
07/06/2019 13:28
14/07/2020 08:25
27/08/2019 09:51
27/08/2019 11:13
12/09/2019 15:20
21/09/2019 07:30
18/09/2019 11:16
12/09/2019 15:25
21/09/2019 07:16
31/08/2019 07:33
17/09/2019 09:33
14/09/2019 08:14
18/09/2019 10:28
18/09/2019 11:46
14/10/2019 11:32
14/09/2019 09:16
18/09/2019 11:09
28/08/2019 09:58
16/09/2019 11:53
14/09/2019 08:58
17/09/2019 10:03
14/09/2019 08:22
08/10/2019 10:33
12/09/2019 15:13
12/09/2019 15:30
18/09/2019 09:33
08/10/2019 10:42
28/08/2019 10:19
21/09/2019 07:37
26/10/2019 08:12

Page 70 of 104

05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
05-Inverleith
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield

50048581
50047891
50046402
50050894
50050187
50050186
50050727
50058452
50058454
50057949
50058082
50058450
50058446
50060971
50058459
50058081
50056485
50061138
50075701
50075695
50077104
50077128
50076643
50077109
50077092
50077129
50077130
50076641
50077093
50077097
50076640
50076644
50077113
50076642
50073176
50073228
50073275
50073280
50073202
50073163
50073637
50073242
50074567
50073153
50071206

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3

Page 89

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

30/12/2019 10:59
16/12/2019 14:07
25/11/2019 11:35
31/01/2020 09:59
22/01/2020 10:34
22/01/2020 09:40
30/01/2020 10:37
14/07/2020 07:30
14/07/2020 07:38
07/07/2020 09:58
08/07/2020 08:16
14/07/2020 07:28
14/07/2020 08:47
21/08/2020 12:24
14/07/2020 08:19
08/07/2020 08:11
12/06/2020 10:24
25/08/2020 07:28
19/02/2021 11:26
19/02/2021 11:10
03/03/2021 08:49
03/03/2021 10:01
01/03/2021 07:37
03/03/2021 09:02
03/03/2021 08:33
03/03/2021 10:04
03/03/2021 10:07
01/03/2021 07:33
03/03/2021 08:38
03/03/2021 08:40
01/03/2021 07:24
01/03/2021 07:39
03/03/2021 09:12
01/03/2021 07:34
28/01/2021 10:27
28/01/2021 11:46
28/01/2021 12:54
28/01/2021 13:09
28/01/2021 11:10
28/01/2021 10:04
02/02/2021 08:40
28/01/2021 11:59
09/02/2021 11:02
28/01/2021 09:49
05/01/2021 07:26

Page 71 of 104

06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield

50073570
50077108
50076527
50076922
50076722
50001598
50003208
50002659
50003224
50002666
50002733
50003220
50003230
50003225
50003226
50003212
50002734
50003217
50003223
50003213
50003211
50002662
50003234
50003215
50003216
50003218
50011412
50011829
50013933
50013960
50013997
50013296
50013305
50013940
50012781
50013545
50014064
50013882
50013979
50014000
50013981
50013297
50013934
50013937
50013957

RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 90

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

01/02/2021 12:30
03/03/2021 09:01
26/02/2021 07:25
02/03/2021 11:30
01/03/2021 11:13
22/01/2018 10:19
15/02/2018 15:11
08/02/2018 11:20
15/02/2018 16:00
08/02/2018 12:25
09/02/2018 13:07
15/02/2018 15:47
15/02/2018 16:10
15/02/2018 16:02
15/02/2018 16:03
15/02/2018 15:33
09/02/2018 13:09
15/02/2018 15:44
15/02/2018 15:58
15/02/2018 15:36
15/02/2018 15:32
08/02/2018 11:35
15/02/2018 16:17
15/02/2018 15:40
15/02/2018 15:42
15/02/2018 15:45
11/06/2018 08:45
20/06/2018 14:04
04/08/2018 06:42
04/08/2018 08:26
05/08/2018 07:46
22/07/2018 12:32
22/07/2018 13:07
04/08/2018 07:10
07/07/2018 09:37
26/07/2018 11:27
03/12/2020 11:22
03/08/2018 11:27
05/08/2018 06:29
05/08/2018 07:54
05/08/2018 06:36
22/07/2018 12:36
04/08/2018 06:45
04/08/2018 06:53
04/08/2018 08:15

Page 72 of 104

06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield

50013963
50014076
50011922
50013897
50013990
50013982
50013989
50013998
50013935
50013942
50013950
50013936
50013938
50009325
50013955
50013959
50015688
50015691
50015052
50015313
50015672
50015259
50014496
50015660
50015319
50015664
50015670
50015597
50015663
50015667
50015310
50015063
50015671
50015321
50015318
50015322
50015332
50015200
50015053
50060140
50072497
50073225
50068806
50072426
50072436

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 91

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

04/08/2018 08:32
07/08/2018 10:25
22/06/2018 09:30
03/08/2018 12:53
05/08/2018 07:16
05/08/2018 06:40
05/08/2018 07:10
05/08/2018 07:48
04/08/2018 06:48
04/08/2018 07:19
04/08/2018 07:48
04/08/2018 06:50
04/08/2018 06:56
12/05/2018 11:22
04/08/2018 08:09
04/08/2018 08:19
08/09/2018 08:59
08/09/2018 09:09
08/12/2020 13:20
02/09/2018 08:48
08/09/2018 08:22
01/09/2018 07:29
17/08/2018 12:08
08/09/2018 07:46
02/09/2018 09:12
08/09/2018 08:00
08/09/2018 08:15
07/09/2018 11:31
08/09/2018 07:57
08/09/2018 08:07
02/09/2018 08:41
28/08/2018 13:34
08/09/2018 08:20
02/09/2018 09:15
02/09/2018 09:06
02/09/2018 09:16
02/09/2018 09:42
31/08/2018 09:43
28/08/2018 13:04
11/08/2020 11:07
20/01/2021 10:44
28/01/2021 11:39
02/12/2020 11:12
20/01/2021 09:40
20/01/2021 10:10

Page 73 of 104

06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
06-Corstorphine/Murrayfield
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie

50072438
50072442
50072427
50072443
50068798
50068758
50068762
50070265
50073240
50068796
50072423
50068800
50073215
50068756
50075764
50076996
50074238
50074466
50074486
50074460
50076339
50076137
50076985
50076867
50076298
50076305
50076292
50075331
50076134
50076136
50076306
50076239
50001731
50000442
50001202
50001729
50003049
50003256
50006821
50008943
50004381
50012473
50012526
50014836
50049948

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 92

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

20/01/2021 10:14
20/01/2021 10:28
20/01/2021 09:43
20/01/2021 10:29
02/12/2020 10:53
03/12/2020 11:32
02/12/2020 09:51
16/12/2020 11:43
28/01/2021 11:58
02/12/2020 10:50
20/01/2021 09:26
02/12/2020 11:01
28/01/2021 11:24
02/12/2020 09:45
22/02/2021 09:42
02/03/2021 14:29
05/02/2021 10:48
23/02/2021 13:23
23/02/2021 13:33
08/02/2021 13:03
24/02/2021 13:32
23/02/2021 13:38
02/03/2021 14:03
02/03/2021 09:11
24/02/2021 12:26
24/02/2021 12:45
24/02/2021 12:15
17/02/2021 12:15
23/02/2021 13:26
23/02/2021 13:35
24/02/2021 12:46
24/02/2021 10:32
24/01/2018 11:29
22/12/2017 11:40
13/01/2018 10:32
24/01/2018 11:27
14/02/2018 09:18
16/02/2018 10:07
11/04/2018 13:14
07/05/2018 10:20
09/03/2018 09:17
02/07/2018 09:19
03/07/2018 11:32
24/08/2018 15:20
20/01/2020 15:42

Page 74 of 104

07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
07-Sighthill/Gorgie
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead

50052179
50060859
50060873
50059461
50055814
50059456
50059459
50060833
50060896
50060872
50060897
50064641
50061144
50061083
50069274
50076856
50075181
50077098
50077100
50073138
50072342
50072324
50071921
50072334
50071484
50077107
50076074
50076894
50075467
50077106
50075473
50076069
50075479
50075471
50077121
50075509
50001308
50006536
50007716
50007941
50011022
50013018
50011794
50011201
50011907

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 93

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

17/02/2020 13:49
20/08/2020 11:57
20/08/2020 13:24
31/07/2020 11:41
21/04/2020 12:07
31/07/2020 10:30
31/07/2020 10:38
20/08/2020 08:20
20/08/2020 12:20
20/08/2020 13:22
20/08/2020 12:17
12/10/2020 12:22
25/08/2020 09:22
24/08/2020 12:44
08/12/2020 09:08
02/03/2021 08:53
16/02/2021 13:00
03/03/2021 08:43
03/03/2021 08:48
28/01/2021 08:29
19/01/2021 10:45
19/01/2021 10:02
13/01/2021 10:47
19/01/2021 10:23
07/01/2021 14:01
03/03/2021 08:57
23/02/2021 10:29
02/03/2021 09:59
18/02/2021 10:01
03/03/2021 08:53
18/02/2021 10:16
23/02/2021 10:22
18/02/2021 10:37
18/02/2021 10:13
03/03/2021 09:41
18/02/2021 11:14
15/01/2018 11:20
09/04/2018 10:29
21/04/2018 07:26
24/04/2018 13:03
05/06/2018 13:48
12/07/2018 11:21
20/06/2018 09:34
08/06/2018 08:52
22/06/2018 08:43

Page 75 of 104

08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead

50013041
50013706
50012369
50012675
50012363
50013019
50016753
50014679
50016738
50023404
50023155
50027446
50031833
50026468
50036582
50043700
50042643
50056592
50060381
50060391
50060693
50060701
50060431
50060382
50060053
50060692
50060393
50060429
50060379
50060388
50060503
50060707
50060712
50060807
50060773
50061093
50063312
50063311
50062732
50071929
50071922
50072359
50072335
50075459
50076978

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 94

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

13/07/2018 11:19
30/07/2018 13:02
29/06/2018 12:02
05/07/2018 10:23
29/06/2018 10:45
12/07/2018 11:26
01/10/2018 09:58
21/08/2018 14:19
29/09/2018 08:02
15/01/2019 10:36
11/01/2019 10:26
01/03/2019 09:48
26/04/2019 10:43
19/02/2019 09:46
27/06/2019 13:41
07/10/2019 09:49
19/09/2019 11:20
16/06/2020 10:37
17/08/2020 09:44
17/08/2020 10:16
18/08/2020 13:37
19/08/2020 09:56
17/08/2020 11:54
17/08/2020 09:46
10/08/2020 11:43
18/08/2020 13:22
17/08/2020 10:18
17/08/2020 11:57
17/08/2020 09:42
17/08/2020 10:12
17/08/2020 12:55
19/08/2020 10:00
19/08/2020 10:08
19/08/2020 13:17
19/08/2020 12:57
24/08/2020 14:05
23/09/2020 13:21
23/09/2020 13:20
15/09/2020 15:40
13/01/2021 11:18
13/01/2021 10:56
19/01/2021 11:26
19/01/2021 10:27
18/02/2021 09:52
02/03/2021 14:03

Page 76 of 104

08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
08-Colinton/Fairmilehead
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar

50075455
50075477
50073929
50073654
50071848
50075272
50075285
50076705
50075274
50002179
50001518
50008064
50003556
50003760
50008356
50008352
50008359
50008072
50008069
50008079
50008076
50008074
50008068
50008081
50002317
50008071
50008353
50011055
50012304
50012470
50015453
50017794
50037362
50042932
50047334
50049052
50060544
50060593
50056411
50060275
50060278
50060572
50060857
50060556
50060574

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 95

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

18/02/2021 09:47
18/02/2021 10:31
03/02/2021 10:44
02/02/2021 10:03
12/01/2021 14:10
17/02/2021 09:49
17/02/2021 10:19
01/03/2021 10:41
17/02/2021 09:57
30/01/2018 11:12
19/01/2018 09:48
26/04/2018 14:17
20/02/2018 12:28
23/02/2018 10:36
01/05/2018 11:14
01/05/2018 11:06
01/05/2018 11:17
26/04/2018 14:26
26/04/2018 14:24
26/04/2018 14:31
26/04/2018 14:29
26/04/2018 14:28
26/04/2018 14:21
26/04/2018 14:32
03/02/2018 08:18
26/04/2018 14:25
01/05/2018 11:09
06/06/2018 09:07
28/06/2018 09:22
02/07/2018 09:11
29/08/2018 13:04
23/10/2018 10:00
08/07/2019 09:49
25/09/2019 11:10
10/12/2019 10:23
07/01/2020 11:47
18/08/2020 08:49
18/08/2020 11:53
08/06/2020 10:30
13/08/2020 13:55
13/08/2020 14:13
18/08/2020 10:31
20/08/2020 11:43
18/08/2020 10:03
18/08/2020 10:34

Page 77 of 104

09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
09-Fountainbridge/Craiglockhar
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside

50061076
50064554
50061068
50061073
50061063
50068992
50075282
50075177
50075301
50074110
50073486
50073482
50074457
50073709
50073508
50075144
50076454
50076457
50076499
50076503
50077141
50075173
50077145
50076461
50077148
50075142
50075529
50076243
50077140
50075544
50000407
50006142
50010968
50025449
50025934
50024731
50036294
50036225
50039000
50033603
50041552
50045126
50045127
50045128
50045130

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 96

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

24/08/2020 11:50
09/10/2020 13:33
24/08/2020 11:01
24/08/2020 11:46
24/08/2020 10:53
03/12/2020 13:31
17/02/2021 10:17
16/02/2021 12:45
17/02/2021 11:03
04/02/2021 11:30
01/02/2021 10:50
01/02/2021 10:44
08/02/2021 12:41
02/02/2021 11:08
01/02/2021 11:16
16/02/2021 11:55
25/02/2021 10:25
25/02/2021 10:28
25/02/2021 12:55
25/02/2021 13:04
03/03/2021 10:33
16/02/2021 12:41
03/03/2021 10:37
25/02/2021 10:35
03/03/2021 10:50
16/02/2021 11:53
18/02/2021 12:10
24/02/2021 10:39
03/03/2021 10:27
18/02/2021 12:56
21/12/2017 12:35
11/01/2021 11:29
04/06/2018 12:18
03/03/2021 10:54
12/02/2019 13:25
29/01/2019 14:31
07/12/2020 11:39
24/06/2019 10:47
23/12/2020 10:55
21/05/2019 13:39
04/09/2019 12:14
30/10/2019 12:26
30/10/2019 12:28
30/10/2019 12:31
30/10/2019 12:34

Page 78 of 104

10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside
10-Meadows/Morningside

50045698
50045129
50049877
50050252
50049911
50049495
50052386
50051576
50052482
50050753
50053982
50057033
50058895
50057444
50058905
50058907
50057566
50058914
50059280
50063020
50062763
50063317
50064994
50067624
50067628
50068679
50067621
50067580
50067583
50067578
50067579
50067570
50067625
50067582
50068681
50067585
50068660
50068646
50067577
50067622
50068653
50068652
50067581
50067640
50067619

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 97

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

11/11/2019 10:39
30/10/2019 12:32
20/01/2020 11:52
23/01/2020 09:21
01/02/2021 10:21
14/01/2020 11:28
19/02/2020 10:32
10/02/2020 11:33
19/02/2020 11:04
30/01/2020 11:33
03/03/2021 10:17
23/06/2020 10:02
20/07/2020 11:05
30/06/2020 11:37
20/07/2020 12:06
20/07/2020 12:32
22/02/2021 11:34
20/07/2020 14:18
28/07/2020 12:44
21/09/2020 11:05
01/02/2021 10:13
23/09/2020 13:56
15/10/2020 14:38
19/11/2020 09:42
19/11/2020 09:53
01/12/2020 11:25
19/11/2020 09:31
18/11/2020 11:13
18/11/2020 11:25
18/11/2020 10:57
18/11/2020 11:03
18/11/2020 10:22
19/11/2020 09:46
18/11/2020 11:21
01/12/2020 11:28
18/11/2020 11:39
01/12/2020 10:59
01/12/2020 10:10
18/11/2020 10:47
19/11/2020 09:33
01/12/2020 10:42
01/12/2020 10:27
18/11/2020 11:17
19/11/2020 10:05
19/11/2020 09:22

Page 79 of 104

10-Meadows/Morningside
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre

50068685
50064181
50073966
50074257
50074859
50074867
50072019
50074840
50074860
50076571
50076519
50076538
50076504
50076520
50076625
50076901
50076913
50076539
50076626
50076989
50076798
50076942
50076623
50076559
50076517
50076773
50075169
50000596
50000606
50002399
50017955
50031265
50026106
50032796
50065545
50065973
50064203
50065968
50065974
50065972
50064199
50072472
50068389
50068390
50072471

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 98

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

01/12/2020 11:36
06/10/2020 12:09
18/02/2021 14:37
05/02/2021 11:35
15/02/2021 10:36
15/02/2021 10:42
14/01/2021 11:36
15/02/2021 09:41
15/02/2021 10:37
26/02/2021 10:46
25/02/2021 14:09
26/02/2021 08:59
25/02/2021 13:04
25/02/2021 14:16
26/02/2021 14:05
02/03/2021 10:15
02/03/2021 10:36
26/02/2021 09:01
26/02/2021 14:08
02/03/2021 14:22
01/03/2021 13:23
02/03/2021 12:56
26/02/2021 13:59
26/02/2021 10:11
25/02/2021 13:56
01/03/2021 12:40
16/02/2021 12:37
06/10/2020 14:00
06/10/2020 12:05
14/10/2019 10:42
16/02/2021 12:07
17/04/2019 14:45
14/02/2019 09:06
10/05/2019 09:31
26/10/2020 12:56
30/10/2020 11:07
06/10/2020 14:18
30/10/2020 10:41
30/10/2020 11:13
30/10/2020 11:00
06/10/2020 14:05
20/01/2021 12:17
27/11/2020 11:58
27/11/2020 12:00
20/01/2021 12:13

Page 80 of 104

11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
11-City Centre
12-Leith Walk
12-Leith Walk
13-Leith
13-Leith
13-Leith
14-Craigentinny/Duddingston
14-Craigentinny/Duddingston
14-Craigentinny/Duddingston
14-Craigentinny/Duddingston
14-Craigentinny/Duddingston
14-Craigentinny/Duddingston
14-Craigentinny/Duddingston
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington

50068387
50068397
50071170
50075182
50065801
50072262
50076709
50071850
50075612
50073358
50071406
50007663
50007671
50042051
50039265
50045151
50076993
50076566
50076997
50067374
50074202
50074108
50072640
50074240
50074119
50074833
50074097
50074115
50074832
50074233
50074834
50074133
50074111
50074244
50074101
50076765
50076575
50075358
50075876
50076348
50075356
50076990
50076580
50075352
50075355

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3

Page 99

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

27/11/2020 11:54
04/12/2020 11:03
28/09/2020 11:19
16/02/2021 13:01
28/10/2020 12:35
18/01/2021 13:17
01/03/2021 10:51
12/01/2021 14:26
18/02/2021 15:08
29/01/2021 10:40
06/01/2021 14:02
14/03/2018 14:34
26/03/2018 14:10
11/09/2019 13:24
02/08/2019 14:26
30/10/2019 14:12
02/03/2021 14:28
26/02/2021 10:35
02/03/2021 14:31
16/11/2020 12:25
05/02/2021 09:53
04/02/2021 11:24
22/01/2021 12:26
05/02/2021 10:54
04/02/2021 11:43
15/02/2021 09:21
04/02/2021 10:52
04/02/2021 11:37
15/02/2021 09:17
05/02/2021 10:36
15/02/2021 09:30
04/02/2021 12:23
04/02/2021 11:30
05/02/2021 11:04
04/02/2021 11:03
01/03/2021 12:27
26/02/2021 10:58
17/02/2021 13:52
22/02/2021 13:02
24/02/2021 13:40
17/02/2021 13:44
02/03/2021 14:25
26/02/2021 11:10
17/02/2021 13:26
17/02/2021 13:42

Page 81 of 104

15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington

50076581
50076488
50077002
50076775
50003576
50007749
50009344
50009345
50010889
50026248
50026056
50026076
50026972
50025694
50026054
50025831
50032026
50031648
50026540
50028814
50026051
50026052
50025466
50026437
50026438
50026439
50032852
50036326
50043016
50044485
50044482
50042326
50043180
50044521
50044484
50044541
50045224
50048414
50046834
50054494
50055152
50049611
50050539
50059355
50059091

RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 100

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

26/02/2021 11:14
25/02/2021 12:19
02/03/2021 14:42
01/03/2021 12:43
20/02/2018 13:30
16/08/2018 13:54
12/05/2018 10:52
12/05/2018 10:54
02/06/2018 10:53
15/02/2019 13:01
15/01/2021 12:21
13/02/2019 14:23
25/02/2019 11:15
11/02/2019 10:11
13/02/2019 11:17
11/02/2019 15:03
30/04/2019 09:53
15/01/2021 12:13
19/02/2019 11:27
19/03/2019 11:02
13/02/2019 11:11
13/02/2019 11:13
06/02/2019 13:52
18/02/2019 15:01
18/02/2019 15:04
18/02/2019 15:10
13/01/2021 10:37
25/06/2019 15:11
25/09/2019 14:34
16/10/2019 14:13
16/10/2019 14:10
16/09/2019 09:15
30/09/2019 10:50
17/10/2019 11:28
16/10/2019 14:11
17/10/2019 14:50
15/01/2021 12:12
20/12/2019 11:06
02/12/2019 13:53
11/03/2020 09:26
20/03/2020 10:14
15/01/2020 12:27
28/01/2020 09:45
29/07/2020 11:33
24/07/2020 10:05

Page 82 of 104

15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
15-Southside/Newington
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton

50059452
50056395
50057041
50057005
50056426
50059432
50057555
50056169
50056171
50056172
50056174
50056175
50056176
50056177
50056179
50064714
50063210
50061339
50062955
50063308
50064709
50064708
50061178
50076094
50076972
50076937
50076936
50076940
50076941
50076963
50076966
50076938
50073718
50074749
50073712
50073774
50076971
50076126
50076086
50076944
50076886
50076440
50075914
50077146
50076875

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3

Page 101

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

31/07/2020 07:47
05/06/2020 08:37
23/06/2020 10:25
23/06/2020 08:38
09/06/2020 10:37
30/07/2020 12:01
01/07/2020 12:11
12/05/2020 08:37
12/05/2020 08:39
12/05/2020 08:41
12/05/2020 08:48
12/05/2020 08:50
12/05/2020 08:56
12/05/2020 08:59
12/05/2020 09:03
13/10/2020 13:12
22/09/2020 14:17
26/08/2020 13:45
18/09/2020 14:10
23/09/2020 12:00
13/10/2020 12:43
13/10/2020 12:27
25/08/2020 14:02
23/02/2021 11:20
02/03/2021 13:56
02/03/2021 12:43
02/03/2021 12:33
02/03/2021 12:48
02/03/2021 12:52
02/03/2021 13:33
02/03/2021 13:39
02/03/2021 12:46
02/02/2021 11:24
11/02/2021 13:32
02/02/2021 11:14
02/02/2021 13:07
02/03/2021 13:52
23/02/2021 12:55
23/02/2021 11:03
02/03/2021 13:00
02/03/2021 09:34
25/02/2021 09:32
22/02/2021 14:15
03/03/2021 10:43
02/03/2021 09:22

Page 83 of 104

16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton

50076943
50076864
50076009
50077115
50075410
50077116
50076906
50075903
50076887
50076445
50077111
50076921
50076147
50076905
50076866
50076876
50076882
50076141
50076447
50076148
50076862
50076880
50076878
50076904
50077114
50076869
50077110
50076446
50005618
50027380
50026523
50026424
50026667
50024856
50035029
50035032
50035033
50035034
50038453
50038604
50033796
50035591
50042869
50042037
50042209

RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 102

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

02/03/2021 12:58
02/03/2021 09:09
23/02/2021 09:25
03/03/2021 09:18
17/02/2021 15:37
03/03/2021 09:21
02/03/2021 10:23
22/02/2021 13:49
02/03/2021 09:36
25/02/2021 09:44
03/03/2021 09:08
02/03/2021 11:22
23/02/2021 14:14
02/03/2021 10:21
02/03/2021 09:11
02/03/2021 09:23
02/03/2021 09:30
23/02/2021 13:51
25/02/2021 09:48
23/02/2021 14:21
02/03/2021 09:06
02/03/2021 09:26
02/03/2021 09:24
02/03/2021 10:18
03/03/2021 09:13
02/03/2021 09:13
03/03/2021 09:06
25/02/2021 09:45
24/03/2018 12:05
28/02/2019 11:38
19/02/2019 12:44
18/02/2019 13:56
20/02/2019 11:15
30/01/2019 14:50
06/06/2019 14:02
06/06/2019 14:11
06/06/2019 14:18
06/06/2019 14:20
17/09/2019 14:09
13/08/2019 09:15
23/05/2019 11:10
13/06/2019 13:26
11/12/2020 09:31
11/09/2019 11:20
10/12/2020 10:16

Page 84 of 104

16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton

50055247
50056436
50066890
50066604
50066647
50066773
50066892
50066791
50067067
50062942
50066777
50066780
50067195
50067201
50066633
50067185
50067369
50067180
50067187
50066673
50067337
50066756
50067178
50066788
50066608
50067199
50066601
50066606
50066915
50066736
50066784
50066764
50066785
50066891
50066751
50067183
50066752
50067033
50066772
50067358
50067364
50067366
50067350
50067370
50066910

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 103

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

23/03/2020 11:10
10/06/2020 09:49
11/11/2020 10:21
09/11/2020 11:36
09/11/2020 13:50
10/11/2020 11:42
11/11/2020 10:34
10/11/2020 12:56
12/11/2020 11:33
18/09/2020 12:05
10/11/2020 12:12
10/11/2020 12:16
13/11/2020 11:12
13/11/2020 11:36
09/11/2020 13:18
13/11/2020 10:16
16/11/2020 11:35
13/11/2020 10:01
13/11/2020 10:25
09/11/2020 13:53
16/11/2020 10:44
10/11/2020 10:58
13/11/2020 09:54
10/11/2020 12:52
09/11/2020 11:48
13/11/2020 11:31
09/11/2020 11:28
09/11/2020 11:42
11/11/2020 12:46
10/11/2020 10:12
10/11/2020 12:41
10/11/2020 11:17
10/11/2020 12:48
11/11/2020 10:27
10/11/2020 10:50
13/11/2020 10:12
10/11/2020 10:53
12/11/2020 10:15
10/11/2020 11:38
16/11/2020 11:08
16/11/2020 11:16
16/11/2020 11:23
16/11/2020 11:00
16/11/2020 11:37
11/11/2020 12:03

Page 85 of 104

16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton

50067068
50067345
50067321
50067334
50067360
50066656
50066611
50066650
50067036
50066644
50066758
50066778
50066792
50066912
50066882
50063295
50067037
50067319
50066776
50066917
50066654
50067190
50067198
50066638
50067192
50067200
50067314
50067322
50066623
50066649
50063332
50067041
50061455
50067342
50067373
50067338
50067367
50066619
50066748
50066749
50066774
50067196
50066888
50067011
50067173

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

Page 104

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

12/11/2020 11:40
16/11/2020 10:56
16/11/2020 09:54
16/11/2020 10:37
16/11/2020 11:12
09/11/2020 14:14
09/11/2020 11:52
09/11/2020 13:59
12/11/2020 10:20
09/11/2020 13:33
10/11/2020 11:07
10/11/2020 12:14
10/11/2020 12:59
11/11/2020 12:29
11/11/2020 10:08
23/09/2020 10:16
12/11/2020 10:23
16/11/2020 09:51
10/11/2020 12:08
11/11/2020 12:49
09/11/2020 14:11
13/11/2020 10:45
13/11/2020 11:27
09/11/2020 13:20
13/11/2020 11:04
13/11/2020 11:34
16/11/2020 09:48
16/11/2020 09:56
09/11/2020 12:46
09/11/2020 13:55
23/09/2020 15:04
12/11/2020 10:31
02/12/2020 12:22
16/11/2020 10:52
16/11/2020 11:52
16/11/2020 10:49
16/11/2020 11:26
09/11/2020 12:30
10/11/2020 10:42
10/11/2020 10:47
10/11/2020 11:45
13/11/2020 11:15
11/11/2020 10:15
12/11/2020 09:44
13/11/2020 09:51

Page 86 of 104

16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
16-Liberton/Gilmerton
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar

50067330
50066759
50067019
50070087
50068210
50069642
50070108
50069776
50070101
50070104
50070103
50069749
50070089
50073687
50073740
50069781
50070081
50073749
50073741
50073746
50073754
50069618
50073748
50073745
50070073
50068227
50070096
50070077
50070097
50075877
50075893
50075884
50076089
50075885
50077119
50075882
50076088
50075891
50075907
50075889
50075905
50074356
50071191
50071193
50072385

RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 2
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3

Page 105

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

16/11/2020 10:26
10/11/2020 11:12
12/11/2020 10:02
15/12/2020 10:57
26/11/2020 10:03
10/12/2020 10:51
15/12/2020 11:37
11/12/2020 11:27
15/12/2020 11:19
15/12/2020 11:30
15/12/2020 11:28
11/12/2020 09:58
15/12/2020 10:58
02/02/2021 10:37
02/02/2021 11:53
11/12/2020 11:42
15/12/2020 10:41
02/02/2021 12:14
02/02/2021 11:54
02/02/2021 12:09
02/02/2021 12:21
10/12/2020 10:12
02/02/2021 12:10
02/02/2021 12:03
15/12/2020 10:22
26/11/2020 10:32
15/12/2020 11:16
15/12/2020 10:35
15/12/2020 11:18
22/02/2021 13:00
22/02/2021 13:35
22/02/2021 13:13
23/02/2021 11:09
22/02/2021 13:15
03/03/2021 09:36
22/02/2021 13:09
23/02/2021 11:07
22/02/2021 13:31
22/02/2021 13:56
22/02/2021 13:28
22/02/2021 13:52
08/02/2021 09:29
31/12/2020 08:47
31/12/2020 08:57
19/01/2021 14:29

Page 87 of 104

17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar
17-Portobello/Craigmillar

50073472
50077073
50036603
50036605
50034415
50036604
50039259
50039263
50073915
50074008

RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 3
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4
RD: Cat 4

01/02/2021 10:19
03/03/2021 07:52
27/06/2019 15:53
27/06/2019 15:55
31/05/2019 10:16
27/06/2019 15:55
02/08/2019 11:27
02/08/2019 11:53
10/12/2020 15:11
10/12/2020 14:35

Table 4 – NUMBER OF DAYS TO REPAIR A ROAD DEFECT
Cat 1
MEAN (DAYS)
MEDIAN (DAYS)
MODE (DAYS)

Days
0.24
0.07
0.05

Cat 2
MEAN (DAYS)
MEDIAN (DAYS)
MODE (DAYS)

Days
2.20
1.04
0.99

Cat 3
MEAN (DAYS)
MEDIAN (DAYS)
MODE (DAYS)

Days
9.85
2.96
0.84

All
MEAN (DAYS)
MEDIAN (DAYS)
MODE (DAYS)

Days
5.90
1.20
0.99

Hrs
5.8
1.7
1.2

Operational Guidance Targets: Cat 1 – 24hrs; Cat 2 – 5 working days; Cat 3 – 60 working
days

Page 106

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 88 of 104

QUESTION NO 11

By Councillor Webber for answer by
the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Question

(1)

In relation to the existing schemes and although the
feedback has been limited to five, the consultation should
yield the exact number of respondents for and against
specific schemes. Will the Convener commit to removal of
the schemes where the majority do not wish to see them
retained?

Answer

(1)

The consultation results will be presented to the Transport
and Environment Committee. It is a decision for Committee
to decide the future of schemes. It would be inappropriate to
make a commitment on behalf of a Committee prior to any
debate taking place.

Question

(2)

In relation to the schemes either in the process of being
installed or not yet installed, and again noting that the
feedback has been limited to five, the consultation should
yield the exact number of respondents for and against
specific schemes. Will the Convener commit to removal of
and halt further implementation of any schemes where the
majority do not wish to see them retained or installed?

Answer

(2)

See above.

Page 107

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 89 of 104

QUESTION NO 12

Question

By Councillor Corbett for answer by
the Convener of the Finance and
Resources Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Since the council set its budget on 18 February 2021,
additional funding from the Scottish Government is expected
to be available for use in 2021-22.
Can the Convener detail:
a)

Answer

the level of funding expected;

b)

how the funding will be matched to council priorities;
and

c)

the process by which decisions over the additional
funding will be made.

a)

The Revenue Budget Update report considered by the
Finance and Resources Committee on 4 March 2021
provided, in Paragraphs 4.10 and 4.14 to 4.16, details of a
number of recently announced funding streams, some of
which are available for use in 2021/22. These sums
comprise a combination of funding with specific
corresponding additional expenditure liabilities and general
funding available for allocation in accordance with the
Council’s own priorities.
The latter category includes £275m of non-recurring
additional COVID funding, including for lost income, where,
following consideration by COSLA Leaders on 26 February,
Edinburgh’s anticipated share is around £33.6m. While
being provided in 2020/21, this sum may be carried forward
to be offset against pressures in 2021/22. This sum is in
addition to £259m of non-recurring COVID-related funding
included within the Local Government Finance Settlement,
Edinburgh’s anticipated allocation of which is £20.5m. This
funding is being held as a contingency against pressures in
excess of the level of provision contained within the budget
framework in 2021/22 and future years.
Following the announcement by the UK Government of £1.1
billion of additional COVID-related Barnett Consequentials

Page 108

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 90 of 104

for Scotland on 15 February, the Cabinet Secretary for
Finance confirmed on 16 February that an element of these
sums would be allocated for additional investment in
2021/22 for mental health (£120m), affordable housing
(£120m), low-income support (£100m) and pupil catch-up
(£60m). At this stage, however, further details of these
funding streams and any associated distribution amongst
authorities are awaited.
The precise level of resources available to the Council may
also be influenced by consideration of the Scottish and UK
Budget announcements. No additional resources were
introduced at Stage One of the Scottish Budget
Parliamentary debate, although there remains the potential
for changes to emerge prior to the Stage Three debate on 9
March. This debate may in turn be influenced by the
announcement, on 3 March, of the UK Budget, which
intimated the availability of £1.2 billion of Barnett
Consequentials in 2021/22 compared to the £0.5 billion
assumed in setting the Scottish Government’s budget

Supplementary
Question

b)

Taking due account of monies being provided in respect of
COVID-related impacts, officers will develop proposals for
consideration aligned, in the first instance, to the principles
and priorities set out within the Council’s Business Plan.
These proposals will then be brought forward for
consideration by all members as noted in the response
below.

c)

Given the complexity of the funding landscape, a further
Members’ Briefing will be circulated following the Stage
Three debate on 9 March, with the intention that a more
detailed update and associated recommendations then be
brought back Committee on 20 May for members’
consideration. This timescale will allow for a more informed
assessment of the pandemic’s on-going impacts based on
available information as that time.

Thank you Lord Provost, just one point of clarification
please. The Convener will acknowledge that the level of
resources after our own budget is set is significantly greater
than has been the case before, all be it it’s one year only in
unique circumstances of the pandemic, but that being the
case, does he recognise some of the compelling arguments
put forward by the Edinburgh Climate Commission for

Page 109

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 91 of 104

accelerated investment in green recovery this year ahead of
COP26 in Glasgow and will he welcome spending before
those to invest that green recovery?
Supplementary
Answer

Thank you Lord Provost and thanks to Councillor Corbett for
his question and his supplementary. Yes I do recognise that
and it is something that is in the priorities that the Coalition
had for the budget and for any additional spend to cover
things like the climate challenge alongside the Poverty
Commission recommendations and wellbeing so thanks
again for the question.

Page 110

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 92 of 104

QUESTION NO 13

By Councillor Webber for answer by
the Leader of the Council at a
meeting of the Council on 11 March
2021

Question

(1)

Can the Leader confirm if Council Officers have been
involved in compiling a dossier of sites that may be
connected to “historical racial injustice,” as reported in the
Sunday Telegraph on 28 February 2021?

Answer

(1)

I haven’t read the article so can’t comment. However an
update on the work of the Edinburgh Slavery and
Colonialism Legacy Review Group was prepared for Policy
and Sustainability Committee on 23 February 2021.

Question

(2)

Assuming the dossier dose exist, can the Leader set out:
a)

how and when this dossier will be shared with Council
and the wider public?

b)

the rigorous academic process used when considering
which sites should be included?

c)

the professional standing, it terms of the study of
Scottish history, of the authors?

Answer

(2)

See answer 1.

Question

(3)

What action would the Leader like to see regarding

Answer

(3)

a)

Bute House?

b)

the Burns Monument?

c)

any other site named in the Sunday Telegraph
article?

The Review Group has been tasked to consider all options
and responses available to redress this legacy, including the
removal or re-interpretation of features.
A set of recommendations, featuring both short- and long-

Page 111

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 93 of 104

term measures addressing how aspects of the public realm
which perpetuated racism and oppression in the past can be
re-configured, will be produced as part of the Review Group
work. The Independent Chair will report publicly on the
Review's findings.
I will respect our residents who want us to take these issues
seriously, instead of speculating and undermining the work
to address the legacy of slavery in our City. This legacy is
still having an impact in perpetuating and validating racism
in modern day Edinburgh and deserves to treated with more
seriousness and sensitivity than this line of questioning.

Page 112

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 94 of 104

QUESTION NO 14

By Councillor Staniforth for answer
by the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Question

What is the status of the project to develop a walking/cycling
route along the old Powderhall Railway initiated by a motion
by myself and Councillor Rae to the North East Locality
Committee 18th Feb 2018?

Answer

Council officers, with support from Sustrans, are in the
process of finalising a feasibility study that will form the
basis of land acquisition discussions with Network Rail and
other third parties, with the aim of constructing a desirable
green active corridor on as much of the Powderhall spur line
as possible. This corridor would extend the North Edinburgh
Path Network and help to link communities and new
developments in the east of the city.
Officers are aware that Network Rail currently has a sidings
lease in place with a freight operator for the former
Powderhall Waste Transfer facility which requires the spur
line to be maintained as operational.
Following the completion of the feasibility study, the next
stage of the project will require further engagement with
Network Rail and the freight operator to confirm that the
lease can be terminated and the land acquired.
Once the Council has established confidence regarding land
negotiations required to deliver the green corridor (or
coherent elements of it) further design and investigative
work can then be commissioned.

Supplementary
Question

Thank you Lord Provost and I thank the Convener for the
answer. I am very pleased to see this project is moving on,
obviously land ownership issues are complex and
necessarily slow everything down, but there doesn't seem to
be even an estimated timeline given with this, I understand
estimated timelines will be just that and could change, but is
there any sort of timeline that goes along with these
actions?

Page 113

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 95 of 104

Supplementary
Answer

Thank you Councillor Staniforth. I would have to verify that
with officers and I’ll ask them to do so directly to yourself
and the other members of the Transport Committee. Clearly
there has been a lot of work going on in the recent past on
this ahead of any particular campaigns that seem to be
emerging at the moment and as you say there are all sorts
of issues with getting with these projects which often can
appear to be a good idea and that everybody can get behind
there can be delays in sometimes in delivering them and
that's the thing we need to clarify, what is possible and what
isn't possible and that will be coming back at some point
relatively soon thank you.

Page 114

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 96 of 104

QUESTION NO 15

By Councillor Rust for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Question

(1)

Given the strategic importance of the ETRO/SFP retention
survey and the scale of the number of schemes it relates to
(around 120) which means the outcome will shape decision
making impacting nearly everyone in Edinburgh directly or
indirectly, what pre-testing of the survey was carried out and
what was the scale and profile of the test sample?

Answer

(1)

Given the timescale for development and delivery of the
engagement, it was not possible to pre-test the survey. The
questionnaire was developed in discussion between officers
in Place and the Council’s Strategy and Insight team and
approved via the Spaces for People Board. The
questionnaire seeks to enable people to express support or
opposition to retaining some or all of the measures
introduced, or being introduced, under Spaces for People, to
comment on individual measures and to give views on both
the advantages and disadvantages of retaining 0the
interventions.

Question

(2)

Specifically, what was the methodology used to ensure bias
was removed and questions were structured to support ease
of comprehension across residents and businesses

Answer

(2)

Answers enable respondents to express either support or
opposition in equal measure. They also enable people to list
both benefits and disadvantages of measures, including the
ability to mention benefits and disadvantages not listed in
the questionnaire. In drawing up lists of benefits and
disadvantages for consideration by respondents,
consideration was given to comments that have been made
on SfP measures whilst they have been in place.

Question

(3)

How was sampling for this pre-testing undertaken for all
resident groups in Edinburgh according to age, location,
mobility, socio-economic group, road user groups etc?

Page 115

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 97 of 104

Answer

(3)

See answer to question 1. Measures, for example social
media posts, radio adverts and on street advertising, are
being taken to raise awareness of the current engagement
and to encourage participation by residents from across the
city. In addition to the consultation questionnaire, a parallel
piece of Market Research is being carried out behalf of the
Council. This will seek to achieve responses from a
representative cross section of Edinburgh’s population.

Question

(4)

How was the sampling for pre-testing of the business survey
undertaken e.g. by business sector, size etc?

Answer

(4)

See answer to question 1. Various measures are being
taken to encourage responses from businesses across the
city, including contacting via relevant businesses
associations as well as promotion via on street adverts,
social media posts etc as mentioned above.

Question

(5)

Who carried out this pre-testing and how was it reported?

Answer

(5)

As noted in the answer to question 1, it was not possible to
carry out pre-testing of the questionnaire.

Supplementary
Question

Thank you Lord Provost and thanks again to the Convener
for her answer. A fundamental flaw is the survey assumes
knowledge, people are telepathically supposed to know our
plans that have not been published. I see at point 1 of the
answers it states, “Given the timescale for development and
delivery of the engagement, it was not possible to pre-test
the survey.”, yet the Convener has shown that the
consultation time-limit can now be extended by 3 weeks.
Does the Convener accept that by pre-testing which I
understand is the norm of such a survey could have been
done at the outset within two weeks?

Supplementary
Answer

I hear of many different ways in which we can approach the
question of survey and consultation and so it's not
necessarily the norm for this particular type of consultation
which is different. Commissions surveys tend to have major
resources attached to it which would allow for pre-testing of
the survey, consultations tend to be centred around our own
staff. As is the case with many of the council surveys, not
specific to this one, officers from the relevant service work
with colleagues from Strategy and Insight in order to

Page 116

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 98 of 104

develop the approach and the questions for the survey and
that was done very carefully this time in order to ensure that
there was a really biase free set of questions despite what
some people out in the communities are saying, it gave
people an opportunity to say yea or nae on particular
projects, it gave people the opportunity to provide comment
and it also provided an opportunity for people to provide the
overview of the Spaces for People process as well. So I
would argue that it would have been very difficult for us to
find another format that would not have fallen into the biase
category and we were working strenuously to ensure that
that was not the case. So the survey itself was signed off by
the Spaces for People Programme Board after all of that
consideration, so I do somewhat resent the tone that you
introduce in your first few sentences Councillor Rust about
how people expect to be telepathic, we run an enormous
number of consultations and surveys out of this Council,
many more than other local authorities and we do across a
whole range of topics and each and every time the effort is
made by officers to try to reach as many people as possible
but there will always be a limit to that, there’s been a limit to
people's interest in terms of responding and there’ll be a
limit to how well we can reach people. We’re doing the best
we can with that and that's the case for this topic and the
other consultation surveys. So I think that is something
that’s worth bearing in mind as we go through this next
stage.

Page 117

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 99 of 104

QUESTION NO 16

By Councillor Johnston for answer
by the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 11 March 2021

Question

(1)

As regards the Tram Extension to Newhaven, have there
been any changes to the contract since award?

Answer

(1)

Aside from changes in the ordinary course of contract
management, there have been three changes:
MOV1
Deferred the date on which Professional Indemnity
insurance and performance bond would be required to align
with programme; and
Removed certain contractor risk costs from the Council’s
payment should Notice to Proceed not have been given –
this has since fallen away as the Council has issued Notice
to Proceed.
MOV 2
Amended the end date from 1 February 2023 to 17 March
2023 to reflect the end date agreed at the end of the Early
Contractor Involvement (ECI) period;
Amended the delay damages payable to reflect the
construction phasing agreed during the ECI period; and
In the Siemens sub-contract that was attached to the
Infrastructure and Systems Contractor (ISC) contract, the
requirement to pay an incentive payment to Siemens was
removed.
MOV 3
Amendment to payment of Siemens’ pain share so that the
Council will bear the cost of overruns 50/50 with Siemens
(as opposed to 25% the Council, 25% ISC and 50%
Siemens) up to 120%.

Page 118

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 100 of 104

Question

(2)

If so, what were the changes and how were they reported to
Committee or Council for scrutiny?

Answer

(2)

Changes were as noted above. They were approved in
accordance with the Contract Standing Orders and by the
Project Board, and reported to the Finance and Risk Group
for the project.

Supplementary
Question

Thank you Lord Provost and I thank you Convener for the
answer. There may well be very good reasons why this
contract has been changed, it may well have been the right
thing to do but does the Convener not agree with me that it
would be useful if councillors could be scrutinising these
kind of changes to understand what they mean and what the
impact could be?

Supplementary
Answer

Thank you for the question Councillor Johnson. There is a
very well established democratically decided process of
scrutiny attached to the tram programme, there has been a
number of features that have been put into that scrutiny
process, to use a broad term, that should give us a degree
of security, so for example, there's an agile audit going on
all the time on the tram, marked contrast to the previous
tram project, there are internal officer checks that are going
on, there's all sorts of work between the Tram Team and the
contractor's and in addition to which we also have what I
think is quite a well informed all party oversight group, not a
decision making environment but it does give people who
have an interest to transport and through local area interest,
an opportunity to really drill down into some of these and
there have been questions of a similar nature to the ones
that you’ve brought forward that have been aired before in
that forum, so I'm confident that there isn't a requirement at
this stage to make the change to the way in which it was set
out for scrutiny and verification, the way it was set out under
the full business case at this point. Clearly there is always a
requirement to keep a close eye on what's happening
around this tram extension project at this point, I'm
comfortable with the level of scrutiny that's going on at the
moment, we have seen no major issues emerge at this
point, thank you.

Page 119

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 101 of 104

QUESTION NO 17

By Councillor Whyte for answer by
the Leader of the Council at a
meeting of the Council on 11 March
2021
Following a Council Question in 2018 the Leader set up a
formal “annual” appraisal process for the Chief Executive.

Question

(1)

Given the Council has a policy of formal annual appraisal
process (Annual Performance Conversation) can the Leader
outline why he has only ever ensured that one such process
has been undertaken for the Chief Executive since he
became Council leader in 2017

Answer

(1)

The last 360 review took place in Spring 2019. In Spring
2020, when the next scheduled review would have taken
place, the Chief Executive was focused on dealing with the
consequences of a global pandemic for both the Council
and the City, including the Council’s statutory responsibilities
arising from the Civil Contingencies Act and providing direct
leadership of the Council’s Incident Management Team,
which continues to operate now. In addition, given the Chief
Executive’s experience he was rightly supporting national
response activities, working with the Scottish Government
and other agencies on behalf of SOLACE Scotland. While
the demands on the Chief Executive have been unique this
year, the approach adopted is consistent with other officers
through the pandemic.

(2)

Can the Leader explain why, given the Chief Executive
works for and reports to the whole Council as a corporate
body, the results of that process and input to future
objectives was not shared with the Leaders of all political
groups on the Council as had been practice for previous
Chief Executives?

(2)

The process agreed upon for the last review did not include
this action, this process included Councillor Whyte’s
participation in the 360 review. I have no record of
Councillor Whyte asking for this to be done at any point.

Page 120

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 102 of 104

(3)

Can the Leader describe the objectives set for the Chief
Executive and explain how he intends that these are
overseen by the whole Council

(3)

These were based on the feedback and themes of the 360
review, facilitated by the Local Government Association, and
in relation to wider Council performance. It would go against
any sense of good governance to have 63 elected members
trying to line manage the Chief Executive. Councillors
should however use the Council’s annual performance
reporting to carry out their responsibilities of holding officers,
including the Chief Executive, to account.
To repeat a part of my answer to Councillor Whyte from
November 2018 “the Chief Executive is uniquely
accountable to the whole Council, in its capacity as
employer, through the Leader of the Council” which is the
normal approach in local government.

Supplementary
Question

(4)

Can the Leader explain whether any of the areas for
action/improvement mirrored those from the Best Value
Audit of the Council, what action he took as Leader to seek
improvement in these areas prior to that audit?

(4)

There is a difference between the Chief Executive’s
personal performance conversation, (which is split into 4
themes and 24 competencies) and the policies, practices
and strategies of the Council. There are clear synergies
between the Council’s previously approved business plan
(reported to Council annually), the review of competencies
and the Best Value Assurance Review outcomes

(5)

Will the Leader indicate the process he intends to take
forward in future to ensure a formal annual appraisal for the
Chief Executive?

(5)

This will follow the same 360 review process during 2021,
when appropriate to do and subject to the availability of the
Local Government Association’s facilitators.
Thank you Lord Provost. The Council Leader reminds us in
answer to Question that what he says, that the Chief
Executive is uniquely accountable to the whole Council in its

Page 121

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 103 of 104

capacity as employer through the Leader of the Council,
now Lord Provost notwithstanding that previous Chief
Executives were accountable through the Group Leaders
meeting to undertake their appraisal, it's interesting that the
Council Leader has taken this on himself. Given that, then
he must therefore be accountable to the whole Council for
this process, can he tell us how many full appraisals the
Chief Executive has had since joining us in 2015, some 6
years ago and whether the Chief Executive currently has a
set of objectives and how as Council Leader he is going to
demonstrate to the Council that these are relevant and valid
in current circumstances and being monitored?
Supplementary
Answer

Thank you, a couple of questions in there that I’ll try and
work through. As I’ve made clear, yes the Chief Executive
is effectively, line managed would probably be a strong
word, but through the Council Leader. I'm not entirely sure
what Councillor Whyte expects in terms of the process, but
to have an individual person’s criteria and everything else
going to account I don't think would be appropriate at all. I
made clear in Answer 3 or Answer 2, let me just find it, I
think Answer 3, that members who are looking for that
should look corporately, it is not for, I don't think, the Council
to scrutinise one individual’s performance in that way, I do
not think that is good governance at all, if you had a Board
of a company that was anywhere near the size of ours it
would be done by a committee. Now Councillor Whyte says
quite clearly that before it was done by the Group leaders,
however I do note that Councillor Whyte wasn’t Group
Leader before I became Council Leader and I wasn't Group
Leader before I became Council Leader, so in terms of the
practice before that, I don't think either of us can speak with
authority as to how that was done, you would have to write
to the Chief Executive for that.

Page 122

The City of Edinburgh Council – 11 March 2021

Page 104 of 104

Agenda Item 4.2
Minutes
The City of Edinburgh Council (Special Meeting)
Edinburgh, Thursday 16 April 2021
Present:-

LORD PROVOST
The Right Honourable Frank Ross

COUNCILLORS
Robert C Aldridge
Scott Arthur
Gavin Barrie
Eleanor Bird
Chas Booth
Claire Bridgman
Mark A Brown
Graeme Bruce
Steve Burgess
Lezley Marion Cameron
Jim Campbell
Kate Campbell
Mary Campbell
Maureen M Child
Nick Cook
Gavin Corbett
Cammy Day
Alison Dickie
Denis C Dixon
Phil Doggart
Karen Doran
Scott Douglas
Catherine Fullerton
Neil Gardiner
Gillian Gloyer
George Gordon
Ashley Graczyk
Joan Griffiths
Ricky Henderson

Graham J Hutchison
Andrew Johnston
David Key
Callum Laidlaw
Lesley Macinnes
Melanie Main
John McLellan
Amy McNeese-Mechan
Adam McVey
Claire Miller
Max Mitchell
Joanna Mowat
Rob Munn
Gordon J Munro
Hal Osler
Ian Perry
Susan Rae
Cameron Rose
Neil Ross
Jason Rust
Stephanie Smith
Alex Staniforth
Mandy Watt
Susan Webber
Iain Whyte
Donald Wilson
Norman J Work
Ethan Yough
Louise Young

Page 123

1.

Death of His Royal Highness The Duke of Edinburgh – Motion
by the Lord Provost

The Council observed a minute’s silence in memory of His Royal Highness The Duke
of Edinburgh who had died on 9 April 2021.
The following motion by the Lord Provost was submitted in terms of Standing Order
17:
“On behalf of this Council, and the citizens of Edinburgh, I want to offer my deep
condolences to Her Majesty The Queen and Members of the Royal Family on news of
the death of His Royal Highness The Prince Philip, Duke of Edinburgh.
Made Duke of Edinburgh on the day of his wedding to Princess Elizabeth in 1947, His
Royal Highness has made an immense contribution to the civic life and international
reputation of Edinburgh throughout an extraordinary life of public service.
He demonstrated great appreciation of and support for Scotland’s Capital City and its
citizens. Quite simply, he took the name of our Capital across the world and put
Edinburgh on the map in so many ways.
Our strong relationship with the Duke was consolidated at a very early stage when he
was presented with the Freedom of the City in March 1949, in recognition of his
distinguished role and effort in supporting Edinburgh.
In 1953, the year of the Coronation, the Duke was appointed Chancellor of the
University of Edinburgh and held this position for nearly 60 years until 2010.
His Royal Highness’s great interest in the benefits of education and belief in
opportunities to transform young people’s lives was also reflected in the setting up of
the inspirational Duke of Edinburgh Awards Scheme in 1956.
We know of course that The Duke himself had, following a life of public service, retired
finally from his official Royal duties in 2017, aged 96.
It was particularly significant therefore that the Depute Lord Provost Councillor Joan
Griffiths and I had the pleasure of welcoming both The Queen and The Duke of
Edinburgh to the Opening of the new Queensferry Crossing on the Edinburgh side of
the new Bridge on 4 September 2017.
This was indeed the last time that the Duke undertook a formal engagement in the City
and a highly significant one at that, enhancing transport links and economic
development opportunities across the Firth of Forth and the East of Scotland.
His Royal Highness remained Patron, President or member of some 30 Edinburghbased organisations and won a special place in the hearts of local people.

Page 124

The City of Edinburgh Council – 16 April 2021

Page 2 of 3

It has been my privilege and honour to serve as Lord Lieutenant for Edinburgh a city
where Prince Philip’s legacy will be outstanding and enduring.
This Council and this City are in mourning today.
We extend our deepest sympathies to the Royal Family at this very difficult time.”
- moved by the Lord Provost, seconded by Councillor Griffiths
The Lord Provost, Depute Convener Griffiths, Baillie Work, Baillie Lezley Marion
Cameron, Baillie Rust, Baillie Rae and Baillie Aldridge paid tribute to the service and
contributions made by His Royal Highness, The Duke of Edinburgh.
Decision
To approve the motion by the Lord Provost.

Page 125

The City of Edinburgh Council – 16 April 2021

Page 3 of 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5.1

April 2021

Celebrating all our city has to offer as restrictions ease
Fantastic news that from Monday (26 April) we’ll move into level 3 of the national route map out of
lockdown. Shops, cafes and restaurants will once again throw open their doors (with hygiene and physical
distancing measures in place), we can plan trips to visit loved ones across Scotland and elsewhere in the UK
and more services can begin to resume. Edinburgh Leisure is reopening leisure centres and swimming pools
and we’re drawing up plans to reopen libraries and cultural venues over the coming weeks.
We’ve already experienced some sense of normality this month when all children were able to return to
school, and now we’re able to begin reintroducing our programme of extra-curricular activities outdoors,
which we know is so important for our young people’s wellbeing.
These moves to ease lockdown are very welcome, and we’ll be celebrating and promoting all the city has to
offer as restrictions are lifted, supporting the local economy’s recovery and helping businesses to navigate
the changing guidance – as they’ve done so well throughout.
However, we’re not out of the woods yet and we can’t lose sight of our goal. Public health guidance is still in
place for good reason, and we need to continue following the rules around hygiene, physical distancing and
mixing with other households indoors. I’d also encourage anyone, even if they don’t have symptoms, to get
a test if they live near an asymptomatic testing centre. This will really help us to monitor and stop the virus
spreading so we can return the city to its usual, lively self as soon as possible.

Be a part of Edinburgh’s next chapter
With the rules relaxing, and the freedom to socialise and get together with friends and family, our new joint
marketing campaign ‘Forever Edinburgh – The Story Never Ends’ brings to life Edinburgh’s rich tapestry of
tales and the unique experiences around every corner of the city at all times of the year.
From our buzzing city centre and eclectic neighbourhoods to our colourful coasts and green spaces, we’re
inviting residents and visitors to explore new parts of Edinburgh and support our attractions, shops, bars,
cafes and restaurants. Delivered in partnership with ETAG and VisitScotland, this engaging six-month
multimedia campaign will also encourage residents to rediscover and enjoy their home city after months of
lockdown.
That’s why I’m asking businesses, attractions and residents to get behind our campaign and tell us their
favourite #ForeverEdinburgh stories. We’ve already had an amazing response from local businesses, helping
us to inspire residents to adventure in and around their city and be a part of Edinburgh’s next chapter.

Working hard to support businesses
It’s been an extremely difficult time for many businesses and self-employed people. We know that taxi and
private hire drivers have been severely impacted, which is why we’ve provided nearly £4.4 million from the
Discretionary Grant fund to top up the Taxi and Private Hire Driver Support Fund.
Taxi and private hire drivers each received a top-up payment of £1,000, which bolstered the initial grants of
£1,500 through the Taxi and Private Hire Driver Support Fund they received earlier in the year.
In addition, £50 million has been paid out to recipients of the Strategic Framework Business Fund and
Business Top-up scheme, which I hope goes some way to getting businesses back on the road to recovery
and ready to welcome back and support their customers as restrictions lift. This takes the total amount
distributed by the Council to over £250 million – supporting 19,000 businesses across Edinburgh.

Helping keep our busy parks and beaches beautiful
With the weather warming up and lockdown easing, we recognise the need for greater public toilet provision
so that residents and visitors can spend longer enjoying our beautiful parks, beaches and open spaces.
I’m pleased, then, that we’ve agreed a £450,000 plan for temporary public toilets in busy ‘hotspot’ areas,
including the Meadows and Portobello, to help people enjoy them more and help deal with some of the
antisocial behaviour that’s impacted on our residents. We’re asking elected members to approve funding for
this at next week’s Council meeting (29 April).
The reports of people using gardens as toilets are unacceptable and I really hope that having these
additional facilities will help put a stop to that. If agreed, a list of the exact locations will be publicised as
soon as we have it. We’ll make sure the temporary toilets meet accessibility needs, too.
We’ve also reviewed permanent provision and a plan for new and improved facilities across Edinburgh is
also proposed. There are currently seven public toilets open in busy areas and we’ll reopen more as soon as
we possibly can.

Page 127

Earth Day spurs the world on towards climate action
Yesterday was Earth Day 2021 – a global movement highlighting how we can all take action against climate
change. Timely, then, that we published our draft Council Emissions Reduction Plan, setting out the first
steps we will take to deliver on the city’s net zero carbon target by 2030. It highlights the changes required
in how we think about and tackle climate change and builds on the progress we’re already making in
reducing our emissions (62% - well in excess of our 42% target by 2020). Although our own emissions only
account for 3% of Edinburgh’s total emissions, we need to lead by example.
Tackling climate change is a chance to face into other societal issues, from poverty to people’s health and
wellbeing. That’s why becoming a sustainable, net zero city is a core priority of the Council Business Plan,
along with ending poverty by 2030 and ensuring wellbeing and equalities are enhanced for all.
‘Growing Locally’, Edinburgh’s first food growing strategy, examines ways in which Edinburgh can tackle
food insecurity and improve people’s access to fresh food. It also takes a look at the role food plays in our
lives – from the benefits it has on our physical health and emotional and mental wellbeing, to improving the
city’s biodiversity and mitigating the effects of climate change.

Our Capital – in numbers
We’ve been working extremely hard over the last year to maintain our services, so I was delighted to read
the results of our Capital Residents Survey. The poll of 1,000+ residents showed that 80% of Edinburghers
were satisfied with how we’ve delivered services during lockdown. Sixty-seven per cent of people who
contacted us over the last year also said they were satisfied with the service they received. I know that
colleagues across the Council will be really pleased that their tireless efforts have been recognised.
This new survey also sheds light on things like people’s changing working habits during lockdown – 58% of
participants are now working from home – and how they’d like us to deliver services in future. It’s
invaluable information for our own future planning so we can deliver services conveniently and sustainably,
providing the best possible quality of life for residents.
Meanwhile, we also reflected on life, business, education and the state of our economy pre-pandemic
through the 14th annual Edinburgh by Numbers report. This year’s report, covering the time period 2009 to
2019/20, gives us a sense of optimism as we look to build back a fairer, stronger and greener economy for
the benefit of all our residents.
It was great to see that the vast majority believe, as we do, that climate change is an immediate and
urgent problem with 73% expressing their concern, while the city recorded the fourth largest reduction in
carbon dioxide emissions per population of UK major cities* between 2011 to 2018, as we work towards our
ambitious target to reach net-zero emissions by 2030.

Culture on the menu again this summer
Over the last year, our vibrant and world-renowned cultural capital faced huge changes, with the
cancellation of the festivals as we knew them and the closure of our venues.
Happily, though, our festivals are now able to plan their careful return as restrictions are slowly lifted again.
The Edinburgh International Festival will welcome audiences back to live performances with temporary
outdoor pavilions throughout the city in its reimagined Festival for 2021. Meanwhile the Edinburgh Festival
Fringe has also announced its return from 6 to 30 August. Registration for acts opens next month and a
range of scenarios are being planned for, from physically distanced live events to digital offerings.
As we continue to navigate the roadmap out of lockdown, much is still unknown about what the festivals will
look like this August. But the great news is that they’re coming back and with ticket numbers likely to be
limited due to public health needs, performances will be a more intimate experience with most audience
members being local residents. We’ll do all we can to support our city’s creatives and help their recovery.

Edinburgh bids farewell to its Duke
Earlier this month, the Capital joined the rest of the nation in mourning the passing of the Duke of
Edinburgh, with the Queen’s Royal Representative in Edinburgh, Lord Lieutenant Frank Ross, leading
tributes on our behalf.
Throughout his lifetime, Prince Philip showed great appreciation for this city and its people, regularly
reaching out to fellow veterans and serving personnel and thousands of our children and students, both
through his longstanding links with our universities and, of course, the Duke of Edinburgh Award.
If you’d like to pay your respects, you can post a message on our virtual book of condolence, which includes
tributes from people all over the world.

Have your say on 6 May
With less than two weeks to go until the Scottish Parliament Election, our team is hard at work preparing for
the Edinburgh count – a very different experience from previous years. The count will take place over two
days, with final results for Edinburgh expected in the late afternoon/evening of Saturday 8 May.
On polling day itself (6 May), there will be additional hygiene and distancing measures at polling places to
keep voters and staff safe. These include a fresh pencil for each voter, protective screens for polling staff,
one-way systems in some venues, additional ventilation and limits to the number of voters in polling places
at any one time.
This year, more than a quarter of Edinburgh’s electorate (102,138 people) have opted for a postal vote. If
you’re voting this way, please make sure you post your vote in plenty of time – they must be received by

Page 128

10pm on Thursday 6 May. If you need to apply for a proxy vote – letting someone you trust vote on your
behalf – the deadline for this is 5pm on 27 April.
Find out more about candidates, voting and the election, including the measures we’re taking to ensure
polling stations are safe and Covid-secure. It’s important that everyone has their say, so don’t miss your
chance to cast your vote.

Get involved
Keep up to date with all council news via our news section online. You can watch live council and committee
meetings via our webcast service and join the debate on Twitter using #edinwebcast. If you wish to
unsubscribe, please email us.

Follow us on twitter

Follow us on Facebook

Page 129

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6.1
The City of Edinburgh Council

10.00am, Thursday 29 April 2021

Appointments to Outside Organisations Edinburgh
International Conference Centre (EICC)
Item number
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

All

1.

Recommendation

1.1

To appoint one member to serve in place of Councillor Smith as a Council
representative on the Edinburgh International Conference Centre Ltd (EICC).

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive
Contact:

Louise Williamson, Committee Services

Email:

louise.p.williamson@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 4264

Page 131

Report

Appointments to Outside Organisations – Edinburgh
International Conference Centre (EICC)
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

Councillor Smith has tendered her resignation as a member of EICC.

2.2

Council is asked to appoint a member in place of Councillor Smith on EICC.

3.

Main report

3.1

Appointments to Outside Bodies for 2017 – 22 were approved by Council on 29
June 2017.

3.2

EICC is owned by the Council and operates as an independent commercial venture.

3.3

The Council has previously agreed that three elected members should sit on the
Boards of its ALEOs and that these should include one member from each group in
the coalition and one from an opposition group. Councillors Lezley Marion
Cameron, Gordon and Smith had been appointed as the Council’s representatives
on EICC.

3.4

Councillor Smith has submitted her resignation as a Council representative, and a
replacement representative is sought.

4.

Next Steps

4.1

Any changes in representation will be communicated to the organisation concerned.

5.

Financial impact

5.1

None.

6.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

6.1

None

7.

Background reading/external references

7.1

Minute of the City of Edinburgh Council of 29 June 2017

7.2

Minute of the City of Edinburgh Council of 24 August 2017

Page 132

The City of Edinburgh Council – 29 April 2021

Page 2

7.3

Minute of the City of Edinburgh Council of 3 May 2018

7.4

Minute of the City of Edinburgh Council of 7 February 2019

8.

Appendices

8.1

None.

The City of Edinburgh Council – 29 April 2021

Page 133

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.1
The City of Edinburgh Council

10am, Thursday, 29 April 2021

Child Protection – Response to Motion
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

1.

Recommendations

1.1

The City of Edinburgh Council is asked to:
1.1.1 Note the contents of this report.
1.1.2 Note the positive contribution of services across the City in keeping children
safe.
1.1.3 Note the plan for an Internal Audit regarding whistleblowing outcomes,
including those relating to child protection issues.
1.1.4 Note that this report has already been presented to the Education, Children
and Families Committee on 2 March 2021. No changes were required.

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive
Contact: Jackie Irvine, Head of Safer and Stronger Communities and Chief Social Work
Officer
E-mail: Jackie.Irvine@edinburgh.gov.uk | 0131 553 8520

Page 135

Report

Child Protection – response to motion
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

This report follows submission of the Edinburgh Child Protection Committee Annual
Report 2019/20 which was submitted to the Education, Children and Families
Committee and Full Council.

2.2

Relevant child protection information is provided in response to a motion relating to
child protection in the City of Edinburgh. It provides detail and context around a
number of topics including; child protection referrals, interagency training, public
information campaigns and matters in relation to whistleblowing.

3.

Background

3.1

Following a motion put forward by Councillor Dickie at Full Council on 15 October
2020.
“Council therefore requests
The Chief Social Worker and Head of Safer and Stronger Communities (and Chair
of Edinburgh’s Child Protection Committee) reports to Education, Children and
Families Committee in two cycles, referred onto full Council, on any increase in
child protection issues that have been reported since the return to school in August.
Recognising that appropriate information for elected members acting on behalf of
constituents is essential in child protection case which may relate to whistleblowing
reports, asks that a review of the present arrangements be undertaken in order to
suggests ways in which it can be improved.
The report to include action that can further promote public awareness of child
protection issues and support for young people to speak out.
A review of the training given to all staff working with children and all councillors be
undertaken to suggest how this can be improved including information and
guidance about elected members assurance in relation to individual child protection
cases.
2

Page 136

That consideration be given to extending the whistleblowing audit and review to
include,
The recommendations of all whistleblowing reports relating to child protection over
the past 10 years, reporting the outcomes to the Governance, Risk and Best Value
and Education, Children and Families Committees, and those committees consider
any ward callings, or callings to any other elected members as appropriate.
A recommendation that all current and forward whistleblowing reports relating to
child protection issues go appropriately to the Governance, Risk and Best Value
and Education, Children and Families Committees, and those committees consider
any ward callings, or callings to any other elected members as appropriate
3.2

These issues are addressed in turn in the main report below.

4.

Main report

Child Protection Issues Since August 2020
4.1

A range of data is collated and analysed by the Child Protection Committee and the
Chief Officers’ Group. The two main forums for data collection and analysis are
noted below. Between these two datasets, we can detect emerging issues and see
long-term trends.

4.2

SOLACE data returns to the Scottish Government reported by all local authority
areas each Thursday since April 2020.

4.3

This data is summarised into a monthly report which is provided to the Chief
Officers’ Group and elected members of the Education, Children and Families
Committee. This dataset includes child protection information alongside adult
protection, offender management and homelessness data.

4.4

There is no evidence of any sustained rise in child protection concerns reported
since August 2020. Weekly SOLACE data shows that over the 20 weeks to 5
February 2021, the average number of children whose names were added to the
Child Protection Register was less than two per week. This varies between a high of
seven children in one week, and five weeks throughout this period where no
children’s names were added. There is also no evidence of an increase in
emergency legal measures, such as Child Protection Orders (CPOs), being used to
protect children – only three such Orders were granted in the 20 weeks to 5
February 2021. It should be noted that there are other means by which we can
safeguard children out with applying for a CPO.

4.5

National Minimum Dataset for Child Protection Committees in Scotland, which
collates rolling three-year trend data on a range of indicators.

4.6

This report includes quarterly trend data which requires to be collated from a range
of sources and analysed; by its nature, such reporting is not absolutely current but
does perform an important function in allowing us to see long term trends as
opposed to the many common cause variations which can appear in weekly data.
3

Page 137

4.7

The most recent version, included at Appendix 1, considers data to end of October
2020 and shows that the very small overall increase in the number of children
subject to Child Protection Registration has not been due to an increase in
concerns, but rather a reduction in the number of children being removed from the
Register. This may reflect professionals being more reluctant to remove children’s
names from the Register during the pandemic, which ensures that the additional
level of safeguarding provided by a Child Protection Plan remains in place for these
children.

4.8

The National Minimum Dataset also includes the number of Child Welfare Concerns
(CWCs) received by Social Care Direct; referrals to Social Work regarding children
who may be at risk of harm. Worth noting is that the lowest level of CWCs over the
three-year period occurred between November 2019 and January 2020, prior to the
pandemic. Since then, we have seen a rise in CWCs to around the same level as
previous years, suggesting that the pandemic has not led to fewer concerns being
reported but instead that these are being reported at broadly the same level as
previously.

4.9

Regular contact is being maintained with children whose names are on the Child
Protection Register, with an average of 91% being seen each week over the 20
weeks to 5 February 2021. It should be noted that this data includes unborn
children, which contributes to some extent to the figure being less than 100%, as
whilst regular contact is maintained with pregnant women whose unborn children
are subject to Child Protection Registration, weekly contact is not usually
proportionate. In addition, an average of 91% of children subject to Multi-Agency
Plans have been seen on a weekly basis over this 20-week period. This reflects the
huge efforts to maintain contact with over 5000 children during the period of the
pandemic.

4.10

Schools across the city are a key point of contact for children who are both already
known to support services or who may require support. Prior to COVID restrictions,
there was a 100% uptake of the NSPCC “Speak Up Stay Safe” programme across
Edinburgh’s primary schools. This programme provides age appropriate information
to children regarding how to speak up if they are worried about themselves or
another person. Ongoing dialogue is taking place between senior managers in
Education and NSPCC to recommence this programme via virtual methods as soon
as possible. In addition, all children receive input via PSE about the importance of
speaking up to a trusted adult.

Public Information and Awareness
4.11

As noted in the Child Protection Committee Annual Report 2019-20, one crucial
function of a Child Protection Committee is public messaging. The ‘All of Us’
campaign launched in January 2020 and is scheduled to run until Spring 2021. This
is a joint campaign with NSPCC Scotland, the first of its kind in the country, and
seeks to address child neglect by ensuring that we all know where to turn to for
support, and how to report concerns. The simple premise of the campaign is that it
takes all of us to raise happy and healthy children, and we all need support from
4

Page 138

time to time. We have deliberately sought to take a non-stigmatising approach in
our messaging which focusses on supporting others as opposed to reporting them
to social work. This is in recognition that neglect is cumulative and providing early
support is more effective than addressing issues once they have become
entrenched. The messaging has taken on additional relevance over the period of
the pandemic, with the campaign plan having to adapt to being primarily online. The
campaign website is hosted at www.edinburgh.gov.uk/allofus
4.12

A full evaluation will be provided after the end of the campaign by NSPCC Scotland
and will be provided to the convenors of the Education, Children and Families
Convenors. This will include consideration of the impact of the campaign on
directing families towards early support, as well as considering whether there is any
evidence of an increase in referrals to social work which can be linked to the
campaign messaging. An update on the progress of the campaign to date includes:
4.12.1

Hundreds of people attended four launch events in January and February
2020. These were aimed at local families and included information and
activities from support organisations which operated in the local area.

4.12.2

Since April 2020, tens of thousands of hits on the campaign website have
been recorded. Google analytics reports provide this data for each
calendar month – the total of all unique page views since April 2020 is
43,230; the highest monthly total occurred in May 2020 (12,711 unique
page views), with similar figures recorded for December 2020 (11,477)
and January 2021 (9,971). The highest figures have been recorded
following targeted social media advertising, indicating that this is working
in driving people to information around support. The campaign messaging
has also been adapted to ensure that this is of relevance to the challenges
facing families over lockdown, in particular during periods such as
Christmas and school holidays.

4.12.3

In addition to public facing information, a range of methods have been
successful in raising awareness amongst multiagency professionals. This
has included monthly “lunchtime learning” sessions themed around
specific topics of relevance to the campaign and a virtual conference
attended by almost 100 people and including keynote speakers from
Royal Holloway University of London, Edinburgh University and local
practitioners. Both have been highly evaluated by participant feedback.

4.12.4

The model of the campaign, developed completely by local workers and
families in Edinburgh, is now being adapted by NSPCC for use in other
local areas, and considered for adoption as a national campaign toolkit by
Child Protection Committees Scotland.

Learning and Development

5

Page 139

4.13

The Learning and Development Subcommittee of the Child Protection Committee
meets monthly, and carries out ongoing review of the relevance, impact and
delivery of interagency child protection training as a core element of its work.

4.14

Since April 2020, the Subcommittee has developed a suite of e-learning options
which are accessible to all colleagues across the City via their own agency’s
platforms. The table below illustrates the positive uptake of each course.
Number of staff
accessing

Number of staff
completing

1422

597

Child Protection: Assessment Outcomes and the Language of Child Protection

313

179

Child Protection: An Introduction to Children's Hearings

215

169

Child Protection: Child Development, Trauma and Infant Mental Health

348

162

Child Protection: Children with Disabilities

232

171

Child Protection: Communicating with Children

316

237

Child Protection: Domestic Abuse

405

256

Child Protection: Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD)

382

279

Child Protection: Neglect

912

641

Child Protection: The Vulnerability of Babies

193

156

Child Protection: Case Note Recording

177

104

Course name
Child Protection: Keeping Children Safe Online

4.15

In addition, virtual training sessions are now well established. The training calendar
to June 2021 is available on the Child Protection Committee website child protection
training Each training course generates participant feedback which informs the
delivery and content going forward. The Child Protection Committee commissioned
an external review of two courses by Dr Duncan Helm, which was presented to the
Subcommittee in January 2020 and is included as Appendix 2. This illustrates the
positive impact which these courses have had, as well as suggesting areas for
improvement which have been taken forward.

4.16

Council colleagues, including elected members can access public protection
training through Cecil e-learning. Recommended e-learning courses are
4.16.1 Public Protection – this course provides and overview of key child and
adult protection legislation and policy
4.16.2 Key Messages for Child Protection: COVID 19 – this course provides an
introduction to local referral processes if you are concerned about a child
who may be at risk of harm.
4.16.3 Assessment, Outcomes and Language of Child Protection – this course
offers an introductory look at the processes of assessment, as well as
considering recommendations made in significant case reviews.

6

Page 140

4.17

There are several other courses which cover specific topics which may be of
interest, including neglect, domestic abuse and online safety.

Whistleblowing
4.18 The 2021/22 Internal Audit draft plan includes an audit on Implementation of Historic
Whistleblowing Recommendations. This will involve review of a sample of
outcomes from concluded whistleblowing recommendations to confirm that they
have been effectively implemented and sustained and will include the full population
of child protection whistleblowing recommendations.
4.19

Any potential findings and recommendations raised in the external whistleblowing
review will be reviewed by Internal Audit in future plan years to confirm that they
have been effectively implemented and sustained.

4.20

The outcomes of both audits will be presented to the Governance Risk and Best
Value Committee and then referred to Education, Children and Families
Committee. These committees can consider any ward callings, or callings to any
other elected members as appropriate.

5.

Next Steps

5.1

This report is provided for information and reflects the ongoing work across the city
to ensure robust multi-agency child protection procedures are in place. The Child
Protection Committee and Chief Officers’ Group continue to have oversight and
monitor closely any changes in patterns or developments through robust reporting
arrangements.

5.2

We can confirm that Whistleblowing outcomes regarding any matters relating to
child protection will go to Governance Risk and Best Value Committee as normal
and then onto the Education Children and Families Committee.

6.

Financial impact

6.1

The Child Protection Committee is funded by an inter-agency tripartite budget, with
contributions from the City of Edinburgh Council, Police Scotland and NHS Lothian.
All work referred to above and in Appendix 2 is resourced from within this budget.
As such there is no additional financial impact identified.

7.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1

The work of the Child Protection Committee is closely aligned with the Edinburgh
Children’s Partnership via the priorities within the Children’s Services Plan. This
ensures there is connectivity between the aspirations for children, young people
and their families across these strategic forums.
7

Page 141

7.2

The views of children, young people and their families are central to the continuous
improvement of child protection services. Participation and Engagement, including
with stakeholders, is one of the themes within the Child Protection Improvement
Plan. The Child Protection Committee will continue to actively consult with
stakeholders going forward.

7.3

Relevant documents regarding the Child Protection Committee, including the
Annual Report and the interagency training calendar, are available on the Council
website which is accessible by any member of the public.

7.4

There are no health and safety, governance, compliance, or regulatory implications.

8.

Background reading/external references

8.1

Edinburgh Child Protection Annual Report

9.

Appendices

9.1

Appendix 1 – Minimum Child Protection Dataset Report to Quarter 1 2020/21

9.2

Appendix 2 - Evaluation of the Impact of Edinburgh Child Protection Committee
Training

8

Page 142

Minimum Child Protection Dataset Report
to
Quarter 1 2020/21
(end of October 2020)

Page 143

1

Edinburgh Child Protection Committee
CHILD PROTECTION INDICATORS

QUARTERLY REPORT: covering the period
Q4 2017/18 to Q1 2020/21

INTRODUCTION
This report contains charts, tables and scrutiny questions to
support analysis of the Minimum Dataset for Child
Protection Committees. Some further local indicators have
been included to enhance this set, such as the number of
Child Welfare Concerns and the number of eIRDs.

This is the third report produced and covers the period from
August 2017 to October 2020.

Page 144

HEADLINE SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY LEVELS
The selected indicators below (number of children subject to
initial/pre-birth Child Protection Case Conferences, newly
registered, on the Register, and referred on non-offence
grounds) provide an overview of activity levels.

HEADLINE MESSAGES
The Committee is aware of the sustained downward trend
regarding numbers of children whose names are placed on
the Child Protection Register. Nationally, Edinburgh sits below
the national average for the rate of children per 1,000 subject
to Child Protection Registration. Previous analysis considered
by the Child Protection Committee has highlighted that formal
child protection processes – for example Case Conferences are working well to manage and reduce risk. Ongoing
engagement with education staff is being carried out to
enhance our understanding of trends identified in the previous
report.
Over the last two quarters, there have been increased
numbers of IRDs, with Child Welfare Concerns stabilising at a
higher level than previous years. Further detail is provided on
page 2.
It should also be noted that a small increase in Child
Protection Register figures is due to a decrease in
deregistrations, rather than an increase in registrations.
Further detail is provided on page 4.

2
CHILD WELFARE CONCERNS AND INTER-AGENCY
REFERRAL DISCUSSIONS
Number of Child Welfare Concerns received by Social
Care Direct and eIRDs initiated for children
Analysis and Commentary
There has been a general reduction in both Child Welfare
Concerns (CWCs) and eIRDs across 2017/18 with levels being
more stable across 2018/19 to Q1 2019/20. Over the period
of the coronavirus pandemic (Q3 2019/20 – Q1 2020/21) we
see an increased level of CWCs, which is in line with levels
prior to the reporting period.

Page 145

We previously noted the number of IRDs in Q2 & Q3 2019/20
were at their lowest levels to date. However these figures
have since increased, mirroring the increase in CWCs. Any
divergence between the levels of CWCs and IRDs has
narrowed significantly in the most recent quarter.

Source: Social Work IT System & eIRD multi-agency system

Implications for the Child Protection Committee
It is requested that the CPC continues to monitor these
indicators. The data provided gives some reassurance that,
despite the pandemic, there remains a high level of child
protection activity in line with numbers of CWC and IRD prior
to the reporting period.

Scrutiny questions to support analysis of the data:

• How do the numbers for these two indicators relate?
• Are there any differences in the changes over time
between the two indicators?
• What impact could changes in the levels here have on
later stages in the Child Protection process?

3
INITIAL AND PRE-BIRTH CHILD PROTECTION CASE
CONFERENCES
Number of Children Subject to Initial and Pre-Birth
Child Protection Case Conference, and Conversion Rate
of Children to Registration

Page 146

Analysis and Commentary
There has been a reduction in the number of children subject
to an Initial or Pre-Birth CPCC through 2018/19 and 2019/20.
These have settled in the most recent four quarters at a lower
level than previous. The fact that the lowest figure of 41
children subject to CPCC predates the coronavirus pandemic
suggests that these trends are not related to any impact of
restrictions and rather reflect a continuation of the previously
established pattern.
The reasonably high and stable conversion rate from CPCC to
Registration was previously noted and is maintained.
However, with reference to the previous page, where we have
seen an increase in IRDs over the previous two quarters, this
has not translated into more CPCCs.
Implications for the Child Protection Committee
It is requested that the CPC notes the data above and agrees
to continue monitoring of these indicators. The CPC should be
alert to any change in the conversion rate from number of
IRDs to CPCC in the coming months, which may thereafter
merit further scrutiny if a trend is evident.

Source: Social Work IT System

Scrutiny questions to support analysis of the data:

• How do the number of children subject to conference
compare to the number of children subject to earlier
stages of the Child Protection process (e.g. number of
children subject to concerns received by Social Work,
number of children subject to eIRD)?
• What is the conversion rate from Conference to
Registration telling us – e.g. about thresholds?
• What are the reasons when children subject to conference
are not registered; and are the needs of these children
being met?

4
CHILD PROTECTION REGISTER, REGISTRATIONS, DEREGISTRATIONS AND RE-REGISTRATIONS
Number of Children (including Pre-Birth) on the Child
Protection Register, New Registrations, DeRegistrations, and (see table) Re-Registrations within 18
months of de-registration
Analysis and Commentary
The steady reduction in numbers on the Register reached a
low of 95 in Q2 2019/20 before increasing to 114 in Q1
2020/21. This is not due to more registrations but rather a
decrease in de-registrations.

Page 147

The Quality Assurance Subcommittee have noted that this
may reflect a reluctance to remove children’s names from the
Child Protection Register over the pandemic. Further input
and comment have been sought around this point from the
Children and Young People’s Review Team who chair CPCCs.
The number of re-registrations is small and so should be
treated with some caution and no trend is evident.
Those children whose names are on the Child Protection
Register are monitored and reported at the 18-month point.
This is subject to separate reporting, but it should be noted
that very few children reach this threshold.
Implications for the Child Protection Committee
It is requested that the CPC notes the data above and agrees
to continue monitoring of these indicators, with particular
focus on the level of de-registrations.

Source: Social Work IT System

ReRegistrations

2017/
18

Q4

2018/19
Q1

Q2

Q3

2019/20
Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

18 months
5
4
7
6
4
11
9
2
Source: Social Work IT System (rolling six-month figure to quarter end)

Scrutiny questions to support analysis of the data:

Q4
8

• What are the characteristics of the children newly, re- and
de-registered – and are they changing over time?
• For re-registrations, what has changed in their lives since
de-registration, and what support(s) did they receive
following de-registration?
• For children currently on the Child Protection Register,
how long have they been on the Register?

2020/
21

Q1
11

5
CHARACTERISTICS OF OUR VULNERABLE CHILDREN
AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Age of children registered in each quarter

Age of Children and Young People at Registration
Analysis and Commentary
The low numbers involved in this chart can show fluctuations
so should be borne in mind when analysing.
Q1 2020/21 shows a notable low of seven unborn children
registered. One possible factor for this may be a reduction in
home visits during the pandemic, resulting in less
identification of risk in pregnancy.

Page 148

An increase in 11–15 year olds is evident. This may be due to
some children in this age group being referred to Royal
Hospital for Children and Young People for alcohol related
issues where previously they would have been managed via
adult hospital services.
Both of these figures only relate to one quarter and thus
should not be treated of evidence of an emerging trend as
yet.

Implications for the Child Protection Committee
It is requested that the CPC notes the data above and agrees
to continue monitoring of these indicators.

Source: Social Work IT System (16-17 year olds not presented)

Scrutiny questions to support analysis of the data:

• What factors explain any change(s) in the age profile? For
example, improved awareness and identification of
concerns among age-specific workforces; impact of a
recent Significant Case Review; impact of wider social,
economic or service-related factors; etc.?
• Does local service provision reflect the age profile (and
development stage needs) of newly registered children?

6
Concerns recorded for Children and Young People at
Registration
Analysis and Commentary
The number of concerns recorded per child and the selection
of specific concerns varies across Scotland.
Concerns recorded for domestic abuse have decreased in the
last two quarters. In addition, the average level of parental
mental health concerns are much lower this year as compared
to the average previously.
Implications for the Child Protection Committee

Page 149

It is requested that the CPC notes the data above and agrees
to continue monitoring of these indicators. The Reviewing
Officers, who are responsible for the recording of concerns,
have been consulted on this point and are satisfied that
internal processes for feedback and discussion are in place to
support consistent decision making.

2017/18

2018/19

Edinburgh

Edin.

Scotland

Edin.

Scotland

Q3
2019/
20

Q4
2019/
20

Q1
2020/
21

Child Placing
Themselves at Risk

1%

2%

2%

5%

2%

0%

0%

CSE

0%

0%

2%

1%

2%

4%

0%

Domestic Abuse

50%

37%

40%

41%

45%

31%

35%

Emotional Abuse

30%

39%

26%

40%

5%

31%

14%

Neglect

26%

39%

44%

41%

33%

26%

33%

Non-Engaging Family

7%

25%

8%

27%

7%

8%

9%

Parental Alcohol
Misuse

7%

19%

18%

23%

7%

18%

5%

Parental Drug Misuse

28%

26%

27%

28%

14%

23%

23%

Parental Mental
Health Problems

26%

33%

45%

34%

12%

28%

28%

Physical Abuse

32%

21%

29%

25%

31%

18%

30%

Sexual Abuse

3%

7%

1%

9%

0%

26%

0%

Other (including
Trafficking)

4%

15%

5%

17%

2%

5%

5%

42

39

43

Total Number of
Registrations

285

180

Scrutiny questions to support analysis of the data:

• What factors explain any change(s) in the concerns profile?
For example, genuine emergent concerns, training on
specific concern(s) leading to increased identification,
changes in how concerns are recorded, or impact of a
recent Significant Case Review?
• Does local service provision reflect the most prevalent
concerns identified?
• To what extent are parental concerns (e.g. domestic abuse;
parental drug or alcohol misuse) shared with other Public
Protection groupings to inform wider service planning?

7
SCOTTISH CHILDREN’S REPORTER ADMINISTRATION
DATA
Children and Young People in the Children’s Hearing
System – Referrals and (see table) Child Protection
Orders Granted
Analysis and Commentary
The number of children referred on non-offence grounds has
reduced significantly across the reporting period. Offence
referrals are relatively stable aside from a reduction in the
last two quarters. Edinburgh is in line with national trends.

Page 150

Referral rates have reduced further in the last two quarters
and the impact of COVID19 skews these figures making it
hard to identify any trends. Only urgent work was processed
by SCRA during this period with non-urgent referrals, that
may have led to a hearing, not being progressed. In addition
SCRA have recently launched a new IT system which may
further contribute to any changes in the figures.
Implications for the Child Protection Committee
It is requested that the CPC notes the data above and agrees
to continue monitoring of these indicators. Should a further
sustained trend be evidenced, the Committee is asked to
endorse further evaluation and assurance activity.

Source: SCRA

CPOs
Granted
Source: SCRA

2017/
18

2018/19

2019/20

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

9

14

1

7

11

9

10

12

9

Scrutiny questions to support analysis of the data:

• What are the sources of the referrals to the Reporter
(including whether from Child Protection Case
Conference)?
• What are the detailed grounds for the referrals?
• How many and/or what proportion of Child Protection
Orders were applied for but not granted? What were the
reasons for them not being granted?

2020/
21

Q1
15

8
CHILD PROTECTION PROCESSES TIMESCALES IN THE
NATIONAL GUIDANCE FOR CHILD PROTECTION IN
SCOTLAND
Analysis and Commentary
There is variance across the reporting period in relation to the
percentage of ICPCCs held within timescale. ICPCCs held
within timescales have been under 80% for the last three
quarters. The CYPRT have been approached for comment and
to identify any barriers to achieving this timescale.
Smaller numbers are involved for Pre-birth CPCCs
(approximately 50 per year compared to 100 for Initial) and
so the percentage can be more variable. Over the last two
quarters, timescales for PBCPCC have been achieved at a
higher level.

Page 151

Implications for the Child Protection Committee
It is requested that the CPC notes the data above and agrees
to continue monitoring of these indicators, particularly if there
is any decrease in timescales being achieved.

Source: Social Work IT System

Scrutiny questions to support analysis of the data:

• Where timescales are being met and/or are improving,
what factors are contributing to this?
• Where timescales are not being met, what are the reasons
for this? For example, are they due to delays that are in
the child’s interests, or due to the availability of
resources?
• When are subsequent Core Group meetings and Review
Conferences scheduled, and are these being held as
planned?
• What is the quality, and impact, of the Child’s Plans
developed at these meetings?

9
REPORTER DECISIONS WITHIN 50 WORKING DAYS OF
REFERRAL RECEIPT
Analysis and Commentary
There was generally a lower level of performance through
2018/19 and 2019/20 compared to 2017/18 where figures
were above 90%.
Recent lower figures are impacted by COVID-19 as SCRA
moved to business continuity and only urgent working was
being progressed during March. This is expected again from
January 2021 and so the improvement in Q1 2020/21 is not
anticipated to be maintained.

Page 152

The delayed cases are now being monitored through weekly
data reports and are being targeted to reduce any further
delay.

Implications for the Child Protection Committee
It is requested that the CPC notes the data above and agrees
to continue monitoring of these indicators.

50 days
Reporter
Decision

2017/
18

2018/19

2020/
21

2019/20

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

89

82

78

72

76

83

74

72

66

83

Source: SCRA (percentage of decisions within 50 working days of referral)

Scrutiny questions to support analysis of the data:

• Given the national target that 78% of decisions are made
by the Reporter within 50 working days of referral receipt,
how do timescales locally compare?
• Where the target is being met and/or is improving, what
factors are contributing to this?
• Where the target is not being met, what are the reasons
for this? For example, are they due to delays that are in
the child’s interests, or due to the availability of
resources?

10

CAUSE FOR CONCERN RECORDS OPENED – NHS
LOTHIAN
Analysis and Commentary
This is a new element of the dataset – an outline of this
process is provided as Appendix 3. Following previous reports
of the dataset, we have commenced collation of NHS cause
for concern records. This is an attempt to gather additional
data around activity which precedes formal child protection
processes for pre-school aged children.

Page 153

Implications for the Child Protection Committee
The Committee is asked to note the inclusion of this new data
and agree to further monitoring.
Source: NHS Lothian

Scrutiny questions to support analysis of the data:
• How does the rate of Cause for Concerns relate to IRDs, CP
registrations etc?
• What can this data tell us about children’s wellbeing prior to
formal child protection procedures?

11
APPENDIX 1: CHILD PROTECTION RATE
The charts below show the number on the Child Protection Register as a rate per
1000 children aged 0-15.

Page 154

12
APPENDIX 2: CHILD PROTECTION PROCESS
The diagram below shows the children protection process, noting that many of the
Minimum Dataset indicators report on key stages of this process.

Page 155

13
APPENDIX 3: Summary of CFC record process in NHS Lothian
A Cause for Concern (CFC) record for a child in NHS Lothian is a system that
identifies pre-school children, including unborn babies, who have been assessed as
being at risk. A CFC record should be opened for a child if certain criteria are met or
after assessment, one or more factors are impacting on the safety, health or/and
development of the child. These could be parental and/or environmental factors. The
primary professionals using this system are Health Visitors (HV) and Family Nurses
(FN).
All HVs and FNs will undertake case supervision for each child with an open CFC
record with a Child Protection Advisor on a minimum of a 6 monthly basis as set out
by the NHS Lothian Child Protection Case Supervision Policy.
For example, all pre-school children who are on the CPR, are Looked After, have
been to CPCC irrespective of outcome will all have an open CFC record. The majority
of children with an open CFC record do not have current child protection processes
in place. There are between 2000 and 2400 children in NHS Lothian who have an
open CFC record, relating to the time of year. When a child moves onto school, the
CFC record is closed automatically even where risk remains as the child is attending
school and the balance of care shifts to education as the universal service. Those
children will be highlighted to the School Nurses and Education Staff although most
will be known to education through ongoing children’s plans.
Otherwise, CFC records are closed when risks are removed or mitigated and the
child is safe with their needs being met. Supports may still be in place. CFC records
are often open before and after a child experiences child protection processes.
HVs will usually have increased contact with the identified child(ren) and their
families to offer supports and interventions to reduce risk. Home visiting frequency
and patterns will be dependent on need. The health professionals work
collaboratively with any other involved health, social, educational and/or 3rd sector
professionals.
On TRAK, the universal electronic recording system in NHS Lothian, an open CFC
record is depicted by an icon that is visible to all TRAK users. This is helpful for
example if a child is attending hospital or other appointments. (There is also icon
denoting that a child is Looked After and an alert if they are on the Child Protection
Register).

Page 156

Evaluation of the impact of Edinburgh Child Protection Committee training
Summary
This research was commissioned by the Edinburgh Child Protection Committee (ECPC). The
Committee is a partnership of organisations including:
•
•
•
•

The City of Edinburgh Council
NHS Lothian
Police Scotland
Voluntary sector and partner agencies

The need for child protection training (both at single agency level and inter-agency level) is
recognised by ECPC (ECPC 2018). The ECPC Learning and Development Sub-committee has
responsibility for commissioning and assuring the quality and delivery of interagency
training and, as part of their annual report (ECPC 2018) the Committee noted its plans to
commission an independent evaluation of inter-agency child protection training to help
provide insight into the impact and effectiveness of that training on practice.
This is the report of the evaluation of two Edinburgh Child Protection Committee training
courses delivered between September 2018 and June 2019:
Course 1: Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes
Course 2: Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Raising
The study was carried out by an independent researcher from the University of Stirling
between July and December 2019. The key question which the research sought to answer
was "What is the impact of these child protection courses on practice?" To address the
question, data were collected from participants through individual course evaluation forms
and through semi-structured interviews with a representative sample of attendees. Through
completion of an online survey, data were also gathered from managers whose staff attend
these courses. Thematic analysis of the data was carried out to identify common themes
and patterns with regard to the impact of the courses. Findings were reviewed using an
adaptation (Carpenter 2005) of Kirkpatrick's (1967) framework for the evaluation of
professional education.
Key findings are as follows:
Participants' reactions to both courses were overwhelmingly positive and they found the
courses to be interesting and informative. Delivery was very effective and content was felt
to be appropriate to most. Some data suggested that the Interagency Risk Assessment and
Child Protection Processes Course could be developed further to meet the learning needs of
professionals working in the third sector even more effectively.
The courses were designed to support critical reflection on practice and participants
reported development in their understanding of children, young people and adults who had
experienced adversity and maltreatment. The stated learning outcomes of the courses may

Page 157

1

benefit from revision to more accurately reflect the strengths apparent in supporting
integration of knowledge in practice.
Participants and managers of those who had attended the courses felt that both courses
have had a positive impact on practice. A common theme was that participants felt more
confident in engaging in child welfare and protection processes as a result of their learning.
Participants are likely to have enhanced awareness of the context for practice, and fuller
understanding of child welfare and protection systems and processes. Accounts of the
benefits included the acquisition of new subject knowledge and additional benefits of
meeting colleagues from different agencies and geographic areas as a consequence of the
inter-agency mix of participants. The courses may impact positively on practice through
more confident and assertive reporting of concerns and improved communication between
professionals and with service users.
Limitations in the data available and the scope of the research design mean that it is not
possible to say with any level of confidence what impact either course has had directly on
outcomes for service users. Although practitioners were able to report on course content
and recall of key learning, further research will be required to establish the ultimate value of
the courses in terms of their capacity to improve the lives of children and families affected
by adversity.
Recommendations are tentative, given the limitations of the study, but suggest that both
courses continue in their current formats with consideration given to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

pre-course selection and preparation systems to ensure that attendees benefit from
learning opportunities at an appropriate time for their professional development
reviewing the stated learning outcomes for both courses to ensure that they are
effectively focused on the skills required to put knowledge into practice
suggested developments in pedagogy in the Interagency Risk Assessment and Child
Protection Processes course
strengthening learning opportunities for participants from the voluntary sector
further developing mechanisms to support the embedding and ongoing review of
learning in practice
reviewing course evaluation sheets to gather optimal data course developments
and future evaluations

Page 158

2

Main Report
Introduction
In 2018 Edinburgh Child Protection Committee (ECPC) commissioned the University of
Stirling to carry out an evaluation of two of its training programmes. Dr Duncan Helm of the
University's Faculty of Social Sciences carried out this research in 2019 with support from
the ECPC Lead Officer and administrative colleagues. The two courses being evaluated are
delivered to a range of professionals working with children, young people and their families
who may be subject to concerns for child wellbeing and protection. They are:
•
•

Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes
Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Raising

The Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes course has been provided
across the City of Edinburgh since 2005. It is a Level 2 course designed to meet the needs of
professionals who have regular, direct involvement with children, young people and their
families and who are likely to be contributing to assessment of needs and risk, child’s
planning meetings, child protection case conferences and core groups. The aim of the
course is to promote a clearer understanding of agency roles and responsibilities within the
context of child protection. It is delivered locally over two days by tutors from a range of
settings:
•
•
•
•

Employee Development Officer - Child Protection, Children & Families Service
Child Protection Learning & Development Lead, NHS Lothian
Police Officer, Edinburgh Public Protection Unit
Reviewing Officer, Children & Young Persons Reviewing Team, Children & Families
Service

Learning outcomes are statements that describe the knowledge and skills that a 'typical'
student should acquire through participation in a course. They should make it clear what a
person will be able to know and do on completion of the course. The learning outcomes
published for the Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes course are as
follows:
•
•
•
•
•

Define national and local context for child protection
Describe roles of agencies involved in child protection
Know the child protection processes and procedures
Explain concepts of risk assessment and implications for planning
Apply key principles for the appropriate sharing of information.

The Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes course was last evaluated
in 2010. The 2010 evaluation was carried out by members of the ECPC Training subcommittee and an independent consultant with a remit to,

Page 159

3

“evaluate the learning outcomes of the training and to investigate the extent the
training is put into practice by participants” (City of Edinburgh CPC 2010, p3).
The 2010 evaluation included a literature review and data from interviews with workers
who attended the training and a focus group of managers whose staff members had
attended the training. The main recommendation of the report was
"...that the inter-agency training continues in its present format and that
consideration is given to further and more in-depth analysis of the benefits for
practitioners and the impact on outcomes for children." (ECPCP 2010 p14).
The Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Raising course is delivered over 1 day by trainers
from Barnardos and NHS Learning and Development. It is a level 1 (awareness raising)
course and has been delivered in Edinburgh since 2016 and has not previously been subject
to formal external evaluation. Learning outcomes for this course are stated as follows:
•
•
•

Explain the key terminology and definitions in relation to CSE
Identify and describe the key vulnerability factors, risk indicators and spectrum of
experiences in relation to CSE
Recognise the importance of information sharing and multi-agency partnership in
responding to children and young people

Research question
Previous evaluations and reviews of both courses had indicated that content and delivery
were appropriate and satisfactory. What remained unknown was what effect the courses
would have on the practice behaviour of participants as a consequence of their learning. Do
these courses result in participants having higher levels of skills and knowledge, and do
participants practice differently as a consequence? Therefore, the key question which this
current evaluation sought to answer was:
"What is the impact of these two courses on the practice of participants?"
To help address the overall research question, sub-questions were developed:
•
•
•
•

what do participants remember and value most from the courses?
To what extent do participants think that they have achieved the stated course
learning objectives?
What evidence can be found that may indicate the impact of the courses on practice
behaviour?
What evidence can be found that may indicate the impact of the courses on
outcomes for service users?

A research project was therefore designed to gather data so that relevant evidence of
impact could be examined in answer to these questions. Full details of the methods, findings
and conclusions are presented in the body of the report.

Page 160

4

Structure of Report
This report is presented in three sections.
Part 1 provides details of the research design, including methods used for data collection,
coding, data analysis and strengths and limitations of the chosen design.
Part 2 considers the course-specific findings for each course separately, identifying key
themes and messages emerging from the data in relation to the unique learning objectives
and learner experiences on each course.
Part 3 of the report identifies cross-cutting themes before offering an analysis of the overall
findings and their implications for Edinburgh Child Protection Committee and future course
development and provision

Page 161

5

Part 1 - Research Design
The aim of this research was to evaluate the effectiveness of two courses of professional
education and impact of learning on participants and on their practice. A range of different
research designs may be employed to evaluate the impact of professional education and all
have different strengths and weaknesses. The key designs and their relative merits and
drawbacks are summarised below:
Design

Strengths and Weaknesses

Follow-up (post test): single group

Useful as formative feedback to the trainers
but cannot inform outcomes

‘Before and after’: single group

Quite commonly used but outcomes cannot
be ascribed exclusively to the training
intervention

Post-test: two groups

Requires random allocation of students to
different conditions.

Pre-test, post-test: two groups

Natural comparison groups can be used.
Random allocation preferable.

Repeated measures, two groups

Students can be randomly assigned to two
groups, both of which get the intervention
at different times. But requires three
measurements.

Times series: one group

Requires multiple, unobtrusive
observations rather than formal tests.

Single-subject experiments

Requires repeated measures of the same
person before, during and after the
intervention. Small samples.
Adapted from Carpenter 2005

The most common way to evaluate training is through the single group follow-up design;
usually through completion of an individual participant's evaluation sheet. While it can help
to inform course developments, it is very limited as a tool to evaluate the impact of courses
as there is no information available about the level of participants' skills and knowledge
prior to the course and it does not provide direct evidence of the outcomes of learning.
More robust designs, such as those using two test groups to afford comparison, or those
measuring levels of skills and knowledge before and after training, are recommended but
also require more planning and are more resource-intensive for research.
More strongly experimental designs, including single-group tests and multi-group tests,
were not feasible in this evaluation, both in terms of the resource implications and available

Page 162

6

sources of data. As the main aim of the research was to evaluate the impact of the courses
on practice, additional data was sought which could establish what difference, if any, the
courses made to professional practice. Kirkpatrick's initial work (1967) and subsequent
studies (e.g. Barr 2000, Freeth et al. 2002, Carpenter 2005) have informed a taxonomy of
outcomes of educational programmes which helps to clarify what kind of outcomes are to
be measured in evaluation:

Level 1: Learners’ Reaction – These outcomes relate to the participants’ views of their
learning experience and satisfaction with the training.
Level 2a: Modification in Attitudes and Perceptions –
Outcomes here relate to changes in attitudes or perceptions towards service users and
carers, their problems and needs, circumstances, care and treatment.
Level 2b: Acquisition of Knowledge and Skills – This relates to the concepts, procedures
and principles of working with service users and carers. For skills this relates to the
acquisition of thinking/problem solving, assessment and intervention skills.
Level 3: Changes in Behaviour - This level covers the implementation of learning from an
educational programme in the workplace, prompted by modifications in attitudes or
perceptions, or the application of newly acquired knowledge and skills
Level 4a: Changes in Organisational Practice – This relates to wider changes in the
organisation/delivery of care, attributable to an education programme.
Level 4b: Benefits to Users and Carers – This final level covers any improvements in the
well-being and quality of life of people who are using services, and their carers, which
may be attributed to an education programme.
The approach taken in this evaluation was, by necessity, limited to a post-test only design
and this, in turn, limits the extent to which higher-level learning outcomes (such as changes
in practice behaviour) can be assessed. The courses to be evaluated had been delivered
previously and evaluation data had been collected from all attendees on completion of the
teaching input. While this data may be of limited use in itself, the researcher combined the
data from evaluation forms with two further data sources to allow a level of triangulation
between self-reporting on learning and accounts of impact from attendees' managers. This
design also facilitated consideration of the impact of training over time as participants and
managers could reflect on changes in behaviour since the course that may be a
consequence of learning.
Course evaluations, completed by individual attendees, can provide data at level 1 of
Carpenter’s taxonomy but, to go beyond the immediate reaction and to begin to understand
the impact of training on skills, knowledge and values as enacted in practice, further sources
of data are required. In addition to course evaluations, data were gathered at follow-up
interviews with a representative sample of course participants. In these semi-structured
interviews, respondents were asked to evaluate the impact that the course had on them in

Page 163

7

relation to the stated and specific learning outcomes of the course. As self-reporting can be
unreliable and subject to self-confirming bias (Tversky and Kahneman 1974) respondents
were asked to consider how others may have experienced changes in their practice
behaviour attributable to their learning. Finally, managers of staff who have taken the two
courses were asked for their views on the impact of training. Taken together, these three
sources of data offer some protection against self-reporting bias and may provide insight
into changes in practice behaviour beyond declarative knowledge i.e. someone may be able
to name a relevant theory of research finding but this does not mean that this declared
knowledge will make a difference to their actual practice.
Data collection
Three sources of data were selected for inclusion in this evaluation
1. individual participants' course evaluations
2. interviews with a representative sample of participants
3. an online survey completed by managers of participants
Individual participant evaluations - these are completed at the end of each course and
provide basic data on the professional role of the attendee and their comments in response
to questions about the quality of the course and their learning. (see appendix 1 for
template). For the period of review (September 2018 to June 2019) 28 evaluations were
provided for the course on Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Raising and 139 evaluations
for the course on Interagency Risk Assessment and Child protection Processes. Because
almost all attendees complete this evaluation sheet the data provided can be considered
representative of the larger group of people who have attended these courses in their
current form. Copies of ECPC evaluation forms are held by the CPC administrator and
relevant evaluations for these courses (within the stated time period) were collated by the
CPC administrator for the researcher.
Semi-structured interviews - People who had taken the courses in the previous round of
delivery (September 2018 to June 2019) were contacted via the CPC administrator and
invited to take part in individual semi-structured interviews. They were provided with
information about the research (see appendix 2) and consent form (see appendix 3) to be
signed and returned before taking part in the research. Those who agreed to take part were
then contacted by the researcher, through the CPC administrator, and invited to select a
time/date for interview. The following numbers of participants from each course delivery
agreed to take part in the research:

Sector

Child Sexual Exploitation
Awareness Raising

Interagency Risk
Assessment and Child
Protection Processes

Health

6

15

Social Work

4

0

Page 164

8

Education

3

1

Voluntary Organisations and 1
Army

19

Police

1

0

Housing

0

1

Total

15

36

Interview times were arranged using Doodle Poll and a choice of 4 different venues was
given to minimise any difficulties which participation may cause. Uptake of the poll was slow
initially, prompting the need for further emails from the CPC encouraging responses.
Ultimately, 6 people were interviewed. Of those who had taken the Child Sexual
Exploitation Awareness Raising course, interviews were carried out with:
•
•
•

1 Health Visitor
1 Child and Family Social Worker
1 Deputy Head Teacher

From the Inter-agency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes course, interviews
were carried out with:
•
•
•

1 Senior Coordinator for volunteers at a third sector organisation
1 Housing Support Worker
1 Mental Health (Addictions) Nurse

Interviews lasted between 45 - 60 minutes and, with the consent of participants, were audio
recorded.
Online managers' questionnaire - Managers who had staff attending the two courses during
the period September 2018 to June 2019 were invited to take part in the research by
completing an online questionnaire. Information about the research project (see appendix
4) an online consent form (appendix 3) were provided and consent gained before managers
completed the questionnaire. The questionnaire was administered using JISC Online
Surveys. This particular platform is GDPR compliant and ensures that data management on
this project continued to meet the ethical standards set out in the University of Stirling
ethical approval process.
Data analysis
Data from previous evaluations and managers' questionnaires included some quantitative
data from Lickert scales and some qualitative data. Data from Lickert scales was reduced for
presentation in chart form and qualitative data was subject to thematic analysis to identify
common themes and patterns of meaning emerging from across responses (Bryman 2016).
Interviews were recorded and these recordings were then transcribed in full for thematic

Page 165

9

data analysis. In addition to providing an accurate account of responses, full transcription
allows for the direct reproduction of raw data (participants' own words) within this research
report to illustrate and clarify points raised in analysis. Because of the low number of
responses, data collected in the online survey has been replicated in full in this report and
coded by the researcher alongside data from evaluations and interviews.
Limitations
Within the confines of the existing data and costs of research, it was not possible to carry
out a "before and after" evaluation so it is not possible to say with significant reliability
whether the outcomes identified in the data can be directly attributed to the courses. It was
also not possible to speak to service users to better understand the ultimate benefit of the
training in terms of outcomes for children, young people and families.
The numbers of people who agreed to take part in interviews and who completed the
managers’ questionnaire were ultimately too low to allow broader generalisations to be
drawn from the findings. However, the spread of roles and professions represented in the
interviews has ensured that data collected were representative in respect of the impact of
the courses across a broad range of professional perspectives.
Self-reporting is considered to be a relatively low-reliability indicator of impact of training
on practice. Attendees’ declarative knowledge (e.g. their ability to recall course content)
may or may not be matched with consequential changes in practice behaviour. This
weakness was countered by questions in the interview designed to elicit data on how others
(e.g. colleagues, managers and clients) may have perceived changes in practice from the
course. However, this is highly dependent on the attendee receiving such feedback in the
first instance and is still a form of self-reporting.
The managers' questionnaire was completed anonymously and it was not possible to link
their comments to a specific agency or profession. This was not particularly problematic for
subsequent data analysis as the overall response rate was too low for conclusions to be
drawn from this data set about learning outcomes for specific groups.

Page 166

10

Part 2- Findings
In this section of the report, findings will be considered for both courses separately. Findings
will be structured so that data from individual evaluations are considered first, followed by
data from the interviews and then data from manager's questionnaires. Key findings are
analysed for each course and cross-cutting themes are identified for fuller consideration and
conclusions in Part 3 of the report.
2.1 - Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes
2.1.1 - Findings - individual evaluations
1. Attendees were asked to rate the course for content and delivery
100
90
80
70
60
Content

50

Delivery

40
30
20
10
0

Poor

Good

Very Good

Excellent

These individual evaluations consistently indicated that attendees had found the course to
be a good learning experience. Although the evaluation form gave no place for qualitative
comment on these scales, many attendees gave specific comment elsewhere on the form
about the teaching skills and level of knowledge that the presenters had displayed.
2. Attendees were asked to list three things that they had learned from the course.
Across the evaluations, there was great variety in the points of learning which individuals
prioritised in their responses. However, the responses which were most prevalent were as
follows:
Learning about processes and systems - most respondents listed key learning in relation to
child welfare and protection processes and systems to support identification, assessment
and intervention in child abuse and neglect. Highest levels of response here were in learning
about referral processes and about Child Protection Case Conferences and Children's
Hearings (and the differences and connections between the two systems). Responses also

Page 167

11

indicated significant learning in relation to the working details of these processes and
systems such as expectations of attendees, functions of core group meetings and meaning
of terms such as "grounds of referral" to the Children's Reporter.
Interagency communication and collaboration - most prevalent here by a considerable
degree was learning about different roles in child protection. There was frequent specific
comment on having a raised awareness of the role of Police and appreciation of the scale
and complexity of the social work task in child protection. Next most prevalent was learning
about recording and communicating effectively when concerns are raised about a child or
young person. Significant numbers of attendees reported learning in relation to thresholds
and effective practice in raising and evidencing concerns.
Tools - Here, the highest recorded levels of response were in relation to learning about the
risk assessment matrix and (more generally) comment about tools for assessment and
identifying significant harm. After this, the most commonly reported area of learning was in
relation to the SHANARRI wellbeing indicators, chronologies and other resources for
assessment.
Policy and practice approaches - comments here were specifically in relation to the Safe
and Together approach and the Getting It Right approach. Within the second topic, some
more specific mention was made of learning about the Named Person.
Specific topics and issues - a number of attendees noted key learning in relation to distinct
subjects like coercive control or particular websites. Some also listed key learning in a
broader sense such as the significance of their reflections on practice for their future
practice.
3. Attendees were asked to list topics they felt were missing from the course that could
be included in the future?
Most responses were "nothing" or "don't know". The most significant specific topic deemed
to be missing was the perceived failure of the course to address the needs of attendees
from voluntary organisations. A number of people felt that the course was geared to
professionals in Health or Children's Services settings and that more information was
needed on what happens (and what expectations are) after a referral is made to Social Care
Direct. A number of responses indicated that more content relating to toolkits and further
resources would beneficial.
4. Attendees were asked to say in what way the course was appropriate or inappropriate
to their work
The common response construction here was to say that the course was/was not relevant
because the attendee's job did/did not, involve them working with children and young
people. For example, one responded
“Most info just not relevant to me as a don’t work in Health”
and one noted that the course was

Page 168

12

"Highly appropriate for HV" (Health Visiting)
Some people who were not working directly with children and young people felt that the
course gave them helpful contextual knowledge for potential future involvement in child
protection processes and for working with adults who had childhoods likely to have been
affected by adversity.
5 Attendees were asked what further learning needs they had identified for themselves as
a result of attending the course
Responses were commonly linked to the attendee's role. e.g. "I'm a support worker so..."
and commonly reflected a desire to learn more about specific topics or to gain confidence in
working with child protection systems. The list of topics for desired future learning was very
broad and it was not clear how these were linked to attendance at the course (e.g. Talking
Mats, adult protection, gender-based violence). A number of responses indicated planned
attendance at future training events.
6 Attendees were asked to rate how they would rate the session overall
100
90
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Poor

Good

Very Good

Excellent

Overall course ratings were slightly less enthusiastic then the initial comments on Content
and Delivery but were still overwhelmingly positive. Although there was no space in the
evaluation form for qualitative feedback, many attendees used the margins to offer thanks
to the presenters and to indicate how much they had enjoyed the course ("The training has
been fantastic" "Really enjoyed it" "great course"). One presenter was named in person on
several occasions when attendees commented on the quality of the course delivery
("fantastic presenting – you’re very engaging", "Inspiring!", "Made the two days really
interesting and easy to engage with".

Page 169

13

Analysis of individual evaluation data
Delivery - Positive comments about delivery were directed at specific presenters who were
valued for their ability to engage with attendees and present effectively. Developmental
feedback was directed mainly at the input from Police Scotland. This input clearly did
contribute to learning as many commented specifically on learning about the role of Police
in CP. However, several attendees noted that the input was perhaps over-long and less
engaging than others. “Bit death by PowerPoint” Please give Police a time limit”. Having
knowledgeable professionals involved in delivery is important for content but there can be
challenges in matching this expertise to equally high standards of teaching. Consideration
may be given to developing the Police input to vary the style of delivery and promote
deeper levels of learning. This might be achieved through approaches already used in other
sections such as case studies, use of video and practice-based reflective exercises.
Consideration should be given to how best to secure, maintain and develop the level of
pedagogical skill required in combination with professional knowledge to be able to deliver
this kind of course effectively.
Content - Delivery was by varied materials that supported a range of different learning
styles. This is a strength that should be built on. Case studies are effective tools for
promoting critical reflection on action (Schön 1991) and can support dialogue across
professional boundaries that can, in turn, support effective inter-professional working.
There is perhaps an opportunity here to develop these exercises so that the voluntary sector
is more strongly represented, both in terms of referral and ongoing role in support and
protection. The level of complexity appears to be appropriate to attendees as there were
very few negative comments about ability to engage with materials. Some commented that,
because of their role and experience, the course was a reminder rather than a provider of
knowledge. Selection processes can ensure that participants' learning needs are accurately
mapped to level and continual updating of the content ensures that it remains relevant to
practitioners, even when being taken as a repeat or "refresher".
Learning - Attendees mainly reported learning about organisational processes, risk
assessment practice/tools and roles in working together. This matches with the 4 stated
learning outcomes for the course, with more reporting learning about roles and processes
and fewer reporting learning on local context and risk assessment. Attendees reported
learning about the functions and differences between the child protection system and
Children's Hearings System, and their learning about the legal and policy basis underpinning
them (e.g. grounds of referral and timescales)
Impact - While most comments reflected the acquisition of procedural knowledge (the "how
to" of things like timescales and attendance at meetings) a significant minority reflected at a
deeper level on the importance of these structures and the significance of learning to their
own role now and in the future. Different levels of critical engagement with course content
is to be expected in a mixed cohort of learners but the Committee may wish to consider the
mix of surface and deep learning (Cooper 2005) in the course so that opportunities are built
into the delivery for participants to consider the "why" of practice as well as the "how".
Reflective exercises, already part of the course design, are opportunities to explore values
and tensions in practice from different professional perspectives. Attendees reflected
learning about process and this included important structures for inter-professional

Page 170

14

gathering and sharing information. There was a significant level of comment in evaluations
on the issue of language and communication. For example, one comment was about
"learning more about lingo" and others commented on learning what is needed to make an
effective "case" or referral to Social Care Direct. We are reminded that communication in
child protection is not just about transferring data but is about transferring meaning (White
and Featherstone 2005) and participants appear to have been able to use the shared
learning environment to consider this from their professional perspectives.
Missing topics - Few participants made comments on missing topics but a significant
minority reported concerns that course does not address the needs of the voluntary (or
“third”) sector sufficiently. Some felt that the course was variously too focused on Health or
Social Work but none commented on how this manifested or what could be done to
improve it. Consideration may be given to consultation with voluntary sector
representatives in reviewing the course materials so that this concern may be addressed in
terms of focus and content.
Appropriateness or inappropriateness of course to participants' work - Most responses
were structured to match “appropriate”/”inappropriate” to their role rather than content to
task e.g. “Most info just not relevant to me as a don’t work in Health” or "No contact with
children in my work so only helpful in own volunteering work". "very relevant to me as I
work with vulnerable families". Some reflected at a technical level i.e. it was appropriate
because they needed this knowledge in their role. To support deeper reflection, the
question could ask how learning from the course will inform their work.
Further learning needs - There was significant variation in responses to this question.
Responses included child development, trauma, talking mats, writing reports, COEP, Safer
families, Adult Protection, gender-based violence, emotional abuse, and neglect. It was not
clear what the links were between these identified learning needs and the course content. It
is possible that the question could be refined to gain more helpful data but some responses
appeared to more connected to individuals than the impact of the course. A number of
attendees commented on the motivation that the course had given them to study further
(either alone or via further courses) and they appear to have appreciated and benefitted
form the opportunity to identify further resources and learning opportunities during the
course.
Key findings for consideration
•
•
•
•
•

delivery was of a very high standard and improved pedagogy in the Police section of
the course may further enhance attendee's learning
attendees’ evaluations reflected learning outcomes effectively matched to the
learning objectives and course content.
course design included opportunities for critical reflection on the implications of
course content for practice
Stronger inclusion of voluntary sector perspectives in course content may enhance
the impact of learning for attendees outside of Health and Social Care.
Evaluation sheets may benefit from review to ensure most helpful data are being
collected

Page 171

15

2.1.2 - Findings - Managers Evaluations
7 responses were received from managers to questions about the impact of the Interagency
Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes course on their staff.
Q1. Understanding the national and local context for child protection
What impact has the course had in this area of your staff’s practice?
2.5

2

1.5

1

0.5

0

Worse

No impact

A little better

Clear improvement

Significant
improvement

Impact

This is quite a broad spread in relation to overall impact. Comments from managers
suggested that their perception of impact was linked to how experienced or inexperienced
the person attending the course was. For example, whether the course was "a refresher" or
" "Staff new to role so very useful".
Q2. Understanding the roles of agencies involved in child protection
What impact has the course had in this area of their practice?

Page 172

16

3.5
3
2.5
2
1.5
1
0.5
0

Worse

No impact

A little better

Clear improvement

Significant
improvement

Impact

Managers were more united in their responses here on "clear impact" of improvement.
Comments highlighted the perceived benefits of opportunities for networking and getting to
know colleagues across agencies.
Q3. Awareness of local child protection processes and procedures
What impact has the course had in this area of their practice?
3.5
3
2.5
2
1.5
1
0.5
0

Worse

No impact

A little better

Clear improvement

Significant
improvement

Impact

Managers were again positive about the impact of this course but no new qualitative
comment was offered.

Page 173

17

Q4. Understanding concepts of risk assessment and implications for planning
What impact has the course had on this aspect of their practice?
3.5
3
2.5
2
1.5
1
0.5
0

Worse

No impact

A little better

Clear improvement

Significant
improvement

Impact

Responses here were positive but slightly less so than in previous questions and this mirrors
the individual evaluations where staff were less clear about their learning with most
focusing on the referral and “escalation” process and fewer on their contribution to
assessment and planning in child protection.
Analysis of Managers' evaluations
Data gathered from this element of the research were limited due to the very low response
rate so only very tentative inferences can be drawn from them. Managers were of the view
that the course had a positive impact on their staff in terms of the stated learning
objectives. No new qualitative comment was offered in relation to impact of learning about
local child protection procedures and processes, despite this being a highly significant
learning outcomes for the course. However, comments elsewhere on the impact of both
courses clearly indicated perceived improvements in practice in relation to confidence and
assertiveness when working within these systems. Comments highlighted the need for
timely access to the course so that learning could be obtained when of highest value to
individuals. Managers also noted the important networking opportunities which the course
provided.
2.1.3 - Findings - Interviews
Respondents were asked to comment on their recall of key learning from the course. They
were invited to consider the impact of the course on them in relation to the stated learning
outcomes. They were also asked to comment on how they perceived the impact of the
training on their practice and if colleagues and managers had noticed any impact (see
appendix 5 for topic guide). Respondents were also asked to comment on any ways in which

Page 174

18

they think the course could be improved. As these were semi-structured interviews, there
was flexibility within the discussion to follow themes and concerns specific to individual
respondents.
When asked about the extent to which the course had helped them to address the stated
learning outcomes, the respondents tended to focus on information sharing and the
importance of not holding onto concerns individually. Respondents identified useful
learning about differing thresholds and how this can be linked to professional role:
" I think people that probably work in this sort of context on an everyday basis have a
better understanding of what real risks are but that maybe possibly you also get kind
of used to situations like that?"
They all felt that the course had been a positive influence on them. Those with less
experience in the role felt that they had learned the most and this included developments in
a range of areas such as better understanding of the impact of maltreatment and
backgrounds of trauma that many adult service users have. Some more experienced
practitioners had done the course before and could see how the content had evolved to
reflect new knowledge and match this to professional learning needs (e.g. in understanding
impact of neglect).
Respondents were modest in their estimation of the impact of the course on their practice
and there was recognition that a short course may only have limited impact, particularly
where the practitioner's role only required them to have a background knowledge and they
did not have significant or frequent involvement in child protection work.
"not sure it’s made a huge amount of difference"
Within their interviews, respondents did demonstrate raised levels of knowledge and
awareness of the impact of maltreatment on children and young people and of child
protection structures and processes in Edinburgh. It cannot be known how the learning
from the course contributed to this knowledge but respondents perceived the impact
themselves.
Comments on the impact of the course on practice included a lot of reference to self-guided
embedding activity such as talking to people who've done the course before to prepare for
learning and talking to colleagues afterwards and sharing their learning. One person with
line management responsibility noted how positive feedback from attendees informed her
decision to ensure more people attended in future, and noted that this could be enhanced
further if there was some kind of pre-course reading to check base levels of knowledge.
Learning opportunities which appear to have been impactful include the provision of a
course resource for participants’ ongoing learning (used by some but not all) and
opportunities for discussion and sharing in group-work within the course. Case studies were
found to be particularly useful for understanding other people's thinking and exposing
participants to a range of professional perspectives.
" there’s far too much stuff done in silos of this profession"

Page 175

19

Mixed cohorts of attendees from different roles and settings were found to be very useful
but some commented that learning groups need to be big enough for some within the
group to speak openly.
Networking appears to be a shared benefit of attendance but the impact of this may depend
on the role and setting of the learner. For example, a Mental Health Nurse found it helpful
to put faces to names that she knew through email and phone contact but had not met
directly before the course. Those with less experience also appear to have had an
affective/attitudinal element to their learning with strong memories of being exposed to
materials which gave them a fuller and more empathic understanding of the lived
experiences of maltreated children and young people.
"...suddenly awakened to what is going on for a lot of people."
"...a very direct way of putting you into the reality of some of the children."
Respondents were also more appreciative of the challenges faced by social workers and less
likely to attribute difficulties within the child protection system to individual practitioner
characteristics.
Analysis of interview data
Interviews reflected strong recall of learning about thresholds and mechanisms for sharing
information when there are concerns about children and young people. While relatively
little detail was given of tools or skills for assessment, participants were aware of the main
frameworks and the ethos underpinning practice. Learning alongside professionals from a
range of different settings and roles was an important element of much learning. In
particular, participants whose role makes them a relative "outsider" to child protection
processes valued opportunities for developing their understanding of "insider" perspectives
through discussion and reflective case study work with those more experienced in child
protection work.
Reports from interviews indicated that participants believed that the course had impacted
positively on their practice. This was mainly described in terms of increased confidence and
levels of knowledge. It is not clear from this data-set alone whether the course has resulted
in measurable changes in practice behaviour but students who engaged in pre- and post
course activity to maximise learning may have more effectively retained knowledge over
time and integrated this into their practice.

Page 176

20

2.2 - Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Raising
2.2.1 Findings - Individual Evaluations
1. Attendees were asked to rate the content and delivery of the course
25

20

15
Content
Delivery

10

5

0

Poor

Good

Very Good

Excellent

Respondents were overwhelmingly positive in their ratings and no distinction was raised
between content and delivery in responses.
2. Attendees were asked to record three things they learned from the course:
Learning from course was predominantly subject-specific product knowledge. This was in
contrast to the broader process knowledge that respondents reported from the interagency
training. Most prevalent in responses was learning about early signs or indicators of possible
child sexual exploitation. This was matched by responses indicating learning about the
impact of grooming and its impact on children and young people's ability to access support
and protection. The next two highly rated responses were in relation to learning about
social media and resources and tools for practitioners. A significant number of respondents
also reported key learning in relation to legislation and policy.
3. Attendees were asked if there were any topics missing that they would suggest could
be included in the future
There were relatively few responses here and the only one which was repeated was a desire
to see more in the course about referral options and what action to take when concerns
become raised.
4. Attendees were asked in what way the training was appropriate / inappropriate to their
work

Page 177

21

The overwhelming majority found the course to be "very" or "extremely" appropriate. For
some, this was about "where there are suspicions of CSE - how we recognise and pull
together" or gaining resources to use with clients. Some found the course a good
opportunity to reflect on their previous practice and the possibility that they may have
"missed" possible indicators of exploitation or opportunities to offer support and
protection.
5. Attendees were asked what further learning needs they have identified for themselves
as a result of attending this course
Some respondents commented on now going onto "read the guidance" and others noted
that they would follow-up on suggested reading from the course/presenter. Other
responses indicated existing commitments to similar training in the future and a
commitment to embed learning in future practice (such as challenging some of "the
language used by professionals")
6. Attendees were asked how they would rate the session overall
100
90
80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Poor

Good

Very Good

Excellent

There was no space for qualitative comments on the evaluation form but respondents used
the margins to indicate how much they had appreciated the Barnardos presenter's practice
knowledge. Many alluded to technical problems in delivery but this does not appear to have
affected their views on quality of delivery.
Analysis of individual evaluation data
Participant evaluations indicated strongly that the content and delivery of this course is
highly engaging and informative. Data indicated that the course has succeeded in its aim of
raising awareness of the nature and impact of child sexual exploitation. Most responses
highlighted learning about possible signs or indicators of child sexual abuse and how social
media apps may be used to groom children and young people.

Page 178

22

2.2.2 - Interviews
There were considerable differences between the interviewees in relation to the strength of
their memories of the course. The most frequently recalled area of learning was the social
media content of the course (e.g. apps) and how these could be used in grooming children
and young people for sexual exploitation. Learning from the course was influenced by the
role and experience of participants. Those with experience in this area were able to connect
the materials to past practice and use the course as an opportunity to reflect critically on
current and future practice.
…you think back and it’s ‘oh my goodness!’ You know we talked about that child
and what didn’t put it down to sexual exploitation. Now, you think ‘could
possibly have been’.
Making connections to practice appeared to be important for seeing the significance of the
materials to individual and organisational responses.
Those with direct practice experience of working with children and young people who had
been sexually exploited reported gaining little new knowledge. Those with low base
knowledge reported gaining a lot from the course. Some queried the impact which any short
course can make over time and one interviewee noted the significant difference in the
depth and quantity of learning from a one-day non-accredited course and an accredited
course taken part-time over a year.
Impact of the course on participants' learning varied a lot and was seen to be dependent on
pre-existing knowledge and practice experiences. Interviewees with strongest recall of
course content and its significance to their practice were those who also spoke about
sharing their learning from the course with other people after the course. Speaking to
students and colleagues may have helped these participants to consolidate or cement their
own learning. One interviewee was of the view that that this course is more likely to have a
lasting impact on practice if attendance is combined with supervision informed by similar
content.
2.2.3 - Managers' Responses
3 out of the 7 managers who took the survey responded to questions specifically about this
course. As the number of people taking this course overall was lower than the numbers
taking the Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes course, this is as
expected.
Q1. Understanding key terminology and definitions in relation to CSE
What impact has the course had in this area of their practice?

Page 179

23

120
100
80
60
40
20
0

Worse

No impact

A little better

Clear improvement

Significant
improvement

Impact

Q2. To what extent has the course helped your staff to Identify and describe the key
vulnerability factors, risk indicators and spectrum of experiences in relation to CSE?
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

Worse

No impact

A little better

Clear improvement

Significant
improvement

Impact

Page 180

24

Q3. Recognising the importance of information sharing and multi-agency partnership in
responding to children and young people
What impact has the course had in this area of their practice?

120
100
80
60
40
20
0

Worse

No impact

A little better

Clear improvement

Significant
improvement

Impact

Analysis of Managers' responses
Numbers of Reponses here were very low and therefore little inference can be drawn from
either the qualitative or quantitative data. All three managers reported an improvement in
their staff members’ knowledge, albeit one was slightly less positive about the impact in
relation to awareness of the importance of information sharing. One manager commented
“not attended unaware course was available third sector staff”. When commenting on the
wider impact of training, managers did report that training had improved their staff's
confidence and awareness in practice with examples given of more assertive inquiries and
reporting of concerns, and benefits to communicating and working directly with children,
young people and families.
Key findings for consideration
•
•
•
•

delivery was of a very high standard and attendees benefitted from a knowledgeable
and skilled presenter
participants’ evaluations reflected learning outcomes effectively matched to the
learning objectives and course content.
course design appeared to promote learning about issues and phenomena for all
participants, and deeper levels of reflection for some on the lived experiences of
children and the implications of learning for practice
further research will be required to explore the impact of training in relation to
changes in practice behaviour

Page 181

25

2.3. - Overall Evaluation of Impact: Managers' Responses
In addition to inviting comment directly on the impact of the specific courses, managers
were also asked to comment on how they thought both courses generally had impacted
upon their staff's practice. Using the categories from Kirkpatrick's evaluation framework, the
following responses were given. Because the number of responses was so low, all comments
received are included below.
Impact of learning on cognitive ability (e.g. knowledge, planning, judgement)
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mainly confirmed good practice
Excellent overall knowledge and local knowledge, there is an understanding of the
role that everyone else plays in safeguarding children
Staff have more knowledge in particular around CSE
New staff have now have local understanding and context
very useful new staff and experienced staff as a refresher good opportunity to
network with wider agencies
clarity of processes to be followed, allows for improved risk assessment and clear
understanding of the importance of sharing information
Much greater knowledge of CP procedures

Impact of learning on practice skills (communication, assessment, observation)
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Mainly confirmed good practice
It assists in every day practice and conversations
Staff have more confidence when communicating to others around CSE in particular
New staff so hard to say however staff have recorded that they see CP as a more
positive intervention and something they can discuss with families in a positive way
i.e. it's about getting the right help.
more confident greater awareness
More training specific to substance use in adults and how this impacts on parenting
and additional supports for families impacted by addiction
Positive difference, improved risk assessment
More observant and aware of the process

Impact of learning on affective domains (beliefs, attitudes, confidence)
•
•
•
•

Mainly confirmed good practice
With knowledge and understanding, there is greater confidence, particularly when
communicating with other people
more confidence
See above - CP is not necessarily something to be feared

Page 182

26

•
•
•

most difference around confidence in knowledge and awareness of duty to act and
what to do
Improved confidence in reporting any concerns
Increased confidence when working directly with children

Impact of learning on practice behaviour?
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mainly confirmed good practice
The knowledge can be applied in every day practice
As before - it is important to encourage families to get help and not fear help
greater awareness more active enquiry led to concerns identified and reported
as above, staff more likely to report any concerns and understand their role in this
Integration of knowledge into practice especially when working directly with young
people and families

Impact of learning on service users?
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mainly confirmed good practice
It builds credibility and professionalism
More confident to talk with service users around concerns of CP and CSE
Unsure
more assertive action in some cases
no real impact - service users are always made aware that we will share any child
protection concerns that we have, this is nothing new

What was most valuable about the impact of the courses?
•

Discussions / case studies

•

The roles and responsibilities that everyone else plays

•

Staff have confidence to deal with these concerns and are clear on procedures

•

Networking, gaining local context and understanding and viewing CP positively

•

knowledge and awareness greater confidence

What would you like to see improved?
•
•
•
•

n/a
More external speakers involved, like the Police
Would be helpful to have refresher/shorter version for existing staff.
more availability of training and more specific training around working with children
and families affected by addiction

Page 183

27

•

n/a

Do you have any other thoughts or comments on the courses not covered above?
•

n/a

•

The trainer was excellent and had so much relevant knowledge and experience to
share. There was also someone from the Police attended and that insight was
excellent

•

Although GIRFEC and local practice was discussed there seems to be a disconnect
with the GIRFEC training and materials found here
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/download/273/child_planning_document
s eg see info sharing flowchart

•

too much competition for spaces on training and a shorter refresher training needed

•

no

Page 184

28

Part 3 - Discussion and conclusions
Impact of learning
Positive outcomes were identified for both courses at Level 1 of Kirkpatrick's evaluation
framework: Learners’ Reaction. All three data sets consistently indicated that participants
had a good experience of learning. Key to this outcome was the combination of excellent
teaching skills and practice knowledge in the presenters. Materials in both courses
demonstrated principles of adult learning in their design in that they recognised the
experience and motivation of attendees and were focused on applying learning to practice
(Merriam and Bierma 2013). Individual evaluations and interviews indicated that
participants had acquired knowledge that was effectively matched to the learning objectives
set out in course design. The curriculum for each course was contemporary and appropriate
and it is important that regular reviews and updates of materials are carried out to maintain
this strength. There were indications that some sections of the Interagency Risk Assessment
and Child Protection Processes course could be improved by further attention to pedagogy.
There was evidence that knowledge from the courses had been acquired and maintained by
participants at Level 2: Acquisition of Knowledge and Skills. Although some participants had
stronger recall than others, they were all able to remember specific facts and concepts from
the courses. This type of learning is considered by some to be a relatively low level of
cognitive outcome but data in this study suggests that higher-level outcomes were attained
by some participants. In particular, some participants were able to demonstrate affective
responses (such as increased recognition of the child's lived experience) and critical
application of knowledge to practice (such as considering how they would practice
differently as a result of learning). It is not possible to say whether these higher-order
learning outcomes are directly attributable to the courses or whether other influences (such
as individual cognitive flexibility or team cultures) played a part. It is important that the
courses continue to provide participants with opportunities for discussion and critical
engagement with learning in relation to their individual professional roles and settings. To
this end, it may be helpful to review how the course can effectively support those working
in the third sector (particularly those with minimal or infrequent engagement with child
protection processes) to integrate and apply their learning in practice.
Embedding learning in practice
Findings from this study suggest that learning may be enhanced through some development
of pre- and post-course links to ongoing professional development. There were indications
that pre-course preparation can enhance levels of motivation to attend and readiness for
learning. Attendees indicated high levels of satisfaction with the courses but felt that the
course had not been "sold" effectively to them. To counter the notion of the training being a
mandatory "tick-box" there may be benefit in capturing participant testimony for use in
course promotion. Some of the comments from the evaluation sheets are already available
and additional audio/visual "talking heads" clips may also be considered if such material can
be supported on available platforms.
There were also some suggestions that individuals' learning needs were not always ideally
matched to course provision. While this is a perennial problem and one already addressed

Page 185

29

through individual agencies' staff development policies, it may help to consider how
individual needs analysis can best be supported in preparation for course attendance. A
brief selection exercise has the potential to support critical reflection on learning needs and
provide motivation at the same time as those needs are identified. For example, a relatively
simple pre-course scaling exercise (e.g. on a 1-10 Lickert scale "how confident are you
about..., how knowledgeable ...?") may help to make learning needs explicit and could also
be repeated after the training to encourage reflection on the impact of learning. Such
exercises may also provide valuable data for the ongoing evaluation of training as they
would provide a level of "before and after" testing not possible in this particular study.
Some evaluations and interviews elicited data about how learning may be effectively
embedded in practice. When interviewees were asked to consider who may have noticed
changes in their practice as a result of their learning, this appeared to provoke reflection on
how relatively little attention was paid to the learning outcomes of these courses in
practice. Participants reported talking to their colleagues and sharing their learning with
colleagues and students. Although managers reported seeing changes in practice behaviour,
respondents themselves did not report discussing their learning with their manager. One
third sector respondent noted that they did talk about training with their manager at their
annual review but this was only about which courses they had done and not about the
learning or impact of the course on their practice. Another suggested,
"it should be back to the service that sends you to have to have a responsibility to
work through with you, what you’ve learned and how important it was"
These comments reflect a challenge in how to encourage and support the embedding the
learning from ECPC courses within ongoing professional development processes across the
wide variety of organisations who send candidates on the courses. Both courses currently
provide participants with course materials and resources that can be kept for reference and
revision. Participants were motivated to read more following the courses and recommended
reading was appreciated. Some participants and some managers suggested benefits in
developing further opportunities for short "refresher" courses and consideration may be
given to post-training exercises or events that support critical reflection on how learning has
impacted on practice. Such "refreshers" could potentially draw on material in the resource
packs to support critical reflection on how learning has been integrated into practice.
Due to the limitations of the research design and data available, it is hard to draw any strong
conclusions about learning outcomes beyond Level 3: Changes in Behaviour. However, some
data did indicate a positive impact of the courses on a range of practice domains.
Participants could recall course content and spoke of increased confidence. A significant
proportion of those interviewed said that they had not been actively involved in either child
protection processes or working with child sexual exploitation since the training and
therefore could not point to anything they had yet done differently in practice, other than
have higher levels of understanding and awareness. Managers of staff who had attended
the courses indicated noticeable improvements in participants' knowledge and
understanding as well as enhanced awareness and confidence in practice. In relation to the
Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes course, there was evidence of
managers seeing improvements in participants' practice in taking assertive action when
abuse and neglect was a concern. Knowledge was also seen to be integrated into practice in

Page 186

30

participants' direct work and communication with service users. While these findings are
limited in terms of the sample size, they are encouraging and may indicate the benefits of
further involvement of managers in evaluating outcomes and supporting the embedding of
learning in practice.
More extensive research will be required if the impact of professional learning on higherlevel developments, such as changes in organisational practice and outcomes for service
users, is to be considered. Research designed to investigate these higher-level outcomes will
need to include features such as pre- and post-training evaluation, comparison between one
group who received the training and one that did not, and interviews with service users to
gather data on the ultimate impact of training in relation to improved outcomes for
children, young people and families. Such research design would require more extensive
resource and planning to ensure that outcomes measures were clearly defined and data
collection plans were in place in advance of the next delivery.
Learning outcomes
Learning outcomes are stated for both the courses.
Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes
•
•
•
•
•

Define national and local context for child protection
Describe roles of agencies involved in child protection
Know the child protection processes and procedures
Explain concepts of risk assessment and implications for planning
Apply key principles for the appropriate sharing of information. 1

Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Raising
•
•
•

Explain the key terminology and definitions in relation to CSE
Identify and describe the key vulnerability factors, risk indicators and spectrum of
experiences in relation to CSE
Recognise the importance of information sharing and multi-agency partnership in
responding to children and young people

These learning outcomes specify the essential learning for the courses. They are written in
clear language and are measurable, although there are currently no summative assessment
tasks attached to either course. They begin with an active verb, followed by the object of
the verb and a phrase that gives the context. This kind construction is understood to be an
effective support for learning (Kennedy 2006) and is an important element of provision for
tutors and participants. Attention may be paid to the verb forms used though. Currently, the
verbs are indicative of learning at a relatively low cognitive level. Bloom (1956) proposed
that knowing is composed of six successive levels arranged in a hierarchy and that thinking
can be divided into six increasingly complex levels from the simple recall of facts at the
lowest level to evaluation at the highest level.

1

This learning outcome is noted in marketing but not in the PowerPoint teaching slides

Page 187

31

Evaluation
Synthesis
Analysis
Application
Understanding
Knowledge

Outcomes of learning (such as being able to describe or explain) constitute "knowledge" but
not necessarily "understanding" and do not clearly inform how such knowledge will impact
practice. To raise the level of learning to that of critical reflection and application in practice,
consideration may be given to revising the learning outcomes for both courses to use verbs
more indicative of higher-level thinking and desired impact on practice (e.g. demonstrate,
apply, practice, use...). It should be noted that the learning outcomes published in the
marketing flyer for the Interagency Risk Assessment and Child Protection Processes course
include "Apply key principles for the appropriate sharing of information". This is more
practice-oriented but it is not included in the PowerPoint slides for the course and this
should be checked (and corrected if necessary) before next delivery.
The National Framework for Child Protection Learning and Development (Scottish
Government 2012) uses verbs that are more active and practice-oriented (such as recognise,
engage, distinguish and apply) and consideration may be given to the effectiveness of the
teaching and learning design in supporting participants to attain these learning outcomes.
Currently, many of the exercises involve practice-near discussions and reflection on action
that do support higher-level learning but this is not really mirrored in the current learning
outcomes. Biggs (2003) refers to this type of process as involving constructive alignment.
The curriculum is designed so that the teaching and learning activities (and assessment
where relevant) are co-ordinated with the learning outcomes. Aligning the language of the
learning outcomes so that they more accurately reflect the practice-oriented pedagogy in
the courses may support participants to embed their learning in the specific context of their
role and setting. Formative assessment opportunities in the courses (such as guided
discussion or case study vignettes) already support context-specific learning and may
include specific reference to the course learning outcomes so that this alignment is explicit
for participants.
Course learning outcomes for the Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Raising Course use
the verbs "explain, identify and recognise". It is recommended that these descriptors are
also reviewed to ensure that the learning outcomes are focused on the appropriate skills
required of attendees in their professional practice. For example, rather than "recognise the
importance of information sharing..." a more applied outcome such as "ability to share
information in line with legislation and policy..." Formative assessment opportunities
already embedded in the course (such as guided discussion or case study vignettes) can be
explicitly linked to these learning outcomes to help participants consider how they may
employ their learning in their practice.

Page 188

32

Evaluation criteria
The evaluation sheets which participants complete at the end of these courses were used as
a data source for this study and some of the limitations in the data that they provide may be
worth further consideration. It was noticeable that participants wanted to provide more
detailed feedback about the quality of course content and delivery but there was no space
here for qualitative comments. For example, interviews found that participants really
appreciated the courses' level of connection to real situations and the case study approach
but the evaluation sheet did not make it easy to give this kind of feedback. Inclusion of a
comments box here would be an easy revision and may provide richer feedback for future
course developments. Where delivery is over more than one day or there are multiple
presenters, it may be helpful to create space in the evaluation sheet to allow participants to
comment in more detail on specifics.
Participants are invited to record three things they learned from the course. This provides
valuable data on the extent to which participants are able to recall key course content but
does not indicate how participants have understood the materials or how they have
considered the implications of their learning for their professional practice. Consideration
may be given to changing the language from the rote-oriented "learn" to something more
oriented to critical reflection and application (such as "taken away from the course" or what
has it made you think about". Equally, shifting the focus of question 3 from "topics missing"
to something more supportive of reflection (e.g. "how might the course be improved")
might also be beneficial.
The question about the appropriateness/inappropriateness of the course to participants'
roles tended to garner a binary response (yes/no) and then justification according to role.
While this will be helpful in evaluating the overall match between courses and learning
needs, it did not provide data in this study which could help to establish the impact of
learning in and on practice.
Further research
This study has drawn on rich descriptions of learning and practice from course participants
and their managers. This has identified a number of key points which can be used to further
enhance current provision and maximise opportunities for practice improvement. The study
was necessarily limited in its design and this means that only very tentative conclusions may
be drawn about the impact of learning on practice behaviour and outcomes for
organisations and service users. If future research is to provide further insight into the
practice outcomes of professional education, consideration should be given to research
designs that can focus on clearly identified learning outcomes with the potential for
measurements to be taken before and after the course. Involvement of children, young
people and families in research is advised to gain meaningful data on the impact of training
on outcomes for service users. Such elements of research benefit from early discussion so
that data collection parameters and methods can be defined and developed in advance of
the specific course and period of delivery being evaluated.

Page 189

33

Researcher - Dr Duncan Helm
Senior Lecturer (Child Welfare and Protection)
Faculty of Social Sciences - University of Stirling
References
Barr, H., Freeth, D., Hammick, M., Koppel, I. and Reeves, S. (2000) Evaluating
Interprofessional Education: a United Kingdom review for health and social care. BERA/
CAIPE.
Biggs, J. (2003) Aligning teaching for constructing learning. The Higher Education Academy.
{online resource] https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets.creode.advancehedocumentmanager/documents/hea/private/resources/id477_aligning_teaching_for_constructing_lear
ning_1568036613.pdf last accessed 06.12.19
Bryman, A. (2016) Social Research Methods. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
Carpenter, J. (2005) Evaluating Outcomes in Social Work Education: Evaluation and
Evidence, discussion paper 1. Dundee, Scottish Institute for Excellence in Social Work
Education (SIESWE) and the Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE)
City of Edinburgh Child Protection Committee Training Sub Group (2010) Evaluation of
Interagency Child Protection Training Level 2 (Foundation) for City of Edinburgh Child
Protection Committee. ECPCP, Edinburgh.
Cooper, A. (2005) Surface and Depth in the Victoria Climbie Inquiry Report. Child and Family
Social Work 10 (1):1 - 9 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2206.2005.00350.x
Edinburgh Child Protection Committee (2018) Edinburgh Child Protection Committee Annual
Report 2017-18 [Online resource]
file:///C:/Users/dh16/Downloads/Edinburgh_Child_Protection_Committee_annual_report_
201718.pdf last accessed 03.09.19
Freeth, D., Hammick, M., Koppel, I., Reeves, S. and Barr, H. (2002) A Critical Review of
Evaluations of Interprofessional Education. London: LTSN for Health Sciences and Practice,
King’s College.
Kennedy, D. (2006) Writing and using learning outcomes: a practical guide. Cork, University
College Cork
Kirkpatrick, D. (1967) 'Evaluation of Training' In Craig, R. and Bittel, L. (1967) Training and
Development Handbook (pp.87-112). New York: McGraw- Hill.
Merriam, S. and Bierma, L. (2013) Adult Learning: Linking Theory and Practice. [Online
Resource]

Page 190

34

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/stir/reader.action?docID=1376941&ppg=44 last
accessed 05.12.19
Schön, D. (1991) The Reflective Practitioner. Aldershot, Arena/Ashgate Publishing
Scottish Government (2012) National Framework for Child Protection learning &
development in Scotland 2012 [Online resource]
https://www.webarchive.org.uk/wayback/archive/20170110053445/http://www.gov.scot/T
opics/People/Young-People/protecting/child-protection/national-framework-cp-learning2012#feeds last accessed 03.12.19
Tversky, A. and Kahneman, D. (1974) Judgement under uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases.
Science. 185 pp 1123-1131
White, S. and Featherstone, B. (2005) Communicating Misunderstanding: Multi-agency work
as social practice. Child and Family Social Work. 10 (3) pp207 - 216

Page 191

35

Appendix 1 - Individual participant evaluation template
Child Protection Inter-agency Training - Evaluation Form

Course:

Date:

Job Title / Profession:

1. Please rate the following:

Content: Poor

Good

Delivery: Poor

Good

Very Good

Very Good

Excellent

Excellent

2. Please record three things you learned from the course:

3. Are there any topics missing that you would suggest could be included in the
future?

Page 192

36

4. In what way was the training appropriate / inappropriate to your work?

5. What further learning needs have you identified for yourself as a result of attending
this course?

6. How would you rate the session overall?

Poor

Good

Very Good

Excellent

Thank you

Page 193

37

Appendix 2 - Research participant information sheet

Participant Information Sheet
Research Project Title: Evaluation of Edinburgh Child Protection Committee Training
1. Background, aims of project
We would like to invite you to take part in an independent evaluation of two training courses for
professionals involved in child welfare and protection practice delivered by Edinburgh Child
Protection Committee to a range of multi-agency partners.
• risk assessment & child protection processes
• child sexual exploitation awareness
2. Why have I been invited to take part?
You have been invited because you took one of these courses between autumn 2018 and summer
2019.
3. Do I have to take part?
No. You do not have to take part.
If you do decide to take part, you can withdraw your participation at any time without needing to
explain and without penalty by advising the researcher of this decision.
If you withdraw we will not collect any more data from you. However, any data collected up
until the point that you withdraw will be kept and used in the data analysis.
You will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to complete an electronic consent
form.
4. What will happen if I take part?
Data from the evaluation form that you completed at the end of the course will be analysed. You may
also be invited to attend one interview with the researcher. If you accept the invitation, the interview
will take approximately 30 minutes and will be carried out in a locality office near your workplace. You
will be asked questions about the training and any impact that it has had on practice for you.
5. Are there any potential risks in taking part?
There are no foreseeable risks in taking part.
6. Are there any benefits in taking part?
The benefits of taking part are: an opportunity to reflect on your learning and its application to
practice; a direct contribution to the improvement of future training.
7. What happens to the data I provide?
The research data (audio recordings and researcher notes) will be kept anonymous using
alphanumeric codes to represent respondents in any direct quotes.
Personal/confidential information will be stored anonymously using the University of Stirling’s
secure servers. Your personal data will be kept for 2 years on the Research Drive – a secure data
centre on the Stirling campus - and then will be securely lodged in DataSTORRE for a minimum of
10 years as per University policy.
Your permission is sought to use direct quotes. Your details will not be made publicly available but
you should be aware that it is possible that colleagues may identify your quotes due to a close and
shared knowledge of your role, setting, work, etc.
The researcher has an obligation to disclose should data indicate offences in relation to child
protection, the physical abuse of vulnerable adults, money laundering and crimes covered by the
prevention of terrorism legislation.

Page 194

38

8. Recorded media
Interviews will be subject to audio recording and the recordings transcribed (written out in full).
These transcriptions will then be analysed to identify patterns and themes emerging. Key findings
resulting from this analysis will be presented in a research report and pieces of raw data (in the
form of direct quotes from interviewees) may be reproduced within the report and subsequent
publications. The recordings themselves will not be broadcast or shared
9. Will the research be published?
The research may be published in relevant journals such as Social Work Education, Child Abuse
Review and/or Practice. You will/will not be identifiable in any report/publication.
The University of Stirling is committed to making the outputs of research publically accessible and
supports this commitment through our online open access repository STORRE. Unless
funder/publisher requirements prevent us this research will be publicly disseminated through our
open access repository. In addition, the researcher is committed to providing Edinburgh Child
Protection Committee with a knowledge exchange event where key findings will be presented for
review and discussion with key stakeholders.
10. Who is organising and funding the research?
Edinburgh Child Protection Committee is funding this research and it is being carried out by Dr
Duncan Helm from the University of Stirling.
11. Who has reviewed this research project?
The ethical approaches of this project have been approved via The University of Stirling General
University Ethics Panel
12. Your rights
You have the right to request to see a copy of the information we hold about you and to request
corrections or deletions of the information that is no longer required.
You have the right to withdraw from this project at any time without giving reasons and without
consequences to you. You also have the right to object to us processing relevant personal data
however, please note that once the data are being analysed and/or results published it may not
be possible to remove your data from the study.
13. Who do I contact if I have concerns about this study or I wish to complain?
If you would like to discuss the research with someone you may contact me (Dr Duncan Helm) at
duncan.helm@stir.ac.uk or 01786 466 302. You may also contact my Head of Subject Group
(Associate Professor Ruth Emond) at h.r.emond@stir.ac.uk or my Head of Research Group
(Professor Jane Callaghan) at jane.callaghan@stir.ac.uk : Faculty of Social Sciences, University of
Stirling
You have the right to lodge a complaint against the University regarding data protection issues
with the Information Commissioner’s Office (https://ico.org.uk/concerns/).
The University’s Data Protection Officer is Joanna Morrow, Deputy Secretary. If you have any
questions relating to data protection these can be addressed to data.protection@stir.ac.uk in the
first instance.
You will be given a copy of this information sheet to keep.
Thank you for your participation.

Page 195

39

Appendix 3 - Participant consent form

Consent Form
Research Project Title: Evaluation of Edinburgh Child Protection Committee Training
GUEP Approval Number 669

Name:
Please tick box

I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet explaining the research project
and I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the project.

I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time
during the study without giving a reason, and without any penalty. I understand that if I
withdraw no more data will be collected from me. However, any data collected up until the
point that I withdraw may be kept and used in the data analysis.

I have been given a unique identifying number and know whom to contact should I wish to
withdraw my data.

I understand that my responses will be kept anonymous and I give permission for members of
the research team to have access to my anonymised responses.

I consent to data gathered from my participation being stored securely at the University of
Stirling in line with the University's Research Data Management Policy."

I agree to take part in this study

Page 196

40

Page 197

41

Appendix 4 - Managers' information sheet

Participant Information Sheet
Research Project Title: Evaluation of Edinburgh Child Protection Committee Training
14. Background, aims of project
We would like to invite you to take part in an independent evaluation of two training courses for
professionals involved in child welfare and protection practice delivered by Edinburgh Child
Protection Committee to a range of multi-agency partners.
• risk assessment & child protection processes
• child sexual exploitation awareness
15. Why have I been invited to take part?
You have been invited because members of staff in your team attended one of these courses
between autumn 2018 and summer 2019.
16. Do I have to take part?
No. You do not have to take part.
If you do decide to take part, you can withdraw your participation at any time without needing to
explain and without penalty by advising the researcher of this decision.
If you withdraw we will not collect any more data from you. However, any data collected up
until the point that you withdraw will be kept and used in the data analysis.
You will be given this information sheet to keep and be asked to complete an electronic consent
form.
17. What will happen if I take part?
You will be invited to complete a brief online questionnaire about the impact that these courses have
had on your staff’s practice.
18. Are there any potential risks in taking part?
There are no foreseeable risks in taking part.
19. Are there any benefits in taking part?
The benefits of taking part are: an opportunity to reflect on learning and its application to
practice; a direct contribution to the improvement of future training.
20. What happens to the data I provide?
The research data (your answers) will be kept anonymous using alphanumeric codes to represent
respondents in any direct quotes.
Personal/confidential information will be stored anonymously using the University of Stirling’s
secure servers. Your personal data will be kept for 2 years on the Research Drive – a secure data
centre on the Stirling campus - and then will be securely lodged in DataSTORRE for a minimum of
10 years as per University policy.
Your permission is sought to use direct quotes. Your details will not be made publicly available but
you should be aware that it is possible that colleagues may identify your quotes due to a close and
shared knowledge of your role, setting, work, etc.
The researcher has an obligation to disclose should data indicate offences in relation to child
protection, the physical abuse of vulnerable adults, money laundering and crimes covered by the
prevention of terrorism legislation.
21. Will the research be published?

Page 198

42

The research may be published in relevant journals such as Social Work Education, Child Abuse
Review and/or Practice. You will/will not be identifiable in any report/publication.
The University of Stirling is committed to making the outputs of research publicly accessible and
supports this commitment through our online open access repository STORRE. Unless
funder/publisher requirements prevent us this research will be publicly disseminated through our
open access repository. In addition, the researcher is committed to providing Edinburgh Child
Protection Committee with a knowledge exchange event where key findings will be presented for
review and discussion with key stakeholders.
22. Who is organising and funding the research?
Edinburgh Child Protection Committee is funding this research and it is being carried out by Dr
Duncan Helm from the University of Stirling.
23. Who has reviewed this research project?
The ethical approaches of this project have been approved via The University of Stirling General
University Ethics Panel
24. Your rights
You have the right to request to see a copy of the information we hold about you and to request
corrections or deletions of the information that is no longer required.
You have the right to withdraw from this project at any time without giving reasons and without
consequences to you. You also have the right to object to us processing relevant personal data
however, please note that once the data are being analysed and/or results published it may not
be possible to remove your data from the study.
25. Who do I contact if I have concerns about this study or I wish to complain?
If you would like to discuss the research with someone you may contact me (Dr Duncan Helm) at
duncan.helm@stir.ac.uk or 01786 466 302. You may also contact my Head of Subject Group
(Associate Professor Ruth Emond) at h.r.emond@stir.ac.uk or my Head of Research Group
(Professor Jane Callaghan) at jane.callaghan@stir.ac.uk : Faculty of Social Sciences, University of
Stirling
You have the right to lodge a complaint against the University regarding data protection issues
with the Information Commissioner’s Office (https://ico.org.uk/concerns/).
The University’s Data Protection Officer is Joanna Morrow, Deputy Secretary. If you have any
questions relating to data protection these can be addressed to data.protection@stir.ac.uk in the
first instance.
You will be given a copy of this information sheet to keep.
Thank you for your participation.

Page 199

43

Appendix 5 - Topic guide for semi-structured interviews

ECPCP/UoS 20-19 Participant interview schedule
Welcome, introductions – length of interview about 30 mins but no more than
45 mins (check OK). Preferred names/pronouns to be discussed.
Recap of aims of research and ethical standards being adhered to. Check for
participant info and consent. Note recording.
Total interview time will not exceed 45 minutes. This is a semi-structured
interview and the researcher may rephrase questions or ask follow-up
questions to gain further data on significant themes emerging.
• Which agency/organisation do you work for?
• What is your role there?
• Which course did you take and when did you take it?
Explain - separate questions relating to stated learning outcomes on each
course, depending on which course they took:
Interagency Child Protection course
To what extent has the course improved your ability to…?
• Define national and local context for child protection
• Describe roles of agencies involved in child protection
• Know the child protection processes and procedures
• Explain concepts of risk assessment and implications for planning
Child Sexual Exploitation course
To what extent has the course improved your ability to…?
• Explain the key terminology and definitions in relation to CSE
• Identify and describe the key vulnerability factors, risk indicators and
spectrum of experiences in relation to CSE

Page 200

44

• Recognise the importance of information sharing and multi-agency
partnership in responding to children and young people
For all participants
• What do you recall most strongly from the course?
• Was there a “lightbulb” moment for you at any point in the course?
• What (if any) difference do you think the course has made in terms of
professional practice?
(Explain next question is about how others may see the impact and feed this
back to you)
• What kind of difference to do think others (such as your service users,
colleagues or manager) might see in your practice as a consequence of
the course?
• Do you have any suggestions for how to improve the course?
• Any further comments?
Following these questions, the researcher will stop the recording, thank the
participant for their time and ensure that they have the information sheet and
know how to make contact if they have any concerns or wish to withdraw in
the future.

Page 201

45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.2
City of Edinburgh Council

10.00am, Thursday 29 April 2021

Future Provision of Public Conveniences – referral from
the Transport and Environment Committee
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

1.

For Decision/Action

1.1

The City of Edinburgh Council is asked to approve the decision taken by the
Transport and Environment Committee to agree an additional £450k of additional
resources from COVID funds for additional temporary public toilets.

Andrew Kerr
Chief Executive
Contact:

Martin Scott, Committee Services, Strategy and Communications Division,
Chief Executive’s Service

E-mail:

martin.scott@edinburgh.gov.uk

Page 203

Referral Report

Future Provision of Public Conveniences – referral from
the Transport and Environment Committee
2.

Terms of Referral

2.1

On 22 April 2021, the Transport and Environment Committee considered a report
by the Executive Director of Place setting out plans for future provision of public
conveniences in Edinburgh and sought approval to progress with focusing on
ensuring there were appropriate facilities in premier parks in the first instance. An
update was also provided on the costs and associated arrangements required to
reopen all of the Council’s existing public conveniences from April 2021, as
requested by Council on 12 March 2021.

2.2

Motion
1)

To approve the approach for the future provision of public conveniences in
Edinburgh set out in paragraphs 4.3 - 4.10 of the report.

2)

To note the assessment of the existing facilities and gaps in existing
provision as set out in Appendix 1 of the report.

3)

To note that it was intended to focus initially on provision of public
conveniences in premier parks which do not currently have facilities.

4)

To note the estimated investment required to create new or refurbish public
conveniences.

5)

To note the requested information on reopening all of the Council’s existing
public conveniences while the COVID-19 restrictions remain in place.

6)

To agree to engage with all relevant stakeholders regarding the provision of
toilets at Leith Links.

7)

To welcome the report and note the easing of lockdown was gradual and that
outdoor recreation and meetings would remain a key part of social interaction
during Summer 2021, making our parks and outdoor spaces even more
important to the people of Edinburgh.

8)

To further note the damaging behaviour by a minority of people in the
meadows, portobello and in other locations in the City, and the negative

City of Edinburgh Council – 29 April 2021

Page 204

Page 2

impact on the surrounding residents and others using the park and other
affected areas.
9)

To refer the decision to Full Council to agree an additional £450k of
additional resources from COVID funds for additional temporary public
toilets, meeting accessibility needs, in premier parks that require additional
facilities, including the meadows, and other locations where people will
congregate in large numbers over the summer months, including Portobello,
with the understanding that if the Full Council Meeting of the 29 April 2021
does not go ahead, authority would be delegated to the Chief Executive to
approve an additional £450k of additional resources from COVID funds for
additional temporary public toilets.

10)

To request the Director of Place identifies locations from the list set out in
Appendix 1 of the report where the provision of temporary toilets throughout
the summer would be beneficial to managing the impact of increased footfall.

11)

To delegate the decision on the final list of locations to the Director of Place
in consultation with Group Leaders.

12)

To further note that there were a number of significant community projects
already underway in Colinton, but agrees to engage with the local community
to understand if a community asset transfer of Colinton’s public toilets could
be used as a vehicle for improving provision, as set out in 4.20. Agrees to
retain the Colinton Public Convenience throughout the process of local
engagement and the development of any other alternative plans as part of
the ongoing public conveniences strategy.

-

moved by Councillor Macinnes, seconded by Councillor Doran

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), paragraphs 9 and 10 were accepted as
an addendum to Amendment 1.
Amendment 1
1)

To approve the approach for the future provision of public conveniences in
Edinburgh set out in paragraphs 4.3 - 4.10 of the report.

2)

To note the assessment of the existing facilities and gaps in existing
provision as set out in Appendix 1 of the report.

3)

To note that it was intended to focus initially on provision of public
conveniences in premier parks which do not currently have facilities.

4)

To note the estimated investment required to create new or refurbish public
conveniences; and accelerates exploration of commercial partnerships to
deliver facilities based on a concessions model, reporting back to Committee
within two cycles (noting this approach has already been taken for a
combined café and public conveniences at Joppa).

5)

To note the requested information on reopening all of the Council’s existing
public conveniences while the COVID-19 restrictions remain in place. Agrees

City of Edinburgh Council – 29 April 2021

Page 205

Page 3

to reopen all existing public conveniences when Edinburgh enters Level 2
Covid restrictions.
6)

When the public toilets were closed at Haymarket to facilitate the delivery of
the Haymarket development the sale was conditional on re-provisioning
these facilities within the development and were detailed on the original
planning permission; notes that the current planning permission does not
show public toilets provided and instructs officers to investigate whether this
burden was not transferred in subsequent sales and report back to
Committee with their findings.

In respect of Colinton Public Conveniences:
7)

Welcomes the written submissions by Colinton Community Council and
Colinton Amenity Association

8)

Rejects paragraph 4.20 of the report and expresses continued support for
the re-opening of Colinton Public Conveniences as part of the Council’s
scheme going ahead given (a) their location in the heart of Colinton village
near to the Green Flag Spylaw Park; (b) the increasing number of visitors to
the Colinton Tunnel as well as the Robert Louis Stevenson trail and Phoebe
Traquair railings; and (c) the modern nature of the facilities which are in good
condition and not subject to any anti-social behaviour issues.

9)

Expresses disappointment at the manner in which they had been singled out
without any clear evidence base and with no clear justification.

-

moved by Councillor Mowat, seconded by Councillor Smith

Amendment 2
Add to existing recommendations:
1)

In relation to immediate needs:
1.1 - To agree to look at options for opening the currently closed
public toilets as outlined in paragraph 4.30 as soon as practicable,
and consistent with public health advice.
1.2 – To agree to support Pentlands Hills Regional Park in its aim to
install toilet facilities for Spring/Summer 2021.
1.3 – To agree to extend opening hours in peak footfall locations as
necessary – for example, at the Meadows and Bruntsfield Links and at
Portobello.
1.4 – To agree to provide enhanced signage as necessary to direct
people to available facilities.
1.5 – To agree that additional temporary toilet facilities be placed at a
central location on the Meadows on an urgent basis, to be available
during periods of high demand and for as long as necessary.

2)

In relation to future permanent provision:

City of Edinburgh Council – 29 April 2021

Page 206

Page 4

2.1 – To request consideration of a permanent centrally-located
toilet facility on the Meadows in addition to current provision, to
address high and seasonal footfall in this location; and agrees to keep
under review seasonal and high-demand capacity for Meadows and
Bruntsfield Links.
2.2 – To request a review of options for other high footfall country
parks and LNRs such as Hermitage of Braid and Blackford Hill.
-

moved by Councillor Corbett, seconded by Councillor Booth

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 2 was accepted as an
addendum to the motion.
Amendment 3
At end of recommendation 1.1.2, insert “and notes that no public toilets were
proposed for closure as a result of this report”
-

moved by Councillor Lang, seconded by Councillor Key

In accordance with Standing Order 22(12), Amendment 3 was accepted as an
addendum to the motion.
Amendment 4
1)

To approve the approach for the future provision of public conveniences in
Edinburgh set out in paragraphs 4.3 - 4.10 of the report.

2)

To note the assessment of the existing facilities and gaps in existing
provision as set out in Appendix 1 of the report.

3)

To note that it was intended to focus initially on provision of public
conveniences in premier parks which do not currently have facilities.

4)

To note the estimated investment required to create new or refurbish public
conveniences.

5)

To note the requested information on reopening all of the Council’s existing
public conveniences while the COVID-19 restrictions remain in place.

6)

To recognises that thousands of people gather on the Meadows &
Bruntsfield Links to socialise and enjoy the outdoors during good weather.

7)

To note that the existing toilet facilities and opening hours are inadequate to
cope with this level of demand.

8)

To regret the impact of public urination in residential streets surrounding the
Meadows and the Links.

9)

To call for sufficient temporary toilet facilities to be placed at a central
location on the Meadows on an urgent basis. While temporary, these
provisions should be capable of being available during periods of good
weather and large gatherings.

City of Edinburgh Council – 29 April 2021

Page 207

Page 5

10)

To request a briefing note be circulated to councillors on the facilities
installed.

11)

To note the longer-term work on city-wide, permanent, toilet provision as
proposed in this report and requests that, as well as the replacement of
existing facilities at east and west ends of the Meadows and Bruntsfield
Links, that consideration is also given to a permanent centrally located toilet
facility in the park, to address high footfall in this location.

-

moved by Councillor Cameron, seconded by Councillor Bird

Voting
For the motion

-

8 votes

For the amendment

-

3 votes

(For the motion (as adjusted) – Councillors Bird, Booth, Cameron, Corbett, Doran,
Key, Lang and Macinnes.
For Amendment 1 (as adjusted) – Councillors Mowat, Smith and Whyte)
Decision
To approve the following adjusted motion by Councillor Macinnes:
1)

To approve the approach for the future provision of public conveniences in
Edinburgh set out in paragraphs 4.3 - 4.10 of the report.

2)

To note the assessment of the existing facilities and gaps in existing
provision as set out in Appendix 1 of the report and notes that no public
toilets were proposed for closure as a result of this report.

3)

To note that it was intended to focus initially on provision of public
conveniences in premier parks which do not currently have facilities.

4)

To note the estimated investment required to create new or refurbish public
conveniences.

5)

To note the requested information on reopening all of the Council’s existing
public conveniences while the COVID-19 restrictions remain in place.

6)

To agree to engage with all relevant stakeholders regarding the provision of
toilets at Leith Links.

7)

To welcome the report and note the easing of lockdown was gradual and that
outdoor recreation and meetings would remain a key part of social interaction
during Summer 2021, making our parks and outdoor spaces even more
important to the people of Edinburgh.

8)

To further note the damaging behaviour by a minority of people in the
meadows, portobello and in other locations in the City, and the negative
impact on the surrounding residents and others using the park and other
affected areas.

City of Edinburgh Council – 29 April 2021

Page 208

Page 6

9)

To refer the decision to Full Council to agree an additional £450k of
additional resources from COVID funds for additional temporary public
toilets, meeting accessibility needs, in premier parks that require additional
facilities, including the meadows, and other locations where people will
congregate in large numbers over the summer months, including Portobello,
with the understanding that if the Full Council Meeting of the 29 April 2021
does not go ahead, authority would be delegated to the Chief Executive to
approve an additional £450k of additional resources from COVID funds for
additional temporary public toilets.

10)

To request the Director of Place identifies locations from the list set out in
Appendix 1 of the report where the provision of temporary toilets throughout
the summer would be beneficial to managing the impact of increased footfall.

11)

To delegate the decision on the final list of locations to the Director of Place
in consultation with Group Leaders.

12)

To further note that there were a number of significant community projects
already underway in Colinton, but agrees to engage with the local community
to understand if a community asset transfer of Colinton’s public toilets could
be used as a vehicle for improving provision, as set out in 4.20. Agrees to
retain the Colinton Public Convenience throughout the process of local
engagement and the development of any other alternative plans as part of
the ongoing public conveniences strategy.

13)

In relation to immediate needs:
13.1 - To agree to look at options for opening the currently closed
public toilets as outlined in paragraph 4.30 as soon as practicable,
and consistent with public health advice.
13.2 – To agree to support Pentlands Hills Regional Park in its aim to
install toilet facilities for Spring/Summer 2021.
13.3 – To agree to extend opening hours in peak footfall locations as
necessary – for example, at the Meadows and Bruntsfield Links and at
Portobello.
13.4 – To agree to provide enhanced signage as necessary to direct
people to available facilities.
13.5 – To agree that additional temporary toilet facilities be placed at a
central location on the Meadows on an urgent basis, to be available
during periods of high demand and for as long as necessary.

14)

In relation to future permanent provision:
14.1 – To request consideration of a permanent centrally-located
toilet facility on the Meadows in addition to current provision, to
address high and seasonal footfall in this location; and agrees to keep
under review seasonal and high-demand capacity for Meadows and
Bruntsfield Links.

City of Edinburgh Council – 29 April 2021

Page 209

Page 7

14.2 – To request a review of options for other high footfall country
parks and LNRs such as Hermitage of Braid and Blackford Hill.

3.

Background Reading/ External References

3.1

Webcast of the Transport and Environment Committee – 22 April 2021

4.

Appendices

4.1

Appendix 1 – Report by the Executive Director of Place

City of Edinburgh Council – 29 April 2021

Page 210

Page 8

Transport and Environment Committee

10.00am, Thursday, 22 April 2021

Future Provision of Public Conveniences
Executive/routine
Wards
Council Commitments

Executive
1, 2, 5, 6, 8, 9,10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 17

1.

Recommendations

1.1

It is recommended that Transport and Environment Committee:
1.1.1 Approves the approach for the future provision of public conveniences in
Edinburgh set out in paragraphs 4.3 - 4.10;
1.1.2 Notes the assessment of the existing facilities and gaps in existing provision
as set out in Appendix 1;
1.1.3 Notes that it is intended to focus initially on provision of public conveniences
in premier parks which do not currently have facilities;
1.1.4 Notes the estimated investment required to create new or refurbish public
conveniences; and
1.1.5 Notes the requested information on reopening all of the Council’s existing
public conveniences while the COVID-19 restrictions remain in place.

Paul Lawrence
Executive Director of Place
Contact: Andy Williams, Waste and Cleansing Manager
E-mail: andy.williams@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 5660

Page 211

Report

Future Provision of Public Conveniences
2.

Executive Summary

2.1

This report sets out plans for future provision of public conveniences in Edinburgh
and seeks approval to progress with focusing on ensuring there are appropriate
facilities in premier parks in the first instance.

2.2

The report also provides an update on the costs and associated arrangements
required to reopen all of the Council’s existing public conveniences from April 2021,
as requested by Council on 12 March 2021.

3.

Background

3.1

On 6 October 2020, the Policy and Sustainability Committee noted the approach set
out for developing a public convenience strategy and approved commencement of
assessment of possible locations for new/or improved public convenience facilities.

3.2

Committee also:
3.2.1 Noted that communication of community facilities was key to any
community toilet scheme and agreed to a revised Community Scheme,
including communications and signage campaign, being included within the
public convenience strategy;
3.2.2 Agreed to provide a review of the facilities within the Community Toilet
Scheme.

3.3

On 16 December 2020, the Council’s Equalities Working Group requested that the
public convenience strategy fully considers equalities and that access to
conveniences across the city is considered in the strategy.

3.4

At its meeting on 12 March 2021, Council agreed that this report should include
costings on reopening facilities in both a COVID context and as part of the wider
public convenience strategy.

Page 212

4.

Main report

4.1

As set out in the report to Committee in October 2020, the age and design of the
Council’s public conveniences means many are no longer fit for purpose, nor are
they necessarily in the best locations for residents and visitors.

4.2

Whilst public toilets are not a statutory service, it is generally expected that there
will be facilities in areas where people are likely to visit or spend a sustained
amount of time.
Future Provision of Public Conveniences

4.3

As the availability of public conveniences often makes an area more viable to visit
for a longer period of time, it is proposed to focus the Council’s provision in future to
the following areas:
4.3.1 Premier parks;
4.3.2 At locations which are promoted as places for a higher number of visitors
(e.g. Portobello beach or the Pentland Hills Regional Park);
4.3.3 Each of Edinburgh’s official town centres; and
4.3.4 Travel centres where people arrive after journeys on which facilities are
typically limited.

4.4

The October report highlighted that new or refurbished facilities should:
4.4.1 Provide an opportunity to introduce features that reduce the spread of
viruses (e.g. non-touch flushes and taps), reduce anti-social behaviour and
potentially provide additional space for productive use which will can add
value in terms of either revenue or utility value of the building;
4.4.2 Provide gender neutral toilets which are easy to clean and allow easier
management of physical distancing (given that all toilets would be individual
contained units) whilst maintaining proper privacy and dignity and are cost
effective;
4.4.3 Allow charging to be considered, with a contactless entry approach;
4.4.4 Ensure facilities are fitted with sustainable features, are Disability
Discrimination Act (DDA) compliant and provide Changing Places facilities
where possible; and
4.4.5 Provide an opportunity to assess possible addition of space for a
concession, such as a small café to allow for enhanced maintenance
funding and more footfall around the facilities.
Premier Parks and Higher Footfall Locations

4.5

For premier parks and locations where footfall is expected to be higher, it is
proposed to either:
4.5.1 Create new toilet premises;
4.5.2 To adapt current buildings to allow toilets to be installed; or

Page 213

4.5.3 To upgrade existing facilities to meet with the standards expected.
4.6

For the Pentland Hills Regional Park, their Committee recently applied for funding
for the purchase of accessible toilets. These facilities have been designed to meet
the standard expected (as set out in paragraph 4.4). If funding is approved, it is
anticipated that a small fee could be introduced for use of the toilets to help to meet
the annual cost of maintenance.
Town Centres

4.7

In town centres, it is considered that purpose-built toilet blocks with small cafés
would provide unnecessary additional competition to local businesses, and gap
sites are likely to be difficult to find.

4.8

It is therefore suggested that the approach taken would be to include provision of
public conveniences within the multi-service ‘hubs’ which will be created in town
centres as part of the 20 minute neighbourhood approach. This will particularly
support disabled and elderly citizens looking to access Council services.
Travel Centres

4.9

Public conveniences are already established in the city’s main travel centres –
Edinburgh Waverley and Haymarket Train Stations and Edinburgh Bus Station.
The facilities within the train stations are maintained by Network Rail.

4.10

It is proposed to consider communication and signage towards these locations as
part of the wider strategy for communicating the locations of public conveniences in
the city.
Additional Considerations

4.11

The City of Edinburgh District Council Order Confirmation Act 1991 Part VI (which is
an Act of Parliament) specifies what buildings can be erected on The Meadows,
Bruntsfield Links, Leith Links, Inverleith Park, Princes Street Gardens and Calton
Hill. Whilst public conveniences are included in this list, ancillary uses such as cafes
are not.

4.12

This may limit the commercial opportunities available within the premier parks if
new facilities are required. If a café is to be included in these premier parks,
developing existing buildings (within the current footprint) is likely to be the only
option.

4.13

A further consideration will be the number of toilet cubicles required, as it will be
essential to balance the cost to create and run the facilities with providing a
sufficient number of cubicles for busy times. The Council currently has people
counting information in some existing facilities and it is proposed to base the
assessment of future requirements on the footfall data gathered.

4.14

There may be a desire for other local communities to have toilets in their local
parks. It is proposed that these be assessed on a case by case basis and other
opportunities explored where possible (for example community ownership) in order
to ensure that these facilities can be maintained on a sustained basis.

Page 214

4.15

There are some locations that have more than one toilet currently (e.g. Princes
Street Gardens) or where locations fall into the seaside and town centre categories
(e.g. South Queensferry and Portobello). It is proposed to utilise footfall data to
establish if these facilities all continue to be required, or whether there is scope to
consolidate these facilities into single sites.

4.16

It should be noted that there are other public conveniences or access to other
facilities in other locations in the city, but this analysis is focused on the facilities
which are owned or managed by the Council.
Analysis of Existing Provision

4.17

An assessment of the current provision of the publicly accessible toilets (public
conveniences and Community Toilet Scheme), in terms of how they fit with the
plans set out above, has identified where:
4.17.1 There are gaps in quality;
4.17.2 Facilities are no longer fit for purpose; and
4.17.3 There is little or no provision currently.

4.18

The details of this analysis are shown in Appendix 1. For the purposes of this
analysis, all of the existing facilities have been considered irrespective of whether
they are currently open or closed (due to COVID-19).

4.19

The analysis shows that almost all of the Council’s current facilities require
investment to align them to the priorities set out above.
Colinton Public Convenience

4.20

The analysis of existing provision shows that the public convenience at Colinton sits
outside the terms of the proposed plans. It is suggested that this location be
discussed with local stakeholders to consider whether there is potential for a
community asset transfer. If this is not possible, then a further decision would need
to be made by Committee on whether to maintain the facility (outside of the plans
for future provision) or close it.
Community Toilet Scheme

4.21

The Community Toilet Scheme utilises local buildings (such as libraries and leisure
centres) and a small network of local businesses to offer the use of toilets within
their premises for the general public to use (in the case of local businesses, without
the need to purchase anything). Generally, these are in local town centres.

4.22

Businesses currently included within the Community Toilet Scheme receive an
annual payment of £500.

4.23

However, it is proposed in future to phase out the business element of the
Community Toilet Scheme, as multi-hubs within neighbourhoods become
established. The Council will continue to promote where Council buildings have
toilets which are available for public use.

4.24

In the meantime, it is proposed to continue to offer the Community Toilet Scheme
and improve communications with businesses and citizens regarding this initiative.

Page 215

Consideration will also be given to how local signage can be improved to allow
residents and visitors to locate Community Toilet facilities. This work will obviously
not be possible until such a time as the COVID-19 restrictions on the use of
businesses allow this.
Use of Public Spaces for Events and Filming
4.25

The Culture and Communities Committee on 16 March 2021 considered an update
on the engagement on the Public Spaces Management Plan.

4.26

A working group will now progress with developing a guidance document for the
use of public spaces for events and filming and will consider arrangements for
public conveniences as part of their work. The output of this work will be presented
to Culture and Communities Committee on 14 September 2021.
Re-opening Public Conveniences which have been closed due to COVID-19

4.27

In response to COVID-19, the Scottish Government published guidance on the
opening of public and customer toilets on 27 June 2020. At the time of writing this
report, this guidance remains valid. This guidance recognises that the risk of
transmission of COVID-19 is high in public conveniences given the low levels of
natural light, lack of ventilation, the number of surfaces to touch and the purpose of
a toilet. These risks continue to be deemed by officers to be higher due to the age
and design of public conveniences in the city.

4.28

On 12 March 2021, Council agreed funding to maintain the opening of seven public
conveniences, which were re-opened in July 2020 with additional measures in place
to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission within these facilities.

4.29

The report to Policy and Sustainability Committee in October 2020 set out the
measures which would be required to reopen the remaining nine public
conveniences which are currently closed.

4.30

To reopen the remaining nine facilities with the additional measures (as set out in
Appendix 2) which are in place in the facilities which are currently open is estimated
to cost around £6,300 per week.

4.31

Further, there will also be costs associated with additional signage, Personal
Protective Equipment (PPE), regulatory testing and cleaning supplies as well as for
repairs to the fabric of some of the buildings given many have now been closed for
over a year.

4.32

As detailed in October some facilities, such as those at the West End of Princes
Street Gardens, cannot currently be re-opened as it is not possible to put adequate
physical distancing measures in place at this location. Further facilities closed prior
to COVID-19 will also not be re-opened.

4.33

However, it is expected that the Scottish Government will take a cautious approach
to easing COVID-19 measures over the coming months.

4.34

At the time of writing, the Pentland Hills Regional Park are considering applying for
funding from NatureScot to install temporary public conveniences within the
Regional Park in time for the spring/summer season 2021. It is anticipated that any

Page 216

funding could be used for the hire of facilities and for the on-going cleaning for the
spring/summer visitor season.
4.35

In summer and autumn 2020 residents living around the Meadows reported
experiencing anti-social behaviour, with people urinating in public places, especially
in good weather. It is intended to continue with the measures put in place
previously to support residents and to work with Police Scotland on this by,
increasing the opening hours of public conveniences during good weather (this is
dependent on staff agreeing to work overtime, often at short notice, so is not always
possible) and increased cleaning in the area.

4.36

Whilst not specific to public conveniences the Scottish Government has outlined
some broad timings for Scotland moving into Level 1 at the start of June and further
relaxation across areas of the economy and society and moving into Level 0 from
the end of June.

4.37

As the guidance is updated, officers will review this to determine whether the
current measures for public conveniences can be eased and whether an approach
of enhanced cleaning could be adopted.

4.38

In addition, as the Council plans for reopening of Libraries and Community Centres
and works closely with Edinburgh Leisure on the reopening of their centres,
consideration will be given to the reopening of their toilets for use by the public.

4.39

Officers have previously reviewed alternatives to using the Council’s existing
facilities, such as ‘portoloos’. However, with the additional measures required
and/or significant additional cost for the hire of ‘portaloos’ these have not been
progressed.

4.40

Other Local Authorities have taken a wide range of approaches to their public
conveniences. These range from having all public conveniences remaining closed,
through a mixed approach (as has been taken in Edinburgh), to some where all of
the Council run facilities are open (with either additional staff or enhanced cleaning).
It should also be noted that not all facilities are buildings, as is the case in
Edinburgh.

5.

Next Steps

5.1

If Committee approves the plans for future provision, as set out above, the initial
focus will be on exploring funding and/or opportunities to work with partners to
ensure appropriate provision of public conveniences in premier parks which do not
currently have any facilities, such as Leith Links and Inverleith Park, whilst
acknowledging the restrictions outline in Section 4.7. In addition, discussions would
begin with local stakeholders on the future of the Colinton public convenience.

5.2

The approach set out in the report aligns closely with the Thriving Green Spaces
project which was approved by the Culture and Communities Committee on 26
January 2021

5.3

. This project is currently in its development phase, collecting and collating
information, data, ideas, opinions and evidence across a range of workstreams, but

Page 217

the importance of public toilets will be taken into consideration when determining it’s
focus areas.
5.4

The guidance being developed for use of public spaces for events and filming will
include details of expectations in respect of public conveniences.

5.5

The requirement for public conveniences will be incorporated into the work being
undertaken to identify local ‘hubs’ as part of the 20 minute neighbourhood
approach.

5.6

Officers will continue to review the Scottish Government guidance for public
conveniences and will assess the impact of any changes on the existing
arrangements for public conveniences in the city.

6.

Financial impact

6.1

The creation of any new (or refurbished) toilet facilities will require capital funding. It
is estimated that around £250,000 would be sufficient to create a purpose-built toilet
facility although the exact costs will depend the location, scale and whether there is
an existing building which can be used. A similar sum may be required for
refurbished buildings depending on the scale of changed required.

6.2

Capital funding of up to £5m will need to be identified in order to deliver all of the
new or improved facilities outlined in Appendix 1. If the plans for future provision are
approved, officers will commence work to identify external funding sources that help
deliver this investment.

6.3

Where new toilet blocks are created in parks, it is proposed to include concessions
within the facility and two models of maintenance could be considered to address
on-going revenue costs – either the concessionaire could be service tenants who
are responsible for the maintenance of the toilets; or the lease costs could off-set
the running costs of the toilet facility.

6.4

Where toilets within Council buildings/hubs are used then the additional revenue
costs will be marginal as they will already be being maintained by Facilities
Management. Any such revenue costs would be considered as part of the business
case for each building.

7.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1

An interim integrated impact assessment has been undertaken. This has identified
the key topics/subject areas that need to be consulted on when new toilets are
being considered and the facilities at each location determined.

7.2

A consultation will be undertaken in line with Scottish Government guidelines at
every new/refurbished toilet facility.

7.3

Many of the Council’s public conveniences are not compliant with the current DDA
requirements. Any refurbished or new facilities should all be compliant with the
current DDA requirements and there is an opportunity to include Changing Places
at these locations to ensure that they are accessible for all.

Page 218

8.

Background reading/external references

8.1

Edinburgh’s Public Parks and Gardens Strategy 2006.

9.

Appendices

9.1

Appendix 1: Analysis of current public convenience provision aligned to proposed
plans for future provision

9.2

Appendix 2: Measures required to reopen public conveniences during the COVID19 pandemic

Page 219

Appendix 1 – Analysis of current public convenience provision aligned to proposed plans for future provision
Current Location

Page 220

Aligned to plans
for future
provision
Princes Street Gardens – West Premier Park
End
Princes Street Gardens – Ross Premier Park
Bandstand
The Meadows - Hope Park
Premier Park

Accessible toilets Assessment for Future Provision

Bruntsfield Links

Premier Park

Yes

Saughton Park – Courtyard

Premier Park

Pentland Hills – Harlaw

Higher Visitor
Numbers
Higher Visitor
Numbers
Higher Visitor
Numbers
Town Centre

Changing Place
facility
No

Lauriston Castle
Portobello – Pipe Lane
Portobello – Bath Street

Yes
Yes
Yes

No
Yes
Yes

South Queensferry – Hawes
Pier
South Queensferry – High
Street

Higher Visitor
Numbers
Town Centre

No

Cramond

Higher Visitor
Numbers

No

Yes

Maintain current facility: Yes
Investment required: Yes
Maintain current facility: Yes
Investment required: Yes
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: Yes
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: Yes
Maintain current facility: Yes
Investment required: No
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: Yes
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: Yes
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: Yes
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: yes
Align with 20 minute neighbourhood
programme
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: Yes
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: yes
Align with 20 minute neighbourhood
programme
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: Yes

Castlehill – 386 Castlehill

Higher Visitor
Numbers

No

Castle Terrace – NCP car park

Higher Visitor
Numbers
Town Centre

Yes

Stockbridge – Hamilton Place

Town Centre

yes

Nicolson Street – Nicolson
Square

Town Centre

Yes

Leith/Leith Walk – Taylor
Gardens

Yes

Page 221

Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: Yes
Align with 20 minute neighbourhood
programme
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: No
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: Yes
Align with 20 minute neighbourhood
programme
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: yes
Align with 20 minute neighbourhood
programme
Maintain current facility: No
Investment required: yes

Toilet locations which do not align with proposed plans for future provision
Colinton

300 A Colinton Road

Identified Gaps in Future Provision.
Location
Inverleith Park
Leith Links
Calton Hill
Corstorphine

Strategic Location
Premier Park
Premier Park
Premier Park
Town Centre

Morningside/Bruntsfield

Town Centre

Facilities Required
Yes
Yes
No, seek access to toilets in Gallery
Align with 20 minute neighbourhood
programme
Align with 20 minute neighbourhood
programme

Tollcross

Town Centre

Align with 20 minute neighbourhood
programme

Appendix 2: Measures required to reopen public conveniences during the COVID-19 pandemic
There are currently measures and costs associated with reopening public conveniences include:

Page 222

•

Adequate staffing to maintain public health;

•

Legionella flushing (as the facilities have not been used for so long);

•

Installation of public health signage;

•

Deep cleaning of facilities; and

•

Minor remedial repairs to enable the facility to reopen (e.g. installation of hand sanitiser dispensers, hand towel boxes, replacing
toilet seats); and

•

Internal adjustments (e.g. closing cubicles if more than one to maintain physical distancing).

Agenda Item 10.1

QUESTION NO 1

By Councillor Rust for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021
In the CEC news release of 22nd February for the recent
consultation around retaining Spaces for People measures,
the Transport and Environment Convener said: "We’ve had
encouragement from the Scottish Government to consider
turning the most useful of these schemes into permanent
infrastructure to help further support walking, wheeling and
cycling.”

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

In what ways and to what extent has the Scottish
Government directly encouraged CEC to retain the Spaces
for People measures in the way they have been
implemented in Edinburgh?

How is the Scottish Government defining what should be
classed as a successful or useful scheme and therefore
potentially eligible for funding for permanency?

Page 223

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.2

QUESTION NO 2

Question

By Councillor Rust for answer by the
Convener of the Finance and
Resources Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

In Financial year 2019/20:
(a)

What income came into CEC via or from Sustrans and
what was that for?

(b)

What was the total CEC paid to Sustrans and what
services was that for? eg design of schemes,
Commonplace tool, procurement support, research,
infrastructure etc?

In Financial year 2020/21:
(a)

What income came into CEC via or from Sustrans and
what was that for?

(b)

What was the total CEC paid to Sustrans and what
services was that for? eg design of schemes,
Commonplace tool procurement support, research,
infrastructure etc?

(c)

Specifically, how much was Sustrans paid to design
i)

the scheme for Slateford, Longstone, Murrayburn
and Lanark Roads and

ii)

the proposals for Braid Road?

In Financial year 2021/2022:
(a)

What is the projected income for CEC via or from
Sustrans?

(b)

What is the projected expenditure by CEC to Sustrans,
including detail of any contracted projects?

Page 225

Answer

(3)

Page 226

Agenda Item 10.3

QUESTION NO 3

By Councillor Webber for answer by
the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021
Across the city temporary measures to aid social distancing
in response to the public health emergency were installed
without substantive consultation resulting in poor awareness
until there local installation.

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

Answer

(3)

Which schemes have subsequently had retrospective safety
audits completed?

Where can the public access these reports?

Who was contracted to carry out the Safety Audits?

Page 227

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.4

QUESTION NO 4

Question

By Councillor Webber for answer by
the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

Since the installation of the various temporary Spaces for
People schemes across the city intended to aid with social
distancing during the Covid 19 Pandemic how many
personal injury or accident claims have been made against
the Council?
a)

In total.

b)

By scheme.

What has been the outcome of these claims?
a)

Number of successful claims.

b)

Total Payments / Compensation if applicable.

(2)

Page 229

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.5

QUESTION NO 5

Question

By Councillor Laidlaw for answer by
the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021

The Convener will be aware of the significant issues many
residents face with regard to the lack of provision of public
toilet facilities in some of our most popular parks and green
spaces, including, but not limited to, Leith Links, Inverleith
Park and the Meadows. Already, as Covid restrictions ease,
these areas have seen large numbers of people gathering to
eat and drink outdoors and this is likely to increase as we
enter the summer months.
Given the Council does not have the resources to construct
and open public toilets in these areas would the Convener
consider putting out to tender the license of the commercial
provision on temporary toilet facilities, operating on a
commercial basis, in these most popular and thus
problematic, outdoor areas?

Answer

Page 231

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.6

QUESTION NO 6

Question

By Councillor Rust for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021

Elected members face questions from constituents about
Spaces for People schemes in respect of their own wards,
but also other parts of the city in which constituents work or
visit. There are around 120 schemes presenting a burden
on both council officers and councillors in responding to
individual queries. While some information is currently
available on the Council website, can the Convener commit
to investigating the provision of additional information for
each Spaces for People scheme including all key
documents, for example:
• final plans,
• integrated impact assessments,
• design risk assessments,
• completed safety audit
in order to allow easy access by councillors, their support
staff and members of the public with a view to improving
transparency, increasing efficiency and reducing workloads
for all?

Answer

Page 233

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.7

QUESTION NO 7

By Councillor Neil Ross for answer
by the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021
The Council is responsible for maintaining thousands of
gullies across the city. In March this year the Council had
only two gulley cleaning vehicles with three new vehicles on
order.

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

Answer

(3)

Question

(4)

Answer

(4)

How many gully issues are currently shown as outstanding
on the Council’s online reporting system per ward?

How many of those gully issues have been outstanding for
more than one month, more than three months and more
than six months analysed per ward?

When might it be reasonable to expect that the backlog will
be eliminated and all the outstanding issues identified at 2)
above cleared?

What are the operational performance targets for gully
cleaning?

Page 235

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.8

QUESTION NO 8

By Councillor Neil Ross for answer
by the Convener of the Finance and
Resources Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

Answer

(3)

How much has the Council received, net of costs, from the
sale of public conveniences over the past ten years?

How much has the Council spent on the modernisation or
refurbishment of public conveniences over the past ten
years?

How much does the Council intend to spend in total on the
modernisation or refurbishment of public conveniences over
the current year 2021/22 and, in particular, on the facilities
at Bruntsfield Links, Meadows (East) and Middle Meadow
Walk?

Page 237

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.9

QUESTION NO 9

By Councillor Osler for answer by
the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021
On Friday 9th April the guardrails at the Blackhall Dip were
removed with no warning, this was not part of the consulted
A90 Spaces for People scheme but done by the team
charged with “decluttering”.

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

Answer

(3)

If the guardrail needed to be removed why was their
removal not considered as part of the original scheme and
removed instead with no consultation?

In many schemes guardrail removal was considered as part
of the Spaces for People Schemes. Who decides on
whether this is considered or not?

How is such a decision made?

Page 239

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.10

QUESTION NO 10

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

Answer

(3)

Questions

(4)

Answer

(4)

By Councillor Jim Campbell for
answer by the Convener of the
Education, Children and Families
Committee at a meeting of the
Council on 29 April 2021

Are holders of an NHS Scotland Face Coverings Exemption
card exempt from wearing face coverings in all Council
settings?

Following an enquiry from a constituent in early March, I
understand the Children and Families were reminded that if
a student is exempt then they need not wear a mask.
Would the Convener agree?

Despite this, a story appeared in Scotland on Sunday on 3
April alleging several exempt students had been excluded
from a City of Edinburgh school classroom for failing to wear
a face covering. Can the Convener comment on the
accuracy of this media report? If true, has an apology been
given to any students wrongly excluded from class?

Has it been made clear to all Head Teachers that students
exempt from wearing face coverings must not be
discriminated against?

Page 241

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.11

QUESTION NO 11

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

Answer

(3)

Questions

(4)

Answer

(4)

By Councillor Jim Campbell for
answer by the Convener of the
Transport and Environment
Committee at a meeting of the
Council on 29 April 2021

What are the normal office locations of those responsible for
designing Edinburgh Spaces for People schemes?

Are press reports accurate that some schemes were
designed by London based individuals?

Did any individuals involved in designing an Edinburgh
Spaces for People schemes that were not based within this
Council boundary, make site visits to the scheme they were
responsible for designing? Please list these schemes.

Which Spaces for People schemes were designed without
the designers making any site visits?

Page 243

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.12

QUESTION NO 12

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

By Councillor Lang for answer by the
Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021

What percentage of Edinburgh’s public path network has
path lighting?

What plans exist to increase this percentage?

Page 245

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.13

QUESTION NO 13

By Councillor Mitchell for answer by
the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021
On Thursday 11th March a question was submitted about
the feedback and responses from residents and
stakeholders to the Queensferry Road/A90 scheme.
The response to part four of the question said “It is hoped
that the summary of feedback will [be] circulated by the end
of the week.”
Over five weeks later, and having enquired about this with
the Convener and officials on 29th March, could the
Convener please confirm:

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Why this information has not yet been forthcoming?

When the feedback on the scheme will be circulated to
councillors, transport spokespeople, and stakeholders?

Page 247

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.14
Item no 10.14
QUESTION NO 14

By Councillor Louise Young for
answer by the Convener of the
Transport and Environment
Committee at a meeting of the
Council on 29 April 2021
With regard to the number of registrations for a garden
waste permit can the following numbers be provided for the
last 3 registration periods:

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

Answer

(3)

Question

(4)

Answer

(4)

Questions

(5)

Answer

(5)

What quantity and % of eligible households have registered
for a garden waste permit?

Of that total registrations, how many were renewals and how
many were new households?

How many / what % of permit holders did not renew?

How many complaints have been received from residents
who had a permit but missed the renewal period and are
now not covered by the service?

Of those complaints, how many / what % are from senior
residents aged 65 or over (or if DOB data not known, but
other data available which would indicate senior age)?

Page 249

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.15
Item no 10.15

QUESTION NO 15

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

Answer

(3)

By Councillor Rust for answer by the
Convener of the Education, Children
and Families Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021

Given we have an SNP led Council Administration can the
Convener confirm what plans have been progressed for a
standalone GME secondary school in central Edinburgh?

Does the Convener agree that a central location is
necessary?

Is the Convener aware of the new national strategic
approach?

Page 251

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.16

QUESTION NO 16

Question

By Councillor Mowat for answer by
the Leader of the Council at a
meeting of the Council on 29 April
2021

Could the Leader detail what meetings have been had with
members of the Hospitality and Retail industries in the city to
develop a plan for their recovery and when any plan
developed will be shared with Committees and Councillors?

Answer

Page 253

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.17

QUESTION NO 17

By Councillor Mowat for answer by
the Convener of the Transport and
Environment Committee at a meeting
of the Council on 29 April 2021
The West End of the City Centre has seen two significant
interventions on the road network – the introduction of the
tram which led to the closure of Shandwick Place and the
current proposals for the introduction of the City Centre
West to East Link a significant new cycle route across the
City Centre. Promised assessments on changes in traffic
routes and volumes have not been carried out, nor has the
third tram TRO been brought forward which was to have
addressed changes in vehicular traffic patterns caused by
changes to the road network. With another change to the
road network in this area residents are concerned about
further impacts which may displace additional traffic onto
streets which are almost exclusively residential, and indeed
are becoming more so as more properties are converted
from business use into residential use.

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

Question

(3)

Answer

(3)

Could the Convener confirm what work was carried out as
part of planning for CCWEL on traffic diversions and
displacement.

What traffic counts have been carried out to enable
comparisons to be carried out pre and post CCWEL
construction.

Whether monitoring of traffic displacement has been carried
out as part of the planning work.

Page 255

Question

(4)

Answer

(4)

Are there plans in place to review the cumulative effects of
post tram traffic displacement and CCWEL construction so
as to protect the residential environment of the West End –
to be taken as the area bounded by Magdala and Douglas
Crescent's in the west, Haymarket Terrace to West Maitland
Street and Shandwick Place to the south, Queensferry
Street to the east and Belford Road from its junction with
Douglas Gardens to the north?

Page 256

Agenda Item 10.18

QUESTION NO 18

By Councillor Barrie for answer by
the Convener of the Regulatory
Committee at a meeting of the
Council on 29 April 2021
Council notes the recent announcement that permit fees are
being waved for outdoor bars in Edinburgh
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/13144/helpingrestaurants-and-cafes-make-the-most-of-outdoor-spacesafely-when-restrictions-ease
Council further notes that Walking Tours are low carbon
when compared to motorised sightseeing in the city, are low
impact sustainable experiences boosting the wellbeing of
visitors, staff teams and residents. Often run by local family
business, some are Living Wage employers and CEC rate
payers. Council also notes that responsible Walking Tour
companies mirror CEC Green City and Fair Work objectives
and that their businesses have been just as heavily hit by
COVID restrictions as Licensed Premises.

Question

(1)

Answer

(1)

Question

(2)

Answer

(2)

What support is being made available by CEC to walking
tours to ‘get businesses back on their feet’ and will their
licensing fees be similarly waived or discounted?

Will Council consider favourably allowing walking tours to
apply for Outdoor Area Occupation Permits to allow them on
street visibility to aid their business recovery?

Page 257

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Annex
CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL

Item No 3

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL
29 April 2021
DEPUTATION REQUESTS

Subject

Deputation

3.1

a) Colinton Community Council
(written submission attached)

In relation to Item 7.2 on the
agenda – Future Provision of
Public Conveniences – referral
from the Transport and
Environment Committee

b) Colinton Amenity Association
c) The Colinton Tunnel
d) Colinton Village Enterprise SCIO
(written submission attached)

3.2

In relation to Item 8.5 on the
agenda - Motion by Councillor
Webber - Public Confidence

a) South West Edinburgh in Motion
(written submission attached)
b) Newington Hotels Group
(written Submission attached)
c) Silverknowes Community Group
(written submission attached)
d) Get Edinburgh Moving
(written submission attached)

Page 259

Item 3.1(a)(i)

To:
Cc:

Lesley Macinnes, Convener Transport and Environment Committee
Jason Rust Local Councillor
Scott Arthur Local Councillor
Phil Doggart Local Councillor
Gordon Macdonald Member of the Scottish Parliament
Gordon Lindhurst Member of the Scottish Parliament

8th April 2021

Dear Cllr Macinnes and members of the Transport and Environment Committee,
RE-OPENING OF PUBLIC TOILETS IN COLINTON/TEMPORARY TOILETS IN SPYLAW PARK

I am writing to ask that the Transport and Environment Committee considers as a matter of urgency re-opening
the Public Toilets in Colinton as part of the Public Convenience Strategy to be considered on 22 April 2021.
Data gathered in formal surveys for Colinton Tunnel between 2018 and 2020 indicate almost a tripling in visitors
specifically to the Tunnel, and by association to Spylaw Park, the Robert Louis Stevenson trail and wider Colinton.
Surveys over a 2 week period in 2018 recorded the total number of visitors as 5,428; and in 2019 over a similar
period, 7,449 visitors were recorded - a 37% increase. In the 2020 survey, the comparable number of visitors was
14,987, an increase of 276% since 2018 - on average over 1,000 visitors per day.
As a Community Council we have consequently seen growth in complaints about the lack of public toilet facilities
in Colinton and the resultant problems of public urination and defecation, with all its implications for public
health and loss of amenity.
Significant criteria cited by the Director of Place Management at the Policy and Environment Committee in July
2020 for selecting the 7 toilets currently open in Edinburgh included:
Proximity to heavily used open spaces:
Spylaw Park and Pentland Hills Regional Park (PHRP) are heavily and regularly used public spaces and
many of their visitors come into Colinton but will not be recorded in the Tunnel statistics.
Displacement of anti-social behaviour:
We are very conscious of the physical evidence and are receiving increasing complaints about public
urination and defecation.
Proximity to Premier Parks:
Spylaw Park is a Green Flag Park. PHRP is as much of a draw as any Premier Park within the City, as
is the Water of Leith Walkway - both popularly and frequently accessed through Colinton Village.
On that basis I submit that Colinton’s toilets meet all primary criteria and should be opened as a matter of
urgency. I also ask that consideration be given to installing temporary toilets in Spylaw Park over the summer.
Yours Sincerely,

Tom McDonald
Chair, Colinton Community Council

(by email)

ColintonPage
Community
260 Council - www.colintoncc.org.uk

Item 3.1(a)(ii)
To: Lesley Macinnes

Convener Transport and Environment Committee
Jason Rust
Local Councillor
Scott Arthur Local Councillor
Phil Doggart Local Councillor
Gordon Macdonald Member of the Scottish Parliament
Gordon Lindhurst
Member of the Scottish Parliament

4th December 2018
Dear Ms Macinnes, Councillors, Mr. Macdonald and Mr. Lindhurst
POTENTIAL CLOSURE OF PUBLIC TOILETS IN COLINTON
I write on behalf of Colinton Community Council (ColCC) in relation to the above as we are already
aware of very clear objections raised by hundreds of local people. We believe this closure is part of a
money-saving exercise throughout the City.
We are extremely concerned the community has not been consulted or directly informed by the
Council about this proposal and wonder why that has not been done? We believe the issue should
be aired at the CEC Transport and Environment Committee on 6th December 2018 as it affects relevant
issues above and beyond budgetary concerns.
The proposal is to close public toilets, apart from toilets serving Portobello and Cramond, “tourist
areas”. Reactions in Colinton are strongly opposed to the city-wide withdrawal of this service from
the Council Tax paying public. Feelings are even stronger that closure of the Colinton toilets would
be particularly illogical and inappropriate.
The ColCC as a statutory body, along with our local Colinton Amenity Association (CAA) will be doing
all we can to have this issue properly considered in full detail and I outline below some of the areas
we feel are important, along with a number of questions to which we would like formal answers.

1. GENERAL ISSUES
It has been suggested to us that this proposal arises because CEC is not statutorily obliged to provide
public toilets for the convenience and comfort of the public. If this is true, it is a major defect in our
national legislation that the Scottish Parliament should address.
Q.1. What (if any) is the statutory requirement?

Apparently these closures are intended to reduce expenditure. But are the savings real? There are
consequences which will cost money and effort. Colinton’s toilet is very new and in good repair.
Q.2. Have the savings been quantified for each proposed closure? What saving applies to Colinton?
Q.3. What provision will be made to eliminate the health risks from faeces and urine deposited in
public and private areas as a result?
Q.4. Redundant toilet buildings have no resale value – what long term maintenance and antivandalism costs are being allowed for?

Page 261

2. LOCAL ISSUES
Apart from its own attractions as a village Colinton attracts “tourism” through its ready access to the
Pentland Hills, its location on the Water of Leith walkway, its Robert Louis Stevenson trail and well
attended functions like “Art in the Park”.
Q.5. Why are Colinton tourists to be treated differently to those visiting Cramond or Portobello?

Colinton is a community with a large proportion of elderly residents. Locally it appears there is also
an increasing number of very young families; both sectors with more pressing needs to access toilets
than the average. There are few alternative provisions, mostly unavailable in private premises and
our local library is not close to the village centre and has very restricted opening hours.
Q.6. Are the Council going to negotiate access arrangements with local shops etc? At what cost?

The toilet closure will remove the only easily accessible disabled toilet close to the village centre.
Q.7. What alternative provisions will the Council make for the disabled?

We were told that the toilet in Colinton is a “godsend” by a bus driver, as it is the “only one on the
route” and bus drivers cannot be seen going into pubs while driving.
Q.8. What are bus drivers and other non-locals (e.g. CEC employees) travelling to or through
Colinton on business expected to do?

Tom McDonald
Chair
Colinton Community Council

Page 262

Item 3.1(a)(iii)
To: Lesley Macinnes

Convener Transport and Environment Committee
Jason Rust
Local Councillor
Scott Arthur Local Councillor
Phil Doggart Local Councillor
Gordon Macdonald Member of the Scottish Parliament

9th December 2018
Dear Ms Macinnes, Councillors and Mr. Macdonald
POTENTIAL CLOSURE OF PUBLIC TOILETS IN COLINTON – FOLLOW UP LETTER
I write on behalf of Colinton Community Council (ColCC) and refer to my previous letter dated 4th
December 2018.
That letter contained eight questions concerning the above, some of which are simple matters of fact.
To date we have received no answers to any of these questions from any of the addresses.
The community remains extremely concerned about the general situation and the threat to this public
amenity. We are aware the Council has been advised that no policy decision has yet been taken but
that should not prevent factual and/or informative answers to the questions asked.
Having waited over a month, the ColCC as a statutory body, with the full support of our local Colinton
Amenity Association (CAA), now repeats its request for formal answers to these questions, which are
reprinted in the attached Appendix 1.
We further request these answers be provided promptly.

Tom McDonald
Chair
Colinton Community Council

Page 263

APPENDIX 1
Extract: Colinton Community Council letter of 4th December – Questions to City of Edinburgh Council
1. GENERAL ISSUES
It has been suggested to us that this proposal arises because CEC is not statutorily obliged to provide
public toilets for the convenience and comfort of the public. If this is true, it is a major defect in our
national legislation that the Scottish Parliament should address.
Q.1. What (if any) is the statutory requirement?

Apparently these closures are intended to reduce expenditure. But are the savings real? There are
consequences which will cost money and effort. Colinton’s toilet is very new and in good repair.
Q.2. Have the savings been quantified for each proposed closure? What saving applies to Colinton?
Q.3. What provision will be made to eliminate the health risks from faeces and urine deposited in
public and private areas as a result?
Q.4. Redundant toilet buildings have no resale value – what long term maintenance and antivandalism costs are being allowed for?

2. LOCAL ISSUES
Apart from its own attractions as a village Colinton attracts “tourism” through its ready access to the
Pentland Hills, its location on the Water of Leith walkway, its Robert Louis Stevenson trail and well
attended functions like “Art in the Park”.
Q.5. Why are Colinton tourists to be treated differently to those visiting Cramond or Portobello?

Colinton is a community with a large proportion of elderly residents. Locally it appears there is also
an increasing number of very young families; both sectors with more pressing needs to access toilets
than the average. There are few alternative provisions, mostly unavailable in private premises and
our local library is not close to the village centre and has very restricted opening hours.
Q.6. Are the Council going to negotiate access arrangements with local shops etc? At what cost?

The toilet closure will remove the only easily accessible disabled toilet close to the village centre.
Q.7. What alternative provisions will the Council make for the disabled?

We were told that the toilet in Colinton is a “godsend” by a bus driver, as it is the “only one on the
route” and bus drivers cannot be seen going into pubs while driving.
Q.8. What are bus drivers and other non-locals (e.g. CEC employees) travelling to or through
Colinton on business expected to do?

Page 264

Item 3.1(d)

For the City of Edinburgh Council on 29th April 2021 with regard to speaking on behalf of Colinton Village
Enterprise SCIO concerning Colinton’s public toilet facilities –
In agreement with Colinton Community Council, Colinton Amenity Association, Colinton Tunnel and others,
CVE SCIO believes the toilets on Colinton Road are in a key location for visitors to the village, the Pentland
Hills, Spylaw Park & Colinton Tunnel. Being located in close proximity to a bus stop is an important factor
here also, for travellers on foot. Cyclists, taxi drivers, bus drivers and other mobile workers are no doubt
also keen to see the toilets re-open safely.
CVE SCIO has recently availed of Community Asset Transfer legislation in respect of the outbuilding in
Spylaw Park. Since the existence of toilets in the Park was raised at last week’s Council meeting on this
topic, we would like it on record that said toilets are not in the public realm. These aged toilets within the
outbuilding date back to the 1970’s or earlier and have only been used during CVE’s occasional outdoor
community events.
While it is CVE’s aim to completely refurbish and develop this building into a community hub, work is not
likely to start on this project for some time. Therefore, fit-for-purpose toilet facilities will not exist for several
years and even then, would be subject to the Hub’s opening hours.
We urge CEC to retain Colinton’s conveniences in consideration of the above factors.

Lorraine O’Shea
Chair
CVE SCIO

Sincerely,

Colinton Village Enterprise SCIO is a Scottish Charity (SC049496) and an incorporated body, regulated by the Office of the
Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR).

Page 265

Lorraine O’Shea
Chair
Colinton Village Enterprise SCIO

Colinton Village Enterprise SCIO is a Scottish Charity (SC049496) and an incorporated body, regulated by the Office of the
Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR).

Page 266

Item 3.2(a)

27 April 2021
Committee Services
The City of Edinburgh Council
City Chambers
High Street
Edinburgh
EH1 1YJ

Full Council Deputation from South West Edinburgh in Motion
(SWEM)
Item 8.5 Public Confidence, Thursday 29 April 2021

1. Introduction
Thank you, Convenor, for allowing our deputation.
South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) is a community group with 800 members on
Facebook, formed by residents and businesses in November 2020, following the council’s
vote approving Spaces for People plans for Lanark Road and Longstone in spite of:
● 300 email objections (only 19 in favour and 10 neutral)
● Objections from Currie and Juniper Green & Baberton Mains Community Councils
● Concerns expressed around accessibility and safety for disabled people by
Edinburgh Access Panel
SWEM committee members have embedded active travel in their daily lives for years and
support a balanced approach to encouraging walking, cycling and bus journeys.
Our purpose is to push for proper consultation around any local travel proposals for the
benefit of the whole community.
In December 2020 we commissioned an independent survey of residents and businesses in
our local area from Balerno to Slateford, promoted through multiple channels and with online
and paper options. This received a huge response from over 1,000 participants, including
nearly 300 cyclists.
●
●
●

89% agreed that The City of Edinburgh City should not use emergency powers to
implement significant changes without fully consulting local residents.
91% agreed that ‘the council should undertake further consultation with local
residents before implementing these proposals’.
75% agreed that cyclists are unlikely to switch journeys from the Water of Leith
Walkway and Union Canal to Lanark Road as a result of these proposed changes which was the stated intention of the use of the emergency powers.

Page 267

Page 1 of 9 | South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) | e: southwestedinburghinmotion@gmail.com

●

73% of cyclists opposed the proposals.

These very clear results from a robust survey give SWEM a mandate to speak on behalf of
the community in relation to consultation around Spaces for People.
We note the comments made by the Transport and Environment Committee convenor at the
recent committee meeting on 22 April where, in the context of criticism over the degree of
public consultation, she suggested that elected representatives had been ‘stirring it up’
within communities.
We acknowledge that COVID-19 required a different approach to consultation, but along
with respondents to the survey above, we consider that Spaces for People plans overreached what was a legitimate emergency response and were not justifiably included under
this umbrella.
The negative impact of Spaces for People measures on many thousands of Edinburgh
residents is why there is considerable upset within communities, not because any elected
representative has ‘stirred it up’. If there is any doubt about this, we refer councillors to the
Change.Org petition on the subject, which nearly 15,000 people from across Edinburgh have
endorsed, many leaving comments explaining why they signed:
www.change.org/StopSpacesForPeoplePermanent
The situation we now face is one of lowered public trust around active travel initiatives.
Therefore, the consultation around retaining Spaces for People was the perfect opportunity
to proactively demonstrate how the council fully intended to embrace proper consultation
outwith an emergency situation and move forward constructively to win hearts and minds.
However, sadly, the way the consultation was carried out has further eroded public
confidence about the council’s ability to consult properly, fairly and openly.
We note the council’s new Consultation Policy which will be active from 1 July 2021
following approval at the Policy & Sustainability committee on 20 April 2021.
We also highlight that this policy, as per point 2.4 of the policy document, is simply
formalising the council’s existing consultation framework, and is more focused on the
approach to operations oversight and approval processes for different tiers of consultation.
It is therefore assumed that there is no reason that any consultation, relating to measures
that do not fall under an emergency response, would fail to comply with the stated Quality
Standards.
In fact, given the almost unprecedented city-wide outcry over Spaces for People measures,
there is even more reason to ensure that all Quality Standards for consultation are rigorously
applied.
However, the Street Schemes consultation relating to retaining Spaces for People measures
has failed in multiple areas within several Quality Standards.
We are especially concerned that, after our deputation in relation to this was included in
papers at the Policy & Sustainability committee on 20 April, which was attended by the

Page 268

Page 2 of 9 | South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) | e: southwestedinburghinmotion@gmail.com

Transport and Environment convenor, that two days later on 22 April, at the Transport and
Environment committee the convenor offered no acknowledgement of any issues relating to
this consultation and talked confidently about this consultation reporting back in June.
The council’s recent customer satisfaction survey showed broad levels of satisfaction with
the council as a whole, but areas covered by the Transport and Environment committee
showed greater levels of dissatisfaction than any others.
If this consultation is used as the basis for decision making at June’s Transport and
Environment committee, we predict that the low public confidence and levels of satisfaction
with areas covered by this committee will spread to other committee areas and, inevitably,
the full council.

2. How the council’s Consultation Policy relates to the
recent consultation around retaining Spaces for People
2.1 COVID-19 Engagement and Consultation Approach
All numbered references below map to the numbers of the council report on this link which
was developed in response to the City of Edinburgh Council’s Best Value Assurance Audit:
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33269/Item%207.2c%20-%20Covid19%20Engagement%20and%20Consultation%20Approach.pdf
During the pandemic, consultation and engagement exercises were suspended unless they
had statutory or COVID related requirements.
There does not seem to be any suggestion that as part of this there was a statutory or
COVID-related concession that a lower quality standard of consultation was acceptable
(assuming of course that no physical distancing requirements would be breached).
The retaining Spaces for People consultation was held during this period.
We note that in the COVID-19 Engagement and Consultation Approach:
● Point 2.4 in the report emphasises that this “policy formalises the Council’s existing
consultations framework” therefore it is assumed that previous consultations
largely fit within the requirements of this policy, even although officially in point
2.5 the new approach to operations oversight will be fully established within three
months of policy approval.” (July 2021)
● Point 3.6 that the “The Council has also has statutory duties to consult when making
changes to some services - such as traffic regulation and school building - and the
Council must ensure that changes it makes do not unfairly disadvantage
members of protected characteristics as defined by legislation”
● Point 3.9 that “Failure to ensure the Council has a robust approach could have
significant consequences for the Council. Several UK bodies have been

Page 269

Page 3 of 9 | South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) | e: southwestedinburghinmotion@gmail.com

compelled to reverse operational and policy decisions following court decisions,
including re-opening facilities that were closed and repeating consultation activity that
was done to a poor standard. Some of these organisations have also been left
with substantial legal costs as a result of the failure to ensure high quality
consultation. While there have been relatively few legal challenges on consultation in
Scotland, compared to England, it remains a risk to the Council that needs to be
addressed.”
We believe that the recent consultation around retaining Spaces for People failed to have a
robust approach (3.9) in relation to Quality Standards for Consultation (9.3 Appendix 3), to
the extent that the survey itself breached statutory duties around the Equality Act 2010 (3.6)
and that the council’s existing consultations framework (2.4).
Part of these failings were due to the issue highlighted in 4.5 - “Engagement between the
Council and communities has been mixed, reflecting the insufficient time and capacity
allocated to pre-consultation and pre-engagement phases that enable communities to share
the objectives and scope of the activity.” However even if this consultation needed to be
done quickly, the existing 5,000+ communications to the Spaces for People inbox would
have been a good source of information to shape this.

2.2 Consultation Framework
The Consultation Framework criteria, under the new policy, defines the internal sign-off
process and referral to CLT for approval. For the purposes of this deputation, it is worth
noting, that this consultation would be likely to score high on five of the six criteria as follows
and therefore require the highest level of sign-off due to the level of impact and risk:
● Strategic - Integral component of Council Business Plan/outcomes/pledges
● Number of people likely to be directly impacted - Greater than 10,000
(significantly greater)
● Community/environmental impact - Overall significant consequences for/impact on
people, equality, economy or environment
● Political/reputational impact - Highly sensitive, will be subject to Committee debate
and scrutiny. High reputational implications (major loss of confidence, adverse
publicity or public outcry)
● Project risk - Could result in inability to fulfil Council’s statutory obligations and
pledges

2.3 Quality Standards
Quality Standards listed in the policy come under the headings of Process, Genuine,
Inclusive and Accessible, Informative, Effective, Action Focused, and Feedback.
There are several examples of failure to meet a number of Quality Standards within this
consultation. (Please note, those highlighted in this section are not a complete list.)

Page 270

Page 4 of 9 | South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) | e: southwestedinburghinmotion@gmail.com

2.3.1 Genuine
Guidance note 7
Council Consultation
Quality Standards v0.1
March 2020 - Measures

Street Schemes Consultation Reality

Consultations are open
for a minimum of 12
weeks to allow adequate
time for consideration
and response (unless
there is an overriding
licence or other
regulatory or statutory
requirement).

This consultation was originally for only four weeks, then extended to six in
spite of relating to 120 schemes across all wards in the city, therefore likely
to directly or indirectly impact every citizen.
In comparison, the simultaneous Winter Festivals consultation was open for
12 weeks, and while very important for the city, it relates to a few events in a
single ward of the city and has little risk of causing daily and ongoing harm
to any large group.

2.3.2 Inclusive and accessible
Guidance note 7
Council Consultation
Quality Standards v0.1
March 2020 - Measures

Street Schemes Consultation Reality

People and organisations
likely to be impacted by
decisions have been
identified

There was identification that businesses as a group were likely to be
impacted by decisions, but then the methods used to engage that audience
were inadequate - the business survey only had one question that was
different to the individual survey, meaning there was no appropriate format
for individual businesses to respond. A screencast of this survey is
available on request as illustration of the issues. The lack of understanding
reflects the fact that businesses as a group were not previously identified
as a stakeholder in the notifications for all the emergency measures.
In parallel to the public survey for individuals, a similar survey was
commissioned by the council to be run by an independent research agency
with a panel of between 500 and 600 participants. Based on the questions,
we do not believe that this methodology and sample included businesses,
and focused on individuals only, in spite of the requirement of the
consultation to include both groups. (We acknowledge we may be wrong
about this.)

Supporting documents
and multimedia are not
overly lengthy or detailed

There were several complex supporting documents in the survey with long
lists of schemes, and various drop-down boxes with inconsistencies in
layout and content as well as multiple confusing errors.
e.g. Greenbank Road & Glenlockhart Road appear in Qu 13 but not in Qu
11 which they should if they are in Qu 13.
Saying Bonaly School completed – but it had not been implemented.

Page 271

Page 5 of 9 | South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) | e: southwestedinburghinmotion@gmail.com

Saying Juniper Green is completed, but the parent council there are
unaware that anything has happened.
There were many more examples like this.
The survey took at least 45 minutes to fill out properly and for some people
it took 1 hr 30 minutes. Some individuals will have had to complete two
surveys - both as a resident and a business. We have screen casts
available to illustrate this which can be provided on request.
Physical and language
barriers to participation
have been minimised.
People are given a
variety of methods and
opportunities to provide
their views.

A phone number to request paper copies of the survey was not provided in
any offline environment.
In spite of Covid restrictions being blamed for over-ruling the standard
requirement for lamppost advertising of TTROs still being implemented
during the consultation period, the council used ads on lampposts to
promote the consultation, claiming they needed to have these consultation
ads up on lamp posts to reach people who can’t use the internet so they
can get paper copies. However, none of the ads had the phone number on
them. They only had a web address.
Even when lamp post ads were updated with stickers to update the closing
date when they extended the consultation (following complaints about the
restricted time it was open for), the council didn’t take the chance to add
the phone number on at the same time, even though this issue was flagged
at the full council meeting on 11 March.
Even with email requests, there were issues with people getting paper
copies of the survey – when people requested them, they arrived without
envelopes and addresses to return them.

An Integrated Impact
Assessment (IIA) has
been completed to
assess the effect of the
proposals on different
groups.

We are not aware that an IIA was completed to assess the effect of the
proposals to make Spaces for People schemes permanent, before
proceeding with the consultation to retain them, but we acknowledge this
may have been done.

2.3.3 Informative

Guidance note 7
Council Consultation
Quality Standards v0.1
March 2020 - Measures

Street Schemes Consultation Reality

Enough information is
given to ensure
participants understand
issues, can consider
proposals and give

Participants were asked if they wanted 36 schemes not yet installed, to be
retained. But the council had refused requests to publish these - therefore
people were being asked their opinion on plans where no information was
publicly available, and the council had refused to provide it

Page 272

Page 6 of 9 | South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) | e: southwestedinburghinmotion@gmail.com

informed responses

The survey ran during lockdown. So even the schemes that were in place
should have had accessible plans and imagery for those who couldn’t see
them. Of the few plans that were published, all were technical drawings
confirmed by officers to be ‘not designed for public use’.
Misleading content blocked true understanding of the issues - in council
communications and tweets from individuals (evidence can be supplied on
request)

There is clarity about
what participants can and
cannot influence through
the consultation process

There is no clarity - it appears that even councillors do not know. In a
response to a formal question at full council meeting on 11 March, the
Transport Convener refused to commit to saying whether schemes which a
majority of respondents wished to be removed would in fact be removed or
retained.

Timescales for the
process are clear

The date of the consultation launch was a ‘surprise’ with local councillors
only hearing at the same time as the press - a couple of hours before the
consultation opened.
Symptomatic of the extreme rush, the deadline immediately seemed
ridiculously short - allowing only 3.5 weeks for the public and busy
stakeholders to respond during a lockdown. As already mentioned, the
council had not even put the required infrastructure in place around paper
copies of surveys.
This set the public ‘tone’ for the consultation and raised concerns and
reduced trust in the process.
Following feedback, the deadline was then extended by a fortnight.
However, some of the damage and confusion could not be undone. For
example, an advert remained on Lanark Road for the duration giving the
original closing date when it had been updated to 5 April.

2.3.4 Effective

Guidance note 7 Council
Consultation Quality
Standards v0.1 March
2020 - Measures

Street Schemes Consultation Reality

Public communications
raise awareness of the
consultation process to
encourage those with an
interest to participate

There is widespread concern that public communications to raise
awareness of the consultation were seriously misleading.
This began in the launch communications and tweets when six quotes
making positive statements about Spaces for People positioned as being
from the general public, turned out, apparently, to be from a Sustrans
employee, council staff and cyclist activists and their relatives. They were
subsequently withdrawn but can be viewed on this archived council web
page.

Page 273

Page 7 of 9 | South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) | e: southwestedinburghinmotion@gmail.com

https://web.archive.org/web/20210222130108/https://www.edinburgh.gov.
uk/news/article/13109/seeking-your-views-on-keeping-spaces-for-peoplemeasures
SWEM commissioned an independent research company to review the
communications and the survey and feedback was:
‘The cornerstone of any survey or consultation is neutrality. You should
be seeking to do everything you can throughout the process to maintain
neutrality, not influence or lead and provide reassurance that all views
have equal validity. Having looked at how the City of Edinburgh have
initially advertised and promoted this consultation I would have concerns
about their approach from a research perspective. The consultation is
introduced with the message that these measures are positive, have led
to improvements and have widespread support in the community rather
than a neutral position. Cllr McInnes even states that “..over the last year
we’ve heard from many, many people who have gained from Spaces for
People measures.” This approach will undermine the neutrality of the
exercise and the validity of the findings as it will inevitably introduce a bias
to any subsequent responses. I would have serious doubts about whether
the findings from this process provided an accurate reflection of public
views.’
There is also serious concern about the central use of icons relating to
mobility in the advertisements for this consultation and the fact that in
different creative executions they accounted for 33% or 40% of icons
(icon of a person in a wheelchair and elderly people). See example image
on left.
From feedback given over the previous 6 months, it was clear to the
Spaces for People team by the time the consultation was launched, that
there were significant concerns about the impact of removing 40km of
kerbside access for disabled people across Edinburgh, and there had
been very poor responses from council officers in relation to complaints.
(These can be provided on request). The dominance of the segregated
cycling schemes within the pandemic response and how they had been
implemented, if made permanent, would be a form of ‘eco-ableism’ where
environmental initiatives ignore the needs of disabled groups and would
clash with other council policy around Equality.
Public statements and communications by leading councillors and officers
in relation to this consultation went a step further - not just by denying that
there was a negative impact, but far worse, by implying that Spaces for
People schemes were actually centred on the needs of disabled people
which is the direct opposite of the reality. (Transcripts, official public
documents and emails that evidence this are available on request.)
The issue here is that some members of the public, without access to
information other than that provided by the council or council
representatives, may have responded more favourably to the consultation
as a result.

Page 274

Page 8 of 9 | South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) | e: southwestedinburghinmotion@gmail.com

The decision-making
process is adaptive and
flexible based on feedback
and learning.

Three serious, detailed and evidenced deputations from community
groups including SWEM raising concerns about the Spaces for People
consultation process were made to this council’s Policy and Sustainability
committee last week on 20 April.

Feedback is sought from
participants and
stakeholders on the
consultation process and
used to make
improvements

However, in the Transport and Environment committee on 22 April, the
convenor (who had attended the Policy and Sustainability committee
meeting) made no acknowledgement of any concerns - and proceeded
with bold statements that this consultation will still report back at the June
meeting.
This approach will continue to incur cost of officer and external agency
time in analysis and reporting a consultation which cannot provide
meaningful data for all of the reasons above and more.

3. Requested action
Given the level of evidence of failure to meet Quality Standards and the fact this is a
consultation that scores very highly on the Consultation Criteria, SWEM believes it would not
be appropriate for this consultation to report back in two months’ time to the Transport and
Environment committee in June to inform decision making at that meeting.
If it did report back, it would severely undermine the visible commitment to the council’s
approved policy for consultations and the repercussions would impact other council business
and the ability for the council to be effective or offer best value in the longer term.
Instead, there is an opportunity here to draw a line in the sand and acknowledge that an
attempt to run a consultation during a pandemic was not successful.
There is a chance to take a fresh approach to community dialogue, and to consultation
around making Spaces for People schemes permanent that meets all Quality Standards to
win the hearts and minds of the public in Edinburgh on the approach to active travel.
This would evidence the council’s approach to putting the best foot forward for the future and
create a sustainable and achievable approach to meet the requirements of the City Mobility
Plan by 2030.
It would also provide a solid basis for requesting Scottish Government funds for future active
travel initiatives.
Thank you to all councillors for reading this deputation.
Prof. Derryck Reid
Chair
South West Edinburgh in Motion

Page 275

Page 9 of 9 | South West Edinburgh in Motion (SWEM) | e: southwestedinburghinmotion@gmail.com

Item 3.2(b)

27 April 2021
For the Attention of City of Edinburgh Council
Meeting 29th April 2021
Item 8.5 Motion – Public Confidence
Dear Councillors and Officials,
Newington Hotels Group have lost confidence in City of Edinburgh Council through existing transport
schemes such as ‘Spaces for People’ to implement considerate infrastructure which maintains or
enhances the visual character of our protected World Heritage City centre and outlying Conservation
Areas.
CARE MUST BE TAKEN: Edinburgh sits on a world stage alongside cities such as: Vienna, Dubrovnik,
Athens, Rome and Paris. The utmost care and respect must be taken to preserve Edinburgh’s unique
character. It is our duty as the current custodians, to ensure we implement sympathetic
infrastructure to preserve Edinburgh’s Historic Environment for future generations. Can you imagine
installing these plastic and rubber Cycle Lane Defenders in front of the Coliseum in Rome?
Newington Hotels Group does not oppose Active Travel in principal as we can see great benefits in
cycling for our guests and our community. We do however oppose the design of the Cycle Lane
Defenders and the scale of installation within Edinburgh’s protected Conservation Areas.

1. Defacing of Conservation Areas and Failure to Uphold Statutory
Duty of a Local Authority:
a) City of Edinburgh Council through the ‘Spaces for People’ schemes have caused significant
damage to Edinburgh’s Conservation Areas.
b) It is City of Edinburgh Council’s Statutory Duty under planning law to protect the Character
and Appearance of Edinburgh’s Conservation Areas and an alternative cycle lane option,
more suitable to maintaining the character and appearance of Conservation Areas must be
found.
We believe City of Edinburgh Council in partnership with Sustrans are breaking Planning Law
and endangering Edinburgh’s Historic Environment by not complying with Section 64 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Scotland) Act 1997.
c) ‘Cycle Lane Defenders’ of poor design quality, constructed of rubber and plastic have been
installed in an excessive layout throughout the following Conservation Areas and UNESCO
World Heritage Site and are not sympathetic to the Historic Environment:

1

Page 276

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.

Old Town Conservation Area (UNESCO World Heritage Site)
New Town Conservation Area (UNESCO World Heritage Site)
Craigmillar Park Conservation Area
Blacket Conservation Area
Waverley Park Conservation Area
South Side Conservation Area
Marchmont, Meadows & Bruntsfield Conservation Area
The Grange Conservation Area
Morningside Conservation Area
Merchiston and Greenhill Conservation Area
Inverleith Conservation Area
Corstorphine Conservation Area
Colinton Conservation Area
Dalry Colonies Conservation Area
Duddingston Conservation Area
Portobello Conservation Area
Dean Conservation Area

d) City of Edinburgh Council in partnership with Sustrans have used the Emergency Covid‐19
TTRO’s to change the way our roads function. The TTRO’s enable the change of traffic flow,
loading and parking permissions but do not cover the ‘Cycle Lane Defenders’.
City of Edinburgh Council have confirmed, the ‘Cycle Lane Defender’ used for cycle
segregations and pedestrian social distancing measures have been installed on a temporary
basis under ‘Class 30’ of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(Scotland) Amendment Order 2014.

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Scotland)
Order 1992
SCHEDULE 1
CLASSES OF PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT
PART 12
DEVELOPMENT BY LOCAL AUTHORITIES
Class
30. The erection or construction and the maintenance, improvement or other
alteration by a local authority of— (a) any building, works or equipment not
exceeding 4 metres in height or 200 cubic metres in capacity on land belonging to or
maintained by them, being building works or equipment required for the purposes
of any function exercised by them on that land otherwise than as statutory
undertakers;

2

Page 277

(b) lamp standards, refuse bins, public shelters and similar structures or works
required in connection with the operation of any public service administered by
them.

e) Class 30 General Development Order, in which the Cycle Lane Defenders are installed, is for
the use of small development on a small scale. The Council are abusing the use of Class 30
GDO to install unsympathetic Cycle Lane Defenders on the current scale. This large scale of
development, specifically the prolific installation of Cycle lane Defenders throughout
Edinburgh’s Conservation Areas, significantly degrades the character and appearance of the
Historic Environment.
The use of ‘Class 30’ General Development Order above, does not automatically give the
right to install anything one likes in any fashion. All planning requirements for the completed
article, in relation to Conservation Areas must still be adhered to. Local Authorities can use
‘permitted development’ to physically install infrastructure, however any building works
completed must still comply with requirements under a Conservation Area in the relevant
planning acts.
In other words, just because City of Edinburgh Council and Sustrans have the right to install
the defenders does not mean City of Edinburgh Council and Sustrans have the right to
destroy and deface Conservation Areas, in the process.

Planning Law states:

‘General duties of planning authorities’
Section 64 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Scotland) Act
1997
General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions.
(1)
In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation
area, of any powers under any of the provisions in subsection (2), special attention
shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of that area.
(2)

Those provisions are—
(a) the planning Acts, and
(b) Part I of the M1Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953.

3

Page 278

f) Scottish Planning Policy (SPP 2014, revised Dec 2020, p33) states:
Valuing the Historic Environment
136. The historic environment is a key cultural and economic asset and a source of
inspiration that should be seen as integral to creating successful places. Culture‐led
regeneration can have a profound impact on the well‐being of a community in terms
of the physical look and feel of a place and can also attract visitors, which in turn can
bolster the local economy and sense of pride or ownership.
137 (Point 2) enable positive change in the historic environment which is informed
by a clear understanding of the importance of the heritage assets affected and
ensure their future use. Change should be sensitively managed to avoid or minimise
adverse impacts on the fabric and setting of the asset, and ensure that its special
characteristics are protected, conserved or enhanced.

g) The Scottish Government NPF3 2014 states:
The Scottish Government “will respect, enhance and make responsible use of our
natural and cultural assets” (NPF3 2014, 42) and that the “historic environment is an
integral part of our well‐being and cultural identity” (NPF3 2014, 43).

h) CEC’s own guidance in Edinburgh Street Design Guidance 2018, p118
states:
Edinburgh has a legacy of original street layouts, fabrics, materials and furniture.
Locally quarried sandstone, Caithness paving, original whinstone kerbs, granite setts,
horonized paving, original cast iron street lamps and street features such as
mounting blocks, lighting plinths and coal chutes have been retained in many parts
of the city.
These features form part of the overall values that underpin World Heritage status
and create the essential character of the city’s conservation areas. It is important
that changes to streets aim to preserve and enhance this historic fabric.

3. Not Acceptable on a Temporary Timeframe
Temporary basis or otherwise, Local Authorities have a Statutory Duty to preserve or enhance the
character and appearance of Conservation Areas.

a) The excessive placement of the Cycle Lane Defenders within Edinburgh’s Conservation Areas
are overbearing on the historic environment and is unlawful development for Conservation
Areas under Section 64 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Scotland)
Act 1997.

4

Page 279

b) We question the risk of transmission of COVID‐19 as an immediate danger to the public and
the need to mitigate that risk as a matter of urgency under a TTRO, given the successful roll
out of over 33 million COVID‐19 vaccinations and the timetable for easing coronavirus
restrictions announced by the First Minister on the 16 March 2021.

c) Sustrans Own Guidance:
Sustrans provides guidance for support partners on the implementation of temporary active
travel facilities in Scotland, through Scottish Government’s Spaces for People fund, which is
administered by Sustrans. (Source: https://www.showcase‐sustrans.org.uk/design‐guidance/)
Sustrans highlights ‘Conservation Area considerations’ when ‘Separation Features’ are
considered.

d) Temporary or otherwise, all of the above designs of ‘Segregation Materials’ do not comply
with preserving Edinburgh’s Conservation Areas. Rubber and plastic are not acceptable
Materials, and should not be used on the current scale of development. The placement of
the ‘Cycle Lane Defenders’ are dominant and overbearing on the Historic Environment.

e) Visual evidence of damage to the preservation of the character and appearance of the
Craigmillar Park, Waverley Park and Blacket Conservation Areas along the Craigmillar Park
Corridor.

5

Page 280

Cycle Lane Segregators of inappropriate design have been placed in an overwhelming
manner, severely impacting on the Historic Environment:

6

Page 281

7

Page 282

8

Page 283

4. Absence of Heritage Statement and/or Conservation Plan for the
Craigmillar Park Corridor
a) City of Edinburgh Council has been repeatedly asked to provide evidence of what measures
have been taken to ensure the protection of the Historic Environment within the Craigmillar
Park Corridor. To date, no evidence has been produced.
b) For a development of this type and scale a Heritage Statement and/or Conservation Plan
should have been undertaken by CEC. We request the publication of the Heritage Statement
and/or Conservation Plan detailing the impacts of the Craigmillar Park Corridor Spaces for
People scheme on the protected Historic Environment.
c) Cycle Lanes need to be created with minimal impact on Conservation Areas in mind, this has
not been achieved under the current City of Edinburgh Council and Sustans ‘Spaces for
People’ scheme along the Craigmillar Park Corridor.
d) The use of the current ‘Cycle Lane Defenders’ is causing material damage to the Historic
Environment. Temporary or otherwise, they should never have been installed.It is the
Statutory Duty of City of Edinburgh Council in partnership with Sustrans to find an
unobtrusive cycle lane measure to maintain the integrity of the protected Historical
Environment.

5. Adverse Impact on the Tourism Sector:
a) The presence of the ‘Cycle Lane Defenders’ in Edinburgh’s Conservation Areas and World
Heritage Site are causing damage every single day. The Tourism sector is due to reopen in
less than one week and the impact of the ‘Cycle Lane Defender’s on Edinburgh’s Historic
Environment through tourism will be felt immediately.
b) Immediate removal is required as they have been installed using an abuse of ‘Class 30’
General Development Order powers, dishonouring City of Edinburgh Council’s statutory duty
to preserve or enhance the character or appearance of Conservation Areas.
c) There is an economic cost to defacing Edinburgh’s Conservation Areas. Tourism relies heavily
on Edinburgh’s Historic Environment, tourists visit Edinburgh to specifically experience the
UNESCO World Heritage Site and Conservation Areas.

UNESCO States:
“Research has shown that World Heritage status can have a major socio‐economic
impact. For instance, in a recent report published in 2015, the UK National
Commission for UNESCO finds that UNESCO projects in Scotland generated an
estimated £10.8 million from April 2014 to March 2015 through their association

9

Page 284

with UNESCO”
(Source: https://whc.unesco.org/en/socio‐economic‐impacts)

‘UNESCO World Heritage Site’ status can be revoked or inscribed on the ‘List of World
Heritage in Danger’ if UNESCO finds that the condition of an area corresponds to at least one
of a list of criteria.
Edinburgh Council in partnership with Sustrans have caused damage to Edinburgh’s World
Heritage Site under the following UNESCO criteria:


serious deterioration of architectural or town‐planning coherence;



serious deterioration of urban or rural space, or the natural environment;



significant loss of historical authenticity



threatening effects of town planning
(Source: https://whc.unesco.org/en/158/)

d)

Built Environment Forum Scotland states:

The historic environment is one of Scotland’s most precious assets:


Edinburgh as a World Heritage Site is worth between £1.2 – £1.4 billion (EWH 2016)



68% of visitors to Edinburgh come because of its historic vernacular, bringing an estimated
expenditure of £1.16 billion p. a. (EWH 2016)



The historic environment contributes in excess of £2.3 billion to Scotland’s economy, with
£1.9 billion in Gross Value Added (SHEA 2018)



The historic environment receives 18 Million visits per year, and these visits support a
network of 66,000 jobs (SHEA 2018)



Total spend by visitors to Scotland in 2015 was £8.87 billion.
(Source: https://www.befs.org.uk/scotlands‐historic‐environment/facts‐figures/)

FURTHER EVIDENCE OF IMPACTS TO THE CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE OF OUR UNESCO
WORLD HERITAGE SITE AND OUTLYING CONSERVATION AREAS:

The Mound

10

Page 285

St Giles Street, Old Town

North Bank Street, The Mound

11

Page 286

George IV Bridge, Old Town

Greyfriars Bobby George IV Bridge, Old Town

12

Page 287

Forrest Road, Old Town

Arboretum Place, Inverleith

13

Page 288

Raeburn Place, Stockbridge

Bruntsfield Place, Bruntsfield

14

Page 289

Holy Corner, Morningside

Church Hill Theatre, Morningside

Morningside Road, Morningside

15

Page 290

LACK OF MAINTENANCE, RESULTING IN FURTHER IMPACTS ON CHARACTER, APPEARANCE
AND ADDING TO STREET CLUTTER

These two photos
were taken from
the same location,
3.5 months apart.
The same
‘detached’ bollard
is still on the road.

George IV Bridge 4 November 2021 …………………………………

CEC are not
adequately
maintaining the
illegal
infrastructure.

George IV Bridge 21 Feb 2021……………………………………

16

Page 291

George IV Bridge

George IV Bridge

17

Page 292

…………….George IV Bridge

St Giles Street, Old Town

18

North Bank Street

Potterrow, Newington

Page 293

Potterrow, Newington

Morningside Rd, Morningside

19

Lothian Road, Tollcross

Page 294

Forrest Road, Old Town

Chapel Street, Newington

20

Page 295

6. A More Respectful Option:
Glasgow City Council have proven to be competent in implementing Emergancy Covid‐19 TTRO’s
within Conservation Areas.
Glasgow City Council have chosen a more respectful Cycle Segregation method. An example can be
found in their ‘Howard Street’ Space for People scheme located in the Glasgow Central Conservation
Area https://glasgow.gov.uk/26694
We propose the same Cycle Lane Segregation method for use on a temporary basis, as it does not
overwhelm the character and appearance of Edinburgh’s Conservation Areas:
The Orca Cycle Lane Separators are not dominant and overbearing on their surrounds. They do not
detract from the appearance of the Historic Environment within the protected Conservation Areas.
The materials used to construct the Orca Cycle Lane Separators are not ideal for upholding the
character of Conservation Areas and therefore would only be suitable on a temporary time frame.
http://www.rediweldtraffic.co.uk/products/cycle‐lane‐products/orca‐cycle‐lane‐product/

Orca Cycle Lane Separators

Brighton, UK
City of Edinburgh Council need to be reminded that we are an inclusive community and are required
to plan infrastructure to include everyone. City of Edinburgh Council must not continue to be
influenced by the bias agenda of cycling lobbyist groups. The CEC must plan for all its citizens, not
just one group.
Thank you for taking your valuable time to read our deputation.
Our best wishes,
Newington Hotels Group.

21

Page 296

27th April 2021

Item 3.2(c)
Committee Services
The City of Edinburgh Council
City Chambers
High Street
Edinburgh
EH1 1YJ
Deputation (Full Council)
Thursday, 29th April 2021
Silverknowes Community Group
Reference Item : 8.5 Public Confidence
The residents of Silverknowes would like to take this opportunity to thank you for allowing us to present our
deputation.
Please accept this request as a consolidated voice of the residents and community of Silverknowes.
The controversial Spaces For People projects have driven mixed publicity and media coverage for the council.
Residents and businesses must be fairly listened to. However, as a result of poor engagement, trust is at an
all-time low regarding active travel initiatives. The situation has been further exasperated by the recent
council’s consultation for retaining Spaces for People. We believe it breached acceptable Quality Standards to
be able to fulfil its purpose. It does not reflect the council’s own consultation framework.
There is an even graver concern that politics is driving action in our council in a way that minimum standards
are not being met. The Transport and Environment committee could be deemed as not demonstrating
democracy. There is a growing feeling that through over-reach of using its delegated powers, this committee
does not represent the people of the city, its citizens.
Our concerns and recommendations were the subject of our deputation submitted at the Policy &
Sustainability committee on the 20th April 2021. However, as with another community representative,
technical limitations prevented our opportunity to present.
It was frustrating that the meeting on the 22nd April 2021 for the Transport & Environment committee made
no reference to any of the three deputations relating to consultations standards for active travel initiatives.

Approved Framework-Engagement and Consultation Approach
A fresh opportunity to re-build TRUST
In November 2020, Audit Scotland highlighted that City of Edinburgh Council needed to do more to “embed
community engagement as an integral part of service improvement and delivery.
Action is required now. It is imperative that engagement should open meaningful dialogue with communities.
All consultations should meet minimum standards outlined by the new Consultation Policy which should
already have been the basis of any council consultation.

Page 297

We as a community are experiencing issues with the current SFP infrastructure in our neighbourhood but do
not feel the recent consultation enabled us to effectively communicate our views around retention of the
scheme, due to failures with the survey to meet basic quality standards.
Perceptions of the council being untrustworthy were increased through the controversial on-line survey. It
needs to be challenged.
§

§

We propose the only way to re-build trust & respected relationships is to re-run a robust SFP
consultation that meets all quality standards within the approved policy, to be able to engage with
communities effectively.
We also request that the council is more transparent and responsible in collecting data. An example
of this is clearly displayed when the council omits to include end-to-end responses, instead only
showing consultation hub data. (emails, letters, focus groups, petitions, complaints all seem to fall
into a council black hole).

The Council is required to consult where it is making substantive changes to services which are likely to impact
on residents. The Council also has statutory duties to consult when making changes to some services – such as
traffic– and the Council must ensure that changes it makes do not unfairly disadvantage members of protected
characteristics as defined by legislation. We feel that this has clearly not been adhered to and this could easily
be addressed with a fresh consultation.
The Council now have a great opportunity to re-establish a fresh approach to create better outcomes for a
broader range of citizens and meeting Audit Scotland recommendations.
Failure to ensure the Council has a robust approach could have significant consequences for the whole Council.
Recommendations
The council should be making a visible commitment to the approved policy for consultation.
A fresh approach to consulting around retaining Spaces for People measures should be embraced, with
respectful community engagement seen as a priority. Any such dialogue will build trust by ensuring all
Quality Standards are adhered to.
Let’s build an effective sustainable City Mobility Plan for the future together.
Thank you for your time we look forward to working with you.

Page 298

Get Edinburgh Moving

Item 3.2(d)

e: GetEdinMoving@gmail.com
w: https://getedinburghmoving.godaddysites.com/

The City of Edinburgh Council
City Chambers
High Street
Edinburgh
EH1 1YJ
Date: 27th April 2021
Dear Councillors & Officials,
RE:

CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL MEETING 18/05/21 –
DEPUTATION IN RELATION TO AGENDA ITEM 8.5 – PUBLIC CONFIDENCE

I am writing in relation to the above agenda item in relation to public confidence in the Spaces for People programme and its
consultation / decision making processes. Get Edinburgh Moving (GEM) is a local community campaign with 1,600 members,
that was created in response to City of Edinburgh Council (CEC)’s East Craigs Low Traffic Neighbourhood Spaces for People
proposals in 2020.
In our deputation to the Policy & Sustainability Committee earlier this month (appended for reference), I welcomed the paper
produced by Andrew Kerr in relation to consultation policy, and specifically the key recommendation that the Policy &
Sustainability Committee “will develop a model for community engagement which strengthens the role of communities in service
delivery and decision-making processes, and through the work of the Community Empowerment Team”.
GEM’s experience of CEC’s community engagement to date, both on the East Craigs LTN TTRO and ETRO, and the citywide
consultation on Spaces for People permanency, is far from optimal, and is outlined in the appended deputation. As a result
there is a significant mistrust as to CEC’s intentions, and its ability to make decisions taking into full account the views of
residents – as opposed to minority pressure groups.
1.

2.

3.
4.

The Covid emergency was used as a smokescreen by CEC to bring forward long-held aspirations and pre-planned
initiatives under the guise of an ‘emergency’ which has subsequently been proven by research to be essentially nonexistent. GEM warned at the time that the outdoor transmission risk supposedly justifying a large portion of the
implemented schemes wasn’t supported by science. Studies of ‘track and trace’ data have subsequently found that 1 in
1,000 Covid infections are transmitted in the outdoor environment. ‘Emergency’ schemes that were justified on this
basis for ‘physical distancing’ are now no longer justified, especially now more than 50% of the population has been
vaccinated. To restore public trust, these schemes should be removed without further delay.
In the case of the East Craigs LTN, despite a 99.3% objection rate, hundreds of written / email complaints and advocate
legal opinion procured in an economic crisis by crowdfunding (validated by CEC’s lawyers) that the scheme was
unlawful, CEC continued with the implementation of the scheme. Only a specific legal threat caused CEC to back down
– a threat from its own residents. This is truly shameful – CEC has taken a wrong turn and is now fighting against the
very people it has a statutory duty to represent, and from whom it draws its funding.
There is legal advice to further suggest that many of the schemes may be unlawful – however it seems to be CEC’s view
that it will proceed in any case unless threatened with court action.
CEC is ignoring its own people – the petition calling for a change of direction on the SfP permanency plan has attracted
nearly 15,000 signatures – many multiples of the most popular petitions on the CEC website – yet it is ignored and
discounted. The support rate dwarfs CEC consultations such as the City Mobility Plan (c1,800), yet these are used as a
firm justification for action. Is it any wonder the public has lost confidence in this administration?

Page 299

5.

As detailed in the appendix, the Council consultation survey for East Craigs was designed to achieve a predetermined
result. It focuses on drawing out answers that paint the status quo as negative and requiring improvement. There
were no controls to ensure that survey responses were verifiably from within the area. It neglected to ask residents
their views on the previous proposals brought forward. The questions were approved by Sustrans, a cycling pressure
group, and the process was administered by AECOM, a significant consultancy supplier to CEC that benefits from fees
where schemes are designed and taken forward. A formal complaint process on the selection of AECOM as
‘independent’ market researcher is underway.
6. GEM has had sight of the high-level survey results, and are bemused that a scheme design is being carried forward
given the conclusive feedback. What is the point of consulting if you don’t listen? As Council officers are aware, GEM
crowdfunded from the local community to commission a truly independent survey of all local residents – with controls
to ensure that it is local residents who respond – at the cost of several thousand pounds. This was only required due to
the bias of the CEC survey. With a significantly higher response rate than the AECOM survey, the results will be
released next week – the community’s view will be crystal clear, and it will be untenable for CEC to push on with a
scheme design if that is not what residents want.
7. GEM also has similar concerns in relation to the current consultation process around the Spaces for People Permanency
consultation. In addition to the issues highlighted for East Craigs, there are no provisions to identify and verify local
residents. Views are sought on schemes that are not even in place yet. The consultation is citywide, diluting the ability
of local residents to make their voices clearly heard in relation to each scheme. There is no comfort that there will be a
consultation on the decision as to whether each individual scheme should be made permanent, in which local residents
are empowered and their views have primacy. The suspicion is that CEC always intended to make these schemes
permanent, and has used the Covid smokescreen to introduce them without consultation. It is now ‘dividing and
conquering’ by de-localising the consultation exercise, introducing bias into the process and diluting the final say that
should rest with local residents. It looks and feels like a shortcut, rushed job to get these schemes in place before the
pandemic is over, and they must be withdrawn. Indeed, the SNP MSP Pete Wishart has declared that the pandemic is
over – so why do these schemes remain?
8. Further, the permanency consultation refers to interventions as ‘improvements’ as though that were undisputed. It
presents as fact that there was a surge in walking and cycling. In reality it was short-lived, and was over by July last year
From now on, we will be seeing year on year FALLS in cycling, despite the reduction in road traffic, installation of new
cycle infrastructure, and deprioritisation of public transport. Much of the short-lives surge took place on leisure paths
and routes, rather than cycling as transport. This makes the survey deeply misleading.
9. CEC policy creation and implementation is becoming captured by minority pressure groups like Sustrans and Spokes.
Sustrans is now fully woven into the CEC active travel team through secondment and staff moving between the two
organisations. Spokes membership represents 0.2% of the Edinburgh population, but 36% of the CEC Transport
Committee. It is no surprise that cycling schemes and spend dominate compared to those for pedestrians.
10. Eco-ableism is a growing concern – where green initiatives make life harder for disabled people. Disabled groups such
as Edinburgh Access Panel are listened to as a courtesy but not heard. Segregated cycle lanes, inappropriate scheme
design and junction closures / modal filters disproportionately impact vulnerable groups – denying access to properties
and businesses, and making access less safe where it is possible. CEC is steam-rollering the needs of the most
vulnerable in our society.
11. The poorest income groups are much more likely to have access to and depend on a car than a bike. Schemes
prioritising the wants of the 1% of all journey miles that are cycled by people who are statistically disproportionately
affluent, white and male, risk leaving these groups behind.
Pulling these points together, CEC has a credibility crisis. Its use of emergency powers and deeply flawed consultation processes
have unfortunately fallen far short of a situation where the community feels empowered, listened to, and operating in a
relationship of trust. As such, we support the motion put forward by Cllr Webber and call on the administration to seriously
reflect on how it ‘rights the wrongs’ of the last year, and starts repairing its relationship with those it serves.

With many thanks and regards,

David Hunter
Chair

Page 300

On behalf of,
Get Edinburgh Moving
Community Group
e: GetEdinMoving@gmail.com
w: https://getedinburghmoving.godaddysites.com/
cc:
Paul Lawrence, Executive Director of Place;
Councillor Mark Brown
Councillor Robert Aldridge
Councillor Claire Bridgman
Councillor Susan Webber
Councillor Kevin Lang
Alex Cole-Hamilton MSP

APPENDIX: GEM DEPUTATION TO POLICY & SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE, APRIL 2021
Get Edinburgh Moving
e: GetEdinMoving@gmail.com
w: https://getedinburghmoving.godaddysites.com/

The City of Edinburgh Council
City Chambers
High Street
Edinburgh
EH1 1YJ
Date: 16th April 2021
Dear Councillors & Officials,
RE:

CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL POLICY & SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE MEETING 20/04/21 –
DEPUTATION IN RELATION TO AGENDA ITEM 7.2c - COVID-19 ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION APPROACH

I am writing in relation to the above agenda item, and the development of a new consultation policy. Get Edinburgh Moving
(GEM) is a local community campaign with 1,600 members, that was created in response to City of Edinburgh Council (CEC)’s
East Craigs Low Traffic Neighbourhood Spaces for People proposals in 2020.
Firstly, I welcome the paper produced by Andrew Kerr in relation to the above, and specifically the key recommendation that the
Policy & Sustainability Committee “will develop a model for community engagement which strengthens the role of communities
in service delivery and decision-making processes, and through the work of the Community Empowerment Team”. As the paper
states, it is also vitally important that CEC “recognises the need to strengthen community engagement, especially through preconsultation activity that builds trust and creates consent in communities”.
GEM’s experience of CEC’s community engagement to date, through the TTRO and now modified ETRO processes for East Craigs
LTN, has unfortunately fallen far short of a situation where the community feels empowered, listened to, and operating in a
relationship of trust. Our broader concern is that this concern extends also to the current consultation in relation to gauging
support for making Spaces for People schemes permanent.

Page 301

In the case of the East Craigs TTRO, the Covid emergency was used as a smokescreen by CEC to bring forward long-held
aspirations and plans that predated the Covid pendemic, supposedly avoiding the need for a consultation. In the 6 day Council
‘notification window’, 407 objections were received, with only 3 in support – a 99.3% objection rate. This conclusive
demonstration of community opposition was ignored, and CEC voted for implementation. It is now well known that GEM
procured legal opinion that argued the LTN would be unlawful, and subsequent counsel opinion sought by CEC substantively
agreed with that position. Despite this, it was only after a specific threat of legal action was received by CEC, that it backed
down.
CEC’s next step was to modify the process, and bring forward plans for a LTN under an experimental traffic order (ETRO). While
GEM recognises that significant consultation is included in this next phase, including a Community Reference Group, there are
several areas where we believe that the consultation falls significantly short of the policy you are looking to formalise via this
paper:
1.

2.
3.

4.

In the first phase of engagement, a survey has been created by CEC, its consultants AECOM, and the cycling pressure
group Sustrans. AECOM is put forward as an independent market researcher – an untenable position when in fact it is
a major supplier of design consultancy services to CEC. In short, AECOM stands to benefit financially from a
consultation outcome leading to scheme design and implementation work. It is unfair to put AECOM in a position of
‘independent market researcher’, when it undeniably benefits from CEC’s predetermined and desired outcome being
achieved
Sustrans is a cycling pressure group – it should not be involved in designing consultations or feeding into surveys
The survey is designed to achieve a predetermined result. It focuses on drawing out answers that pain the status quo
as negative and requiring improvement. There were no controls to ensure that survey responses were verifiably from
within the area. It neglected to ask residents their views on the previous proposals brought forward. A full list of our
concerns is appended to this deputation, in the form of a letter to Paul Lawrence
From discussions with CEC and AECOM representatives, we have no confidence that the views of local residents will be
the most important factor – the concern is that if residents do not favour change, a scheme will be designed anyway,
and CEC will decide what is best for residents. This goes to the heart of what is wrong with the approach, and why the
consultation is not compliant with the new policy’s fundamental tenets around engagement, empowerment, trust, and
consent

GEM also has similar concerns in relation to the current consultation process around the Spaces for People Permanency
consultation. In addition to the same issues as expressed above, there are no provisions to identify and verify local residents.
Views are sought on schemes that are not even in place yet. The consultation is citywide, diluting the ability of local residents to
make their voices clearly heard in relation to each scheme. There is no comfort that there will be a consultation on the decision
as to whether each individual scheme should be made permanent, in which local residents are empowered and their views have
primacy.
The suspicion is that CEC always intended to make these schemes permanent, and has used the Covid smokescreen to introduce
them without consultation. It is now ‘dividing and conquering’ by de-localising the consultation exercise, introducing bias into
the process and diluting the final say that should rest with local residents. It looks and feels like a shortcut, rushed job to get
these schemes in place before the pandemic is over, and they must be withdrawn.
We note that the Keep Edinburgh Moving petition has gathered almost 15,000 signatures in opposition to the citywide SfP
permanency consultation process – this dwarfs any petition on the CEC online petition portal, by multiples.
GEM’s contention is that both the East Craigs LTN and wider permanency consultation fall short of meeting the standards
brought forward in the consultation policy paper. As such, they should be scrapped, and replaced with fit for purpose processes
that put local residents views front and centre of decision-making. It is untenable for CEC and its partners to ignore public
opposition, and decide what is good for us.
With many thanks and regards,

David Hunter
Chair

Page 302

On behalf of,
Get Edinburgh Moving
Community Group
e: GetEdinMoving@gmail.com
w: https://getedinburghmoving.godaddysites.com/
cc:
Paul Lawrence, Executive Director of Place;
Councillor Mark Brown
Councillor Robert Aldridge
Councillor Claire Bridgman
Councillor Susan Webber
Councillor Kevin Lang
Alex Cole-Hamilton MSP

APPENDIX: GEM LETTER TO PAUL LAWRENCE
Get Edinburgh Moving
e: GetEdinMoving@gmail.com
w: https://getedinburghmoving.godaddysites.com/

Paul Lawrence
Executive Director of Place
The City of Edinburgh Council
4 East Market Street
Edinburgh
EH8 8BG
Date: 5th February 2021
Dear Paul,
RE:

EAST CRAIGS LOW TRAFFIC NEIGHBOURHOOD CONSULTATION

I am writing following our email discussions last week, and my subsequent meeting with Martyn Lings this week, in relation to
the next steps for the consultation on the East Craigs Low Traffic neighbourhood proposals (LTN).
Firstly, please pass on my thanks to Martyn for his time and engagement.
My understanding of the current status is:
•
•
•
•
•

Residents (defined as those living inside the ‘rectangle’ area boundaried by Maybury Road, Queensferry Road, Drum
Brae Road and Glasgow Road) will receive a pack through the post on or around Monday 8 th February
This will include details of the process for the consultation and design of a revised LTN
Part 1 will be an online survey to ask questions around people’s attitude towards traffic, modes of transport etc in the
area – a hard copy survey questionnaire can also be requested, but will not be included in the pack
The tight timescales for the part 1 survey response will be 8th – 28th Feb, although some leeway will be applied for late
responses
Responses will be collated, and findings published in March / April. These findings will then inform the scheme design

Page 303

•
•

Following scheme design, a part 2 consultation will open
While the Part 1 survey details will be posted to residents, the survey will also be shared on the West Edinburgh Link
website for completion by anyone, anywhere. While respondents will be asked whether they live in the affected area,
and will be prompted for a postcode or street name, anyone on the planet would be able to enter any postcode or any
street name, and their response would be counted as though they were a resident. There are no controls in place to
ensure against such a scenario

As you know, on behalf of the community, I expressed several serious concerns with regard to the process:
1.
2.

3.
4.

5.

6.

Lack of inclusion of a hard copy survey risks excluding, or at least making it very difficult, for vulnerable and/or elderly
people to participate in the process – their voices may not be heard as a result.
CEC will have no way of knowing that responses are from residents of the area, or not. The survey is therefore wide
open to abuse, gaming and influence by pressure groups. There is significant anecdotal suggestion, and also
Edinburgh-specific evidence, to suggest that such groups are motivated to do so.
I asked specifically for an (easily arranged) unique code to be included in the packs, to be referenced in responses, to
protect against such potential fraudulent ‘tampering’ with responses. This was refused.
Martyn explained that the initial survey will ask general questions in the style of ‘how do you feel about traffic speed in
the area’. I reflected on the significant professional market research expertise that exists within the GEM organisation,
and that we were aware of steps the council and Sustrans could take to game responses that would fit their narrative –
questions over which the community has had no input and has no control. In essence, asking ‘would you like free /
vague nice things’, without detailing the implications, will generate a positive response.
I specifically suggested that questions include (among others) ‘Are you in favour of road closures in the boundary of the
proposed LTN?’; and ‘Did you approve or disapprove of the LTN proposals brought forward last year – please provide
commentary on your response?’ Given the council is spending significant amounts of our money on this exercise, it is
highly relevant (and vital) that the opportunity is used to ask residents for their feedback on the scheme as previously
brought forward, in order to ensure best scheme design for part 2. Martyn confirmed that such questions would not be
considered in the survey. At the very least, all comments from the summer 2020 Spaces for People notification
responses must be taken on board in the review exercise.
Regardless of the above, the survey must include a free text area for detailed comments and feedback at this stage, not
just later.

The inescapable conclusion is that the council is not seeking detailed views at this stage, because it is scared of asking for
residents’ views on a deeply unpopular scheme, and one that was overwhelmingly rejected by the area last year.
Its choice of questions is a deliberate attempt to ‘game’ responses to soft questions in order to frame / justify the council’s
intended next steps, ignoring any perceived negatives by not asking the questions.
Furthermore, the unwillingness to apply any control measures to ensure responses from within the directly affected area are
clearly ring-fenced, again suggests that the council recognises it will rely on support from pressure groups from elsewhere in
Edinburgh, or even elsewhere in the UK, to artificially boost support. This basic lack of governance calls the entire process into
question, and leaves it open to inevitable abuse by highly organised and motivated pressure groups. The entire process is
delegitimised as a result.
I’m afraid there is little confidence in such a process. The council claims that it is listening to residents, when the reality is that it
is listening to Sustrans and Spokes, and refuses to ask the necessary questions to inform scheme design because it simply does
not want to hear the answers.
I call on the council to reconsider: to ensure that genuinely directly affected residents’ views are clarified beyond doubt and are
given primacy in the process. Also, that it should take this golden opportunity to ask residents about the scheme brought
forward last year, and for their suggestions for the design of the revised scheme.
I look forward to your response.
With many thanks and regards,

Page 304

David Hunter
Chair

On behalf of,
Get Edinburgh Moving
Community Group
e: GetEdinMoving@gmail.com
w: https://getedinburghmoving.godaddysites.com/

cc:

Councillor Lesley Macinnes
Councillor Mark Brown
Councillor Robert Aldridge
Councillor Claire Bridgman
Councillor Susan Webber
Councillor Kevin Lang
Alex Cole-Hamilton MSP

Page 305

This page is intentionally left blank

